Manuel León-Urrutia Esteban Vázquez Cano Nicholas Fair Eloy López Meneses (coords.)

Trends and Good Practices in Research and Teaching

A Spanish-English Collaboration



universidad



Trends and Good Practices in Research and Teaching

A Spanish-English Collaboration

Manuel León-Urrutia, Esteban Vázquez Cano, Nicholas Fair, Eloy López Meneses (coords.)

Trends and Good Practices in Research and Teaching

A Spanish-English Collaboration



Collection: Universidad

Title:: Trends and Good Practices in Research and Teaching. A Spanish-English Collaboration

First published: december 2019

- [®] Manuel León-Urrutia, Esteban Vázquez Cano, Nicholas Fair, Eloy López Meneses (coords.)
- © Ediciones OCTAEDRO, S.L. C/ Bailén, 5 – 08010 Barcelona Tel.: 93 246 40 02 octaedro@octaedro.com www.octaedro.com

All rights reserved. This publication is copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of the copyright folder.

ISBN: 978-84-18083-23-5

Cover designed and Typeset by Ediciones Octaedro

Contents

Introduction	9
1. MOOCS and Higher Education Globalisation: Social Work and Social Education Students' Perspectives Manuel León-Urrutia, Esteban Vázquez Cano, Eva Ordóñez Olmedo, Eloy López Meneses	15
2. Towards a Taxonomy of Video for HCI Education	31
3. New Emerging Technologies for University Innovation David Blas Padilla, Julio Cabero Almenara, Esteban Vázquez Cano, Eloy López Meneses	47
4. The Primary Education Teacher about ICT and Special Educational Needs. A Study in the Spanish Context José M. Fernández Batanero	61
5. Making an Argument in the Arts: Using Genre Analysis to Inform Embedded Academic Writing Support in a UK Arts University	77
 6 Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) M. Pilar Cáceres Reche, Inmaculada Aznar Díaz, Rebeca Soler Costa 	97

 Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño 	113
8. Enhancing the Student Experience: Integrating MOOCs into Campus-Based Modules Nicholas Fair, Lisa Harris, Manuel León-Urrutia	135
9. Educational robotics and computational thinking. A didactic experience of innovation at the university level Pedro Román-Graván, Carlos Hervás-Gómez, Cristóbal Ballesteros-Regaña	157
10. Training of Communication Skills in Social Education Students Through an Innovative Experience	173
 Working with Networks on the University Campus Verónica Marín Díaz, Juan Manuel Muñoz González, M.ª Dolores Hidalgo Ariza 	189
12. Citizenship Oriented to Justice in Higher Education: Didactic Experience and Revision in the Bachelor's Degree in Primary School Education Emilio José Delgado-Algarra, César Bernal-Bravo, Antonio Alejandro Lorca-Marín, Eloy López Meneses	205
 Gamification in Primary Education Grade. A Project of Gamification in Tutorial Action Subject to Increase Motivation and Satisfaction of the Students M. Elena Parra González, Adrián Segura Robles, Arturo Fuentes Cabrera, Jesús López Belmonte 	227
Index	243
About the coordinators	249

Introduction

Our lives are increasingly digital and digitised, which increasingly requires that all of us become are appropriately equipped to face the current and emerging challenges that a digital life poses. Coexisting in highly diverse yet and nonetheless closely related settings, often with increasingly blurrrednearly inexistent boundaries between, such as the physical and the virtual spaces, enhances the complexity of teaching and learning processes. These new ways in which we establish a relationship between information and knowledge require an evolution metamorphosis in theour way in which education systems are developed, in the educational practices, and teacher development, as well as in the way in which we conceive the knowledge and professional competencies, skills and literacies required by of educatorsour teachers. Technology is present in these processes, as an essential element in all of these factorsthis equation (López-Gil y Bernal, 2016; López-Gil y Bernal-Bravo, 2019).

The XXIst century is the century of information, where individual learning is conceived mainly through interactive and collaborative technologies. These technologies are meant to offer a stimulating and socially positive learning experience, but equally to become a construct that allows students to learn by doing, while sharing their learning experiences with others who are often at the other side of that virtual space (Gómez-Parra y Huertas-Abril, 2019).

The rapid integration of ICTs into almost all aspects of modern life since the turn of the millenium is fostering a continuous transformation in our society, becoming one of the most significant agents of social change (Esteve, 2016). In previous epochs, information was the preserve of a small elite (teachers being one example), however, with the advent of the World Wide Web and the physical and virtual networks which it runs on, the XXIst

century can now be seen as a period of abundant information. This information is primarily accessed, now, through physical networks (e.g. servers, wifi routers/towers, satellites, cables.... etc) and digital networks of application services, social platforms, and people. Interaction is mediated through ubiquitous Webenabled, mobile devices from any physical location. Education has, of course, not been immune to the change represented by digital technology and is undergoing a fundamental re-evaluation of what it means to teach and learn in this information-rich. networked age. In short, understanding the transformative role of ICTs in education must not be ignored (Cabero, Llorente & Morales, 2013). Current societies need education systems able to respond to the social and educational changes resulting from digital networks. Furthermore, modern education systems also need to be fit-for-purpose for future professionals entering a rapidly changing labour market increasingly typified by Industry 4.0, Robotics, Big Data and machine learning / artificial intelligence. These educational systems should therefore rapidly evolve from traditional teacher-centred models, based on the transmission and memorisation of knowledge, to new pedagogies and methodologies that allow students to acquire knowledge, skills and attitudes that are continuously applicable to real-world changing work / life practices (Fernández, Leiva y López Meneses, 2017).

This is especially true for Higher Education, with the reification of new pedagogical approaches, as well as new learning design in which digital technologies, and in particular the Web, have a fundamental role (Mar Marín & Cabero, 2015). The use of these digital technologies also transcends teaching and learning processes, having an influence on the organisational and structural aspects of education provision (Jiménez, Alvarado & Llopis, 2017). This is because learning has become a sociotechnical process (e.g. Cummings, 1978; Bijker, 1997; Geels, 2002) in which the learner and the learning process can not be separated from the technologies used for learning purposes. Learners are at the centre of an autonomously built and maintained network of connections to digital devices, services, information and people - their Personal Learning Network (Fair, 2020) - which forms the framework for all their learning activities. This reconceptualisation of the learner from merely a physical body located at a single

point in space/time, to the learner being the centre of a complex, dynamic, evolving and temporally/spatially unbounded network has prfound effects on how we conceptualise learning.

This reconceptualization of the learner is one important reason why professional development programmes for HE educators that include the construction and dissemination of knowledge around the Networked Society (Castells, 1996), Personal Learning Netowrks and networked learning are needed, in order to equip educators with the knowledge and understanding necessary to face the demands of the current complexities and sociocultural dynamics of this networked age (Piscitelli, 2006). This is why it could be argued that we are facing a change of paradigm in the way professional development processes for Higher Education educators should be understood (Vázquez-Cano, 2015). Consequently, universities are the sociotechnical pillars for the expansion and dissemination of global knowledge, citizenship's empowerment, professional development and educational innovation for the progress of the social and economic fabric of society (López-Meneses, 2017). Universities will therefore need to continue, and even accelerate, the adaption of their teaching and training practices to supply the demands of this changing society. HE institutions (HEIs) are already paying increased attention to the characteristics and needs of current students; and are facilitating the incorporation of flexible and open settings that help transform traditional communication models - characterised by the passivity of the students - into new models in which students can actively participate in the construction of knowledge and where they are aware and own their processes of competencies acquisition (Cabero, Ballesteros y López-Meneses, 2015). However, there remains considerable institutional inertia, as predicted by sociotechnical theory (Geels, 2002), towards the pedagogical and learning design shifts we argue are necessary to respond effectively to the new networked paradigm.

This book will attempt to add light to current debates by indicating that it is not only important to expose students to virtual tools, as well as ensure HEIs remain up-to-date with learning technologies that transform education, but also to pedagogically transition to the active, autonomous development of mature and effective personal learning networks and the development of digitally-enabled, networked learning behaviours. The book consists of thirteen chapters reporting on research in which collaboration between British and Spanish universities has taken place. The book aims to disseminate and critically reflect upon a series of educational experiences with the common factor being the use of a wide range of learning technologies, with the common aim of enhancing the sustainability of Higher Education provision by implementing new pedagogies or learning design applicable to the network age. This work also aims to encourage Higher Education professionals to generate innovative approaches to their teaching practices.

To conclude, the research described in this book indicates the need for an acceleration by HEIs in their transition to digitally-enabled personal learning pedagogies and has provided a series of examples of how this may be achieved in practice using a range of digital technologies in innovative ways. The book also indicates, in line with Fernández-Márquez et al., (2019), that the professional development of HE educators requires an increasing focus on network-centred, digitally-enabled pedagogies and learning design, where skills, literacies and competencies are as important as content knowledge (for both students and educators). In this way, HEIs can find sociotechnical approaches which are capable of rising to the challenge of aligning the HE learning experience with the expectations and behaviours of the modern HE student, living, working and learning in a Network Society.

Bibliography

- Cabero, J., Llorente, M. C., & Morales J. A. (2013). Aportaciones al e-learning desde un estudio de buenas prácticas en las universidades andaluzas, *RUSC: Revista de Universidad y Sociedad del Conocimiento*, 10 (1), 45-60. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.7238/rusc.v10i1.1159>.
- Cabero, J., Ballesteros, C., & López-Meneses, E. (2015). Los mapas conceptuales interactivos como recursos didácticos en el ámbito universitario, *Revista Complutense de Educación*, 26, 51-76.
- Esteve, F. (2016). Bolonia y las TIC: de la docencia 1.0 al aprendizaje 2.0, *La Cuestión Universitaria*, 5, 58-67.
- Fernández, E., Leiva, J. J., & López-Meneses, E. J. (2017). Formación en competencias digitales en la universidad. Percepciones del alumnado, *Campus Virtuales*, 6 (2), 79-89.

- Fernández-Márquez, E., Ordóñez-Olmedo, E., Morales-Cevallos, B., & López-Belmonte, J. (2019). La competencia digital en la docencia universitaria. Octaedro: Barcelona.
- Gómez-Galán, J., Cáceres-Reche, M. P., Delgado-Algarra, E., & López-Meneses, E. (2019). *Experiencias en innovación docente y aportes de investigación sobre la praxis universitaria*. Octaedro: Barcelona.
- Gómez-Parra, M. E. & Huertas-Abril, C. A. (2019). La importancia de la competencia digital para la superación de la brecha lingüística en el siglo xxI: aproximación, factores y estrategias, *EDMETIC, Revista de Educación Mediática y TIC*, 8 (1), 88-106. doi: https://doi. org/10.21071/edmetic.v8i1.11095>.
- Jiménez, V., Alvarado, J. M., & Llopis, C. (2017). Validación de un cuestionario diseñado para medir frecuencia y amplitud de uso de las TIC, *EDUTEC. Revista Electrónica de Tecnología Educativa*, 61, 1-14.
- López-Gil, M. & Bernal-Bravo, C. (2019). El perfil del profesorado en la sociedad red: reflexiones sobre las competencias digitales de los y las estudiantes en Educación de la Universidad de Cádiz, *International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation (IJERI)*, 11, 83-100
- López-Meneses, E. (2017). El fenómeno MOOC y el futuro de la universidad, *Fronteras de la Ciencia*, 1, 90-97.
- López-Meneses, E., & Pérez-Pérez, I. (2017). Ámbitos de intervención del educador/a y trabajador/a social: la percepción del estudiantado través de los mapas conceptuales interactivos (MCI), El Guiniguada. Revista de Investigaciones y Experiencias en Ciencias de la Educación, 26, 104-119.
- Marín, V. & Cabero, J. (2015). Innovando en el aula universitaria a través de Dipro 2.0, Sophia. Revista de Investigaciones en Educación, 11 (2), 155-168. doi: https://goo.gl/dhWvf1>.
- Piscitelli, A. (2009). Nativos digitales: dieta cognitiva, inteligencia colectiva y arquitecturas de participación. Buenos Aires: Santillana.
- Vázquez-Cano, E. (2015). El reto de la formación docente para el uso de dispositivos digitales móviles en la Educación Superior. *Perspectiva Educacional*, 54 (1), 149-162.

MOOCS and Higher Education Globalisation: Social Work and Social Education Students' Perspectives

Manuel León-Urrutia

m.Leon-Urrutia@soton.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-6358-7617 Universidad de Southampton

Esteban Vázquez Cano

evazquez@edu.uned.es Orcid: 0000-0002-6694-7948 Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia.

Eva Ordóñez Olmedo

eva.ordonez@ucavila.es Orcid: 0000-0002-6220-0302 Universidad Católica de Ávila

ELOY LÓPEZ MENESES

elopmen@upo.es Orcid: 0000-0003-0741-5367 University of Pablo de Olavide

Abstract

1

MOOCs can support educational innovation in a wide range of contexts, from formal to informal and from expected to unexpected. This kind of open online courses are often used within campus modules as core elements of their curriculum. This is the case of this experimental study, where we analyse an experiment of HE educational innovation about the perceptions of students around strengths and weaknesses of MOOCs in socio-educational settings. 54 students were surveyed with multiple choice questions around this topic. The results show that HE students of education degrees tend to see the potential of MOOCs to aid the transformation of the classrooms often currently reserved to social elites. They also see that MOOCs can transcend to new learning arenas more ubiquitous, connected, informal and horizontal, which can facilitate the digital inclusion of disenfranchised groups, as well as potentiate the blooming of interactive communities of collective intelligence. However, these students were also aware of important shortcomings such as the lack of monitoring, and MOOC's often unattainable demand of high learner autonomy.

Keywords: MOOCs, education innovation, MOOCs within campus, MOOCs for inclusion

1.1. MOOCs and learning models in Higher education and Society

Conner (2013) suggests that learning in the Knowledge Society occurs in a diversity of contexts, ranging from formal to informal and from expected to unexpected (figure 1).



Figure 1. Learning contexts (Conner, 2013).

In this sense, MOOCs are interesting educational approaches to develop in this polychromatic plurality of educational contexts.

MOOC acronym stands for Massive Open Online Courses (Rheingold, 2013). In scientific literature, MOOCs are often portrayed as virtual environments of social connectivity around a particular area of study with an open pedagogical approach (McAuley et al., 2010; Vázquez-Cano, López-Meneses & Barroso, 2015; Aguaded, Vázquez-Cano & López Meneses, 2016). These are in turn offered by many of the top Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) worldwide, and have the potential to alter the global Higher Education ecosystems (López-Meneses, 2017). Castaño & Cabero outline the following characteristics of MOOCs:

• They are educational resources with certain resemblance to a classroom.

- They are events with start and finish dates.
 - They have assessment mechanisms.
 - They are online.
 - They are free for learners to use.
 - They are open, without admission prerequisites.
 - They allow interactive participation at scale of large learning communities.

The MOOC universe is object of pedagogical and educational reflection among many academics in the field (Zapata, 2013; Ramírez-Fernández, Salmerón y López-Meneses, 2015) as well as for HEIs in the globalised world (Haggard, 2013). That entails an innovative model of massive education that exploits the potential of communication and information technologies in a paradigmatic fashion at societal level (Pérez-Parra & Gómez-Galán, 2015). In the same way, massive and open education poses a challenge for HEIs and the HE teaching community, who is pushed to redefine the current methodological paradigm in order to charter new curricular approaches which are more open, interactive, collaborative and ubiquitous, in symbiosis with a more dynamic and holistic assessment, embedded in more flexible and diversified programmes, more adapted to the job market to promote and provide students with the implementation of their own skills and competencies development paths for their academic and professional development (López-Meneses, 2017).

Many attempts have been made at classifying the different types of MOOCs. Perhaps one of the most commented taxonomies is that of Clark's (2013), who identifies seven types:

- TransferMOOCs (consisting of taking existing in-campus courses and transferring them to MOOC platforms).
- MadeMOOCs (purpose-made MOOCs with emphasis on the quality of the multimedia materials and MOOC-specific tasks and interactions for students).
- SynchMOOCs (courses have start and end dates, as well as specific assessment events).
- AsynchMOOCs (self-paced, with no dates or deadlines).
- AdaptiveMOOCs (using adaptive algorhitms to personalise learning, based on learning analytics insights).
- GroupMOOCs (designed for specific groups)

- ConnectivistMOOCS (following Siemens' and Downes' connectivist principles).
- MiniMOOCSs (with small numbers and short duration).

However, the most generalised classification is that of xMOOCs and cMOOCs, where the former is a centralised approach with behaviourist pedagogical underpinnings, and the latter is a distributed approach with social constructivist and connectivist pedagogies (Downes, 2012; Karsenti, 2013; Vázquez-Cano, López-Meneses, & Sarasola, 2013).

As Aguaded & Medina suggest (2015) the MOOC movement currently emanates from a process of innovation in the context of open education, oriented by the principles of massive and free distribution of contents, and technologically facilitated by online, interactive and collaborative applications. Gértrudix, Rajas, & Álvarez (2017) note that his movement has significant academic and journalistic attention, as evidenced by the bibliometric analyses of academic (López-Meneses, Vázquez-Cano, & Román, 2015; Aguaded, Vázquez-Cano, & López-Meneses, 2016; León-Urrutia, Vázquez-Cano, & López-Meneses, 2017) and non-academic literature (White, León, & White, 2015; Kovanovich et al., 2015). This attention is also reflected in the institutional policies that stimulate MOOC production (Hollands & Tirthali, 2014), and the analysis of their pedagogical quality (Roig-Vila, Mengual-Andrés, & Suárez-Guerrero, 2014; Aguaded & Medina-Salguero, 2015), among other areas. MOOCs can be therefore considered as a new learning path for universal education.

1.2. The setting

In this study, we analyse an experiment of HE educational innovation about the perceptions of 54 students of an Education degree module named "Information and Communication Technologies" in the double degree of Social Work and Social Education, from the cohort of February 2016-17, in the University Pablo Olavide of Seville. One of the core contents of these modules are MOOCs and their social and educational impact (see module in <http:// bit.ly/2xwjh4x>). This experiment encourages first-year Social education students to reflect upon the advantages and disadvantages of MOOC in socio-educational settings. For this, every student would produce a personal *edublog* for the module, keeping record the activities carried out in it. One of the tabs would be a record of the MOOCs where they would contribute with their reflections. In figure 2, two exemplars are displayed.

Edublog 1 URL: http://laurayebenestic.blogspot.com.es /p/mooc.html



Edublog 2 URL: http://educametetic.blogspot.com.es /p/mooc.html



Figure 2. Personal edublog exemplars

1.3. Aims

The structure of this study was devised in attention to its main aims, which are the following:

- Analysing how students perceived the advantages of MOOCs in socio-educational settings where students of this particular module operate.
- Determine the main weaknesses of MOOCs as seen by the students of the module.
- Enhance our understanding of *edublogs* as educational resources, and find how to best use them to support the professional development of the social educator.

1.4. Methodology

This research Project used qualitative and descriptive methodological approach. The sample was formed by 54 students of the double degree of Social Work and Social Education, in the Faculty of Social Science of the University Pablo Olavide, cohort 2016/17.

To analyse the different students' outputs (comments made in the individual edublogs) throughout the module, a reference framework was taken from the guidelines established by Bogdan & Biklen (1992); Miles & Huberman (1994), and Monje (2011).

The first stage of the data analysis process consisted of data reduction by categorising and coding the information obtained. The categorisation involved simplifying and selecting the information in order to make it more manageable. For this, the following steps were followed:

- Units were separated to identify relevant instances about reflections on advantages and drawbacks of MOOCs in socio-educational settings.
- These units were grouped in themes.
- The instances were synthesised and classified into those different themes.

During the coding stage, each textual instance was identified and inserted into its corresponding category through a mixed inductive-deductive procedure, to then perform a statistical analysis of the counts obtained. Finally, the analysis process was completed with a second stage in which the different instances were interpreted and categorised, in order to facilitate the inferences and interpretations of the results, as described below.

1.5. Results

This section starts with the analysis of the study participants' reported perceptions with regard of the strengths of MOOCs in socio-educational settings. More specifically, Table 1 displays the frequencies of participants' responses around this topic. From the table it can be inferred that most students saw gratuity as one of the main advantages of this approach for knowledge expansion,

followed by 46 students who thought that its greatest advantage is the flexibility that MOOCs provide, adapting to the learners' availability and ability to devote time to those courses. It is also worth highlighting the 33 responses stating MOOC's ability to create learning communities and networks, from pools of massive numbers of participants, facilitated by discussion forums (32 responses specific to fora). Moreover, 31 students highlighted the inclusive nature of MOOCs, enabling access to disenfranchised groups.

MOOC advantages	FREQUENCIES
Gratuity	47
Higher education content	24
Flexibility	41
Width of choice	18
Education for the disenfranchised	31
Employability	9
Support to traditinal education	10
Discussion forums	32
Multimedia materials	4
Introductory topics and life-long learning	19
Online education	12
Collaborative social networks	33
Certification	14
Unlimited enrolments	9

Table 1. Participants' responses on MOOC strengths

24 responses agreed that MOOCs offer Higher Education contents, signed off by prestigious universities. 19 of the responses indicated that MOOCs can introduce learners to scientific topics and disciplines, as well as providing live-long learning experiences, with a wide variety of offerings (18 responses).



Chart 1. Percentages of responses from participants about advangages of MOOCs

In light of the results obtained referring to the advantages of MOOCs, it can be inferred that these courses have a significant potential to offer affordable and accessible education to everyone regardless of their background, as others have already suggested (Christensen et al., 2013; Daniel, 2012). The results show that this is also true in our social and educational settings, where these courses can support the digital inclusion of disenfranchised groups (Vázquez-Cano, López-Meneses, & Sarasola, 2013). Finally, in consonance with Moser-Mercer (2014), learning in "fragile" contexts is fundamental for an equal societal development, as well as the internalisation of HEIs (Teixeira *et al.* 2016).

With regard of the main challenges and dificulties of the MOOC movement in socio-educational settings, Chart 2 higlights a 15% of participants noting a lack of depth in the contents and materials offered in MOOCs. To this respect, as pointed out by Daniel, Vázquez-Cano, & Gisbert (2015), too many MOOCs are designed as a collection of videos with a discussion forum, which involves a traditional distance learning model that does not promote personalised learning. This in turn leads to a unidirectional teacher-centred content-based communicative design, with serious issues in attending individual differences, in a tendency to standardise learning (Valverde, 2014). In this sense, other authors (Lane & Kinser, 2013; Aguaded, Vázquez-Cano, & Sevillano, 2013)

use the term McDonalisation of education to refer to the distribution of standardised educational packs at global scale. Also, over 10% of the participants expressed that these courses lack appropriate and quality-ensuring assessment systems.



Chart 2. Participants' opinions about MOOC weaknesses, in percentages

There was also a 14.39% who stated that most MOOCs, due to their massiveness, come with an information deluge that could lead to dispersion and disorientation. In this sense, Calderón, Ezeiza, & Jimeno (2013) pointed out that some learners who feel disoriented and overwhelmed have low probabilities of interaction with tutor or expert co-learners, little meaningful socialisation in the MOOC, and little depth in their interactions.

12.12% of the participants also identified the predominance of multiple choice questions in the MOOC assessment methods as one of their main drawbacks. Another widely criticised aspect of MOOCs (11.36%) was the high attrition rates, in line with Fidalgo, Sein-Echaluce, & García Peñalvo (2013). Also, almost 11% expressed that MOOC lacked an appropriate follow up of the learning process.

Other reported weaknesses worth mentioning were MOOC's non-mobile friendliness (18), a high reliance on students' autonomy (16), and additional costs for certificate obtention (11). See table 2 for all the results about MOOCs' weaknesses.

MOOC weaknesses	FREQUENCIES
Lack of monitoring	29
Demands high student autonomy	16
Added certification costs	11
High drop-out rate	30
Need for expert learning designers	1
Information dispersión	38
Materials' lack of depth	39
Inappropriate assessment	32
Massification	11
Excessive use of video	9
Prior technical knowledge requirements	10
Not mobile friendly	18
Reliance on Internet Access	7
Business oriented	9
Students' privacy vulnerability	4

Another 10 participants indicated that MOOC often required too much previous technical knowledge to get started with the course. Also, 9 of the participants expressed that there was an abuse of video materials in detriment of other formats, an unbalanced that affected the quality of the courses (Zapata, 2013; Vázquez-Cano, López, & Sarasola, 2013).

Finally, seven participants indicated the indispensability of a working Internet connection as a significant weakness. One of the students also expressed that quality MOOCs could not be delivered without specialist learning designers. In this sense, León-Urrutia, Vázquez-Cano, & López-Meneses (2017), suggested that MOOC designers must provide a more comprehensive and adaptive design to cater for different socio-educational realities, in order to address the diverse training and educational demands.

1.6. Discussion and conclusion

One of the most salient features of the current Information Society is the relevance that Information and Communication Technologies have been gaining recently, becoming elements for exclusion and discrimination in a wide range of social contexts (Cabero-Almenara, & Ruiz-Palmero, 2018). Martín-Padilla (2017) indicates that this is especially true for MOOCs.

Moreover, universities are socio-technical pillars for the expansion and dissemination of global knowledge, as well as for the empowerment of citizenship, educational innovation, knowledge transfer. Universities are also catalysts for professional development, social cohesion, and an integrating agent for the economic and technological fabric of the knowledge society and human development (López-Meneses, 2017). Under this socio-technical and educational perspective, MOOCs can aid the transformation of the classrooms often currently reserved to social elites. MOOCs can transcend to new learning arenas more ubiquitous, connected, informal and horizontal, which can facilitate the digital inclusion of disenfranchised groups, as well as potentiate the blooming of interactive communities of collective intelligence. However, we must be aware that, after of a first phase of effervescence in HE, a set of shortcomings have become evident, as participants in this study have identified, and other authors have corroborated. These are, among others, the high attrition rate, the scarce interactivity of MOOC participants, the weaknesses in the official recognition through creditation, and the tendency to monetisation over quality (Aguaded, Vázquez-Cano, & Sevillano, 2013; Daniel, Vázquez-Cano, & Gisbert, 2015; León-Urrutia, Vázquez-Cano, & López-Meneses, 2017). An awareness of these shortcomings, as well as these advantages, can support a transformation towards more horizontal, connected, informal, and inclusive educational offerings, creating virtual habitats for sustainable educational development for the Homo Conexus/digitalis in the path of globalised knowledge (Vázquez-Cano, López-Meneses, & Barroso, 2015).

Acknowledgements

This study emerges from the directive of the pedagogical innocation Project called "Formación didáctica en Cloud Computing: Competencias digitales, estrategias didácticas y e-actividades con tecnología Web 2.0 en el EEES", in the framework of the Action 2 of Projects for Pedagogical Innovation and Teacher Development, funded by the Vice-Chancellor office of the University Pablo Olavide of Seville, under the umbrela of the EduInnovagogía[®] (HUM-971) research group.

References

- Aguaded, J. I. & Medina-Salguero, R. (2015). Criterios de calidad para la valoración y gestión de MOOC, *RIED. Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 18 (2), 119-143. Available at http://bit.ly/2ql8i71>.
- Aguaded, J. I., Vázquez-Cano, E., & Sevillano, M. L. (2013). MOOCs, ¿turbocapitalismo de redes o altruismo educativo? In SCOPEO IN-FORME Num. 2: MOOC: Estado de la situación actual, posibilidades, retos y futuro, 74-90. Salamanca: Universidad de Salamanca. Servicio de Innovación y Producción Digital. Available at <http://scopeo.usal.es/ wp-content/uploads/2013/06/scopeoi002.pdf>.
- Aguaded, J. I., Vázquez-Cano, E., & López-Meneses, E. (2016). El impacto bibliométrico del movimiento MOOC en la comunidad científica española, *Educación XX1*, 19 (2), 77-104. doi: https://doi.org/10.5944/ educxx1.19.2>.
- Bogdan, R. & Biklen, S.K. (1992). *Investigación cualitativa de la educación*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Cabero, J. & Ruiz-Palmero, J. (2018). Las tecnologías de la información y la comunicación para la inclusión: reformulando la brecha digital, *International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation (IJERI)*, 9, 16-30.
- Calderón, J. J., Ezeiza, A., & Jimeno, M. (2013). La falsa disrupción de los MOOC: la invasión de un modelo obsoleto. VI Congreso Internacional de Educación Abierta y Tecnología Ikasnabar 13, Zalla.
- Castaño, C. & Cabero, J. (2013). Enseñar y aprender en entornos m-learning. Madrid: Síntesis.
- Christensen, G., Steinmetz, B., Alcorn, B., Bennett, A., Woods, D., & Emanuel, E. J. (2013). *The MOOC phenomenon: Who takes Massive Open Online Courses and why*? Available at http://bit.ly/2pqRDlv.

- Clark, D. (2013). *MOOCs: taxonomy of 8 types of MOOC.onald Clark Plan B.* Available at <http://arkplanb.blogspot.com.es/2013/04/moocs-taxonomy-of-8-types-of-mooc.html>.
- Conner, M. L. (2013). *Informal Learning*. Available at <http://marciaconner.com/resources/informallearning/>.
- Daniel J. (2012). Making sense of MOOCs: Musings in a Maze of Myth, Paradox and Possibility, *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 3. Available at http://doi.org/10.5334/2012-18>.
- Daniel, J.; Vázquez-Cano, E., & Gisbert, M. (2015). El futuro de los MOOC: ¿aprendizaje adaptativo o modelo de negocio?, RUSC. Universities and Knowlwdge Society Journal, 12 (1), 64-74.
- Downes, S. (2012). *Connectivism and Connective Knowledge Essays on meaning and learning Networks*. National Research Council Canada. Available at ">http://bit.ly/20TNdk3>.
- Fidalgo, Á., Sein-Echaluce, M. L., & García-Peñalvo, F. J. (2013). MOOC cooperativo. Una integración entre cMOOC y xMOOC. In Fidalgo, A., Sein-Echaluce, M. L., & Lacleta (eds.) Actas del II Congreso Internacional sobre Aprendizaje, Innovación y Competitividad, CINAIC 2013 (6-8 de noviembre de 2013), pp. 48-486. Madrid, España: Fundación General de la Universidad Politécnica de Madrid.
- Gértrudix, M., Rajas, M., & Álvarez, S. (2017). Metodología de producción para el desarrollo de contenidos audiovisuales y multimedia para MOOC, *RIED. Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 20 (1). Available at http://revistas.uned.es/index.php/ried/article/view/16691/14643.
- Haggard, S. (2013). The Maturing of the MOOC (Reserch No. 130). London: Department for Business Innovation y Skills-UK Government. Available at http://bufvc.ac.uk/copyright-guidance/mlr/index.php/ site/323>.
- Hollands, F. & Tirthali, D. (2014). MOOCs: Expectations and Reality. Full Report. New York: Columbia University. Available at http://cbcse.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/MOOCs_Expectations_ and_Reality.pdf>.
- Karsenti, T. (2013). MOOC: Révolution ou simple effet de mode?/The MOOC: Revolution or just a fad?, *International Journal of Technologies in Higher Education*, 10 (2), 6–37. doi: https://doi.org/10.7202/1035519ar>.
- Kovanović, V., Joksimović, S., Gašević, D., Siemens, G., & Hatala, M. (2015). What public media reveals about MOOCs: A systematic analysis of news reports, *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 46 (3), 510-527.

- Lane, J. & Kinser, K. (2013). MOOC's and the McDonalization of Global Higher Education. The Cronicle of Higer Education. Available at http://chronicle.com/blogs/worldwise/moocs-mass-educationand-the-mc-donaldization-of-higher-education/30536>.
- León-Urrutia, Vázquez-Cano & López-Meneses (2017). Analítica de aprendizaje en MOOC mediante métricas dinámicas en tiempo real, *@tic. Revista d'Innovació Educativa*, 18, 38-47. Available at <https://ojs. uv.es/index.php/attic/article/viewFile/10022/9798>.
- López-Meneses, E., Vázquez-Cano, E., & Román, P. (2015). Análisis e implicaciones del impacto del movimiento MOOC en la comunidad científica: JCR y Scopus (2010-13), *Comunicar*, 44, 73-80. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.3916/C44-2015-08>.
- López-Meneses, E. (2017). El fenómeno MOOC y el futuro de la Universidad, *Fronteras de la Ciencia*, 1, 90-97.
- Martín-Padilla, A. H. (2017). Diseño e implementación de un observatorio de investigación sobre MOOC para la expansión del conocimiento global. (Tesis doctoral inédita). Universidad de Almería, Facultad de Educación, España.
- McAuley, A.; Stewart, B.; Siemens, G., & Cormier, D. (2010). *Massive Open Online Courses. Digital ways of knowing and learning. The MOOC Model for Digital Practice.* University of Prince Edward Island. Available at http://davecormier.com/edblog/wp-content/uploads/MOOC_Final.pdf>.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: an expanded sourcebook. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Monje, C. A. (2011). Metodología de la investigación cuantitativa y cualitativa. Guía didáctica. Nieva: Universidad Surcolombiana. Facultad de Ciencias Sociales y Humanas. Programa de Comunicación Social y Periodismo.
- Moser-Mercer, B. (2014). MOOCs in fragile contexts. In Cress, U. & Delgado Kloos, C. (eds.), Proceedings of the European MOOC Stakeholder Summit 2014. Lausan: PAU Education, pp. 114-221. Available at <http://bit.ly/20QDFW0>.
- Pérez-Parras, J. & Gómez-Galán, J. (2015). International Journal of Educational Excellence, 1 (2), 81-99.
- Ramírez-Fernández, M. B., Salmerón, J. L., & López-Meneses, E. (2015). Comparativa entre instrumentos de evaluación de calidad de cursos MOOC: ADECUR vs Normas UNE 66181:2012, RUSC Universities and Knowledge Society Journal, 12 (1), 131-144. Available at http://dx.doi. org/10.7238/rusc.v12i1.2258>.

- Rheingold, H. (2013). MOOCs, Hype, and the Precarious State of Higher Ed: Futurist Bryan Alexander. Available at http://dmlcentral.net/blog/howard-rheingold/moocs-hype-and-precarious-statehigh-er-ed-futurist-bryan-alexander.
- Roig-Vila, R., Mengual-Andrés, S. & Suárez-Guerrero, C. (2014). Evaluación de la calidad pedagógica de los MOOC. *Revista Profesorado. Cur*rículum y Formación del Profesorado, 18 (1), 27-41. Available at http://bit.ly/2086f2q>.
- Teixeira, A., Mota, J., García-Cabot, A., García López, E., & De-Marcos, L. (2016). Un nuevo enfoque basado en competencias para la personalización de MOOCs en un entorno móvil colaborativo en red, *RIED. Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 19 (1), 143-160.
- Valverde, J. (2014). MOOCs: Una visión crítica desde las Ciencias de la Educación, Revista Profesorado. Currículum y Formación del Profesorado, 18 (1), 93-111.
- Vázquez-Cano, E., López-Meneses, E., & Sarasola, J. L. (2013). MOOCs and the Expansion of Open Knowledge. Barcelona: Octaedro.
- Vázquez-Cano, E., López Meneses, E., & Barroso, J. (2015). *El futuro de los MOOC: Retos de la formación on-line, masiva y abierta*. Madrid: Síntesis.
- White, S., Leon, M., & White, S. (2015, May). MOOCs Inside Universities. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Computer Supported Education, pp. 109-115.
- Zapata, M. (2013). MOOCs, una visión crítica y una alternativa complementaria: la individualización del aprendizaje y de la ayuda pedagógica, *Campus Virtuales*, II (1), 20-38.

Towards a Taxonomy of Video for HCI Education

Adriana Wilde

agw106@soton.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-1684-1539 University of Southampton

Alan Dix

alan@hcibook.com Orcid: 0000-0002-5242-7693 Swansea University

CHRIS EVANS

c.evans@ucl.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-2800-2951 UCL Interaction Center (UCLiC)

ANNA VASILCHENKO

a.vasilchenko@newcastle.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-7415-9255 Newcastle University

JOSEPH MAGUIRE

Joseph.Maguire@glasgow.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-3718-7679 University of Glasgow

STEPHEN SNOW

s.snow@uq.edu.au Orcid: 0000-0002-8408-0153 University of Queensland

Abstract

This paper examines six case studies where video has been used for educational purposes, specifically on topics of Human-Computer Interaction. Through this examination, we identify the recurrent themes and propose the main dimensions upon which a taxonomy of video for HCI education can be drawn: considering who the actors in the producer-consumer dichotomy are, whether students, tutors, or external third parties. Recurrent observations made in a wide variety of contexts across our educational practice are also outlined. We propose further development of this taxonomy.

CCS Concepts: Human-centered computing \rightarrow Human computer interaction (HCI); Social and professional topics \rightarrow *Computing education*

2.1. Introduction



Figure 1. The roles played by producers and consumers of video for HCI Education (whether students, tutors or external stakeholders) are the main dimension to consider for an adequate classification of said videos.

The use of video in education is not new, especially for distance education. Since the early 1970s, the Open University have been broadcasting lecture-like material aired during gaps in programming on BBC's public channels (Dix, 2016). In Human-computer interaction (HCI), video has also been an integral part of both innovative systems, such as Xerox PARCs early experiments in ubiquitous office video sharing (Stults, 1998), and also methodologies in research and practice. Many of the more radical early ideas, such as the Phone Slave (Schmandt & Arons, 1985) and Wellber's DigitalDesk (Wellber, 1993) were demonstrated through "envisionment" videos, and since the 1990s video has become a normal tool of ethnography and design requirements capture.

However, in recent years there have been significant changes. On the one hand, platforms such as YouTube have changed the pattern of video consumption, widening the type and quantity of video beyond the traditional gatekeepers, and in consequence also shifting quality and accuracy judgement from producers to consumers. On the other hand, the production of video has become easier and cheaper. It is now possible to create relatively high-quality video using tools available on nearly any smartphone. This is also enabling new forms of stand-alone systems using web-cams, HTML5 video, and lower-barrier coding tools. These changes have had an impact in education broadly, sometimes making use of the generic video platforms, such as Khan Academy, and sometimes embedded within specialist platforms including plugins for generic VLEs and MOOC platforms such as FutureLearn.

This paper is based on six case studies from our educational practice, and also draws on broader input from the literature and workshops the authors have organised on HCI education [6, 8, 9]. Crucially, these case studies include not only tutor-created resources, but also various examples of student production. Reflecting on these experiences, we seek to embed the lessons learnt, problems identified, and issues raised within a nascent framework, around the producer-consumer roles of various actors (students, tutors and others), and their combinations as shown in Figure 1. Through this framework we seek to initiate steps towards articulating a taxonomy of video for HCI education. Such framework allows an increased understanding of our diverse experiences, facilitate mutual learning between them, and highlight future directions for pedagogic process and educational research. Many of the issues presented are common across similar disciplines, but others, such as the use of video within prototyping, are HCI-specific.

2.2. Case studies

Case study 1: Interactive "e-lectures" for flipped classrooms

Table 1. (Case study 1) Interactive e- lectures for flipped classrooms at UCL

Level	Course	Length weeks	Num. of students
Master-level	Persuasive Games	10	40
3 rd year UG	Interaction Design	10	182

This case presents experience of two instances of using interactive e-lectures to deliver material for flipped classrooms, as detailed in Table 1. Both courses were taught at University College London (UCL), UK, and both lasted one semester (10 weeks of lectures). In the both instances the tutor designed the e-lectures to be studied by students prior to face-to-face workshops. The workshops were intended to assist learners with getting to grips with the material from the e-lectures. The effectiveness of the flipped model using e-lectures as videos was then evaluated using end-of-term online surveys. The results suggest that students prefer the flipped model offered by e-lectures compared to traditional lectures. These e-lectures were not simply long videos, but they embodied interactive elements, including table of contents, which enabled students to obtain an overview of the material and also rapidly access specific parts (see Figures 2 and 3).



Figure 2. (Case study 1) Web layout for e-lecture delivery contrasting low- vs high-fidelity prototyping in the Interaction Design course, with a detailed table of contents (on the left), main screen with animated instructor, link to additional resources (top right corner), and navigation buttons (at the bottom).



Figure 3. (Case study 1) A second view of the e-lecture shown in Figure 2, this time demonstrating paper prototypes.

Case study 2: e-lectures for the Interaction Design Foundation

In this case, video material originally created for an experimental MOOC on HCI was then reused in Interaction Design Foundation courses (interaction-design.org) and also in flipped class activities (Dix, 2016). This was in many ways 'standard' video material, but had two features of interest. First, it was deliberately low-budget compared with MOOCs that involve semi-professional studio space and editing; the aim was to emulate what an ordinary academic would produce for their own students and for sharing. This led to insights about engagement (students seemed capable of up to 10 mins length before fall-off despite widely suggested figures of less than half that); and crucial fine details of production, e.g. positioning camera so that natural eve movements to screen 'look' towards slides during simple screen-in-screen presentation, as in shown in Figure 4. Second, there was a focus on reuse of the MOOC materials, both for flip class teaching by the presenter, but also wider sharing for in-class or out-of-class use in standard face-to-face teaching. The literature on reuse is often focused on producing stand-alone units of learning (such as learning objects or Sharable Content Objects in the SCORM Reference Model); however, real instruction is highly contextual, so instead this has led to seeking methods and tools to better view small snippets from longer videos in ways that present them as units, but do not hide their extracted nature.



Figure 4. (Case study 2) Setup for e-lecture delivery on prototyping for an Interaction Design Foundation course, with a detailed table of contents (on the left), main screen with animated instructor, link to additional resources (top right corner), and navigation buttons (at the bottom).

Case study 3: Video coursework for Usable Security

Here, students were asked to create videos for computing courses related to *Usable Security* at the University of Glasgow (Table 2). Video presentations required the demonstration of the development of a proactive password interface for minors. The assignment was a video presentation on key challenges of the specific context, the devised interface and evaluation. The marking scheme was not tailored specifically to presentation or video challenges, but did emphasise aspects such as clarity of speech and use of visuals aids. Teams were not provided with any specific guidance on how to produce videos, suggested tools or any strict guidance as to format, but a structure was suggested.

Module:	Usable Security
Number of students:	approximately 80
Course duration:	one semester
Group size:	2-3 students
Length of videos:	10 minutes
Video-production guidance provided:	minimal

Table 2. Coursework at Glasgow (Case study 3)

Table 3. Coursework at Southampton(Case study 4)

Module:	Interaction Design
Level:	2 nd year undergraduate
Number of students:	140
Course duration:	onesemester
Group size:	4-5 students
Length of videos:	4 minutes
Video-production guidance provided:	lecture + past year's examples

The main observation of this case study was that 'digital native' students may submit unpolished artefacts which suggest a limited skill set in video production. This may have been
alleviated by offering guidance on video presentations issued to the students. However, the level of sophistication of the submitted artefacts may be attributed to the nature of the assignment. Very similar observations were made by one of the authors when using video coursework when teaching the module *Complex IT Systems in Large Organisations* at Uppsala University (Case study 6, see table 5).

Case study 4: Video coursework for Interaction Design projects

This case study was based on the Interaction Design module taught at the University of Southampton, UK, detailed in Table

3. The module was assessed by exam and coursework (50% each). In the coursework, students were required to conduct qualitative research and develop low-fidelity prototypes for Internet of Things devices. A student-authored video showcasing the features of the prototype was the primary assessment tool. Video production was encouraged to use a range of prototyping materials, e.g. paper, physical, computer-generated or combinations of these all. The video, part of the final submission (which included a report) required the presentation of features, functionality, fitness for purpose and justifications for design decisions of the prototype. In total, working in small groups, students authored 27 video submissions, screenshots of some of which are featured in Figure 5. The assessment criteria for the video component



Figure 5. (Case study 4) Stills from student- produced video demonstrating the functionality of a smartphone app which interacts with a smart watch in a lo-fi prototype.

were developed carefully, prioritizing prototype over production quality, so that marks were weighted towards the fitness for purpose of the developed and presented technology prototypes. In this way, students with limited video-making experience were not disadvantaged (Wilde & Snow, 2018).

Analysis of this method revealed that creation of video presentation is successful in giving students freedom to explore low-fidelity prototyping techniques, beyond simply "apps". Further, it acts as a level-playing field for materials' choice when prototyping, with the additional benefit to allow students to employ humour and ingenuity to showcase their prototypes.

Case study 5: Video coursework for Ubiquitous Computing course

This case study is the Ubiquitous computing module at Newcastle University, UK (details in Table 4). As part of the assessment (30% of the module total) students individually created three short video tutorials of their practical sessions, explaining how to program Raspberry Pi in various scenarios.

Module:	Ubiquitous Computing
Level:	3 rd year undergraduate
Number of students:	34
Course duration:	onesemester
Group size:	1 (Individual Individual coursework, though with elements of cohort-wide collaboration)
Length of videos:	2-4minutes
Video-production guidance provided:	lecture + shoot templates in video- production tool

Table 4. Coursework at Newcastle (Case study 5)

A mobile video production tool was provided to aid collaborative video production. As part of the process, students used the provided tool to first create a number of short video clips to document their work with Raspberry Pi during practical sessions. Then students uploaded their clips to a dedicated server through the tool, making those clips available for their peers to see. Finally, students individually combined shared clips into their own edits, which they submitted for assessment.

The used tool provided students with a "shoot template", a set of suggested shots that the tutor has chosen to help guide students on what to shoot, and aid framing and structuring their tutorials better.

Assessment criteria for the video tutorials were developed in a similar way to the previous case study. The biggest portion of mark was given for the understanding of required concepts for working with Raspberry Pi and accuracy in explaining the steps required



Figure 6. (Case study 5) Stills from a tutorial on Proximity Detection showing how to connect peripherals to a Raspberry Pi.

to achieve a certain task in the video tutorials, rather than the production quality of the video.

Feedback suggests high enthusiasm for video making, with many students expressing a preference to video over written reports and oral presentations. Further, post-analysis of the learning process (from meta-data of the video production tool) showed that collaborative video creation helps students to both demonstrate and develop media literacy skills, an unplanned by-product of the assessment.

Case study 6: Video coursework for Complex IT Systems in Large Organisations

This study took place at Uppsala University, Sweden, detailed in Table 5. The learning objectives of the course were to understand various stages in the life-cycle of complex IT systems in large organisations. The assessment comprised a group project and an individual exam. For the project, students conducted interviews with key people in various organisations to understand processes related to a IT systems life-cycle (development, procurement, etc.) and then prepare a report accompanied by a short video. Interviewees were selected by course tutors and randomly allocated to each group. Students received interview training and discussed what makes a good educational video and what to note when creating their films.



Figure 7. (Case study 6) Stills from a video where students re-enact an interview they conducted of an expert in the field.

Module:	Complex IT systems in large or- ganisations
Level:	Master level
Duration:	one semester
Number of students:	approximately 40
Group size:	3-5 students
Video-production guidance:	Lecture + discussions of what makes a good educational video

Table	5.	Coursework	at	Uppsala	(Case study	v 6)
iuoic	. .	Coursework	uı	Oppsula	(Cusc staa	, .,

Submissions were then shared among students and used as a base for learning goals' discussions, which were based on the learning theory of constructive controversy and the use of affinity diagrams. The individual exam at the end of the course included questions about all organisational contexts covered in the course, as presented by their peers' films and reports. The main observation from this case was similar to those of the case study 3. Many of the student groups produced videos of modest quality. This impacted the delivery of necessary information to other students who learnt from those videos. Unfortunately, since each group has been assigned to cover a specific phase of IT system development in a specific context, the instructors had to include all of the videos and reports into class discussion and exam preparations. The course timetable restrictions allowed no time to re-do the videos. However, as reported by students in the interview the students who used the videos and reports as learning materials did not see any major issues with them and did not question the information delivered to them, despite the quality issues noted by the instructors. In other words, the learners did not think it was necessary to critically evaluate the content of peer-produced materials. This suggests, that today's students still need some scaffolding to mitigate any lack of experience in producing videos. Moreover, this case also revealed that many students lack the critical thinking skills required for peer-assessment.

2.3. Themes for video production in education

Video production in education can be classified in two themes: videos as delivery and as assessment. HCI as a discipline requires students to master design and technical skills, including film making and video production (Hewett et al., 1992). The affordances of video for communication fosters students' creativity while allowing effective demonstration of knowledge and skills. Also, in learning about prototyping, just like in industry, video is impactful for challenging prototypes. Students do not yet have mature skills to make a fully working tool or system within a course time frame, so video allows for effective Wizard of Oz demonstrations. Moreover, with video, it is possible to effectively demonstrate the prototype in context, by visualising a scenario in near-real settings with zoom-in and zoom-out options, rather than in oral in-class demos.

Production of video coursework could be supported by a specific tool or platform (like in case study 5), however, it could also successfully rely on students simply having cameras on their smart phones (like in case study 4). When designing curricula/assessment that involves student-made videos, tutors should not regard today's students "digital natives" (Prensky, 2001) as digitally proficient. As suggested by results of case studies 3 and 6, students do require sufficient motivation (make them buy the idea of how useful it is for them to produce quality videos) and scaffolding in order to be able to produce good quality video materials and fully benefit from the making process. This could be dealt with by either investing some time in class to thoroughly explain the tasks or by having a technological support, like in case study 5, where a tool could guide the students giving them video production templates and suggesting order of steps and framing for shots.

Table 6. Use of video for delivery or assessment

Video for delivery:

Tutor-created video for delivery of content to students. This is not simply a recorded lecture but purposefully created content, tailored to "digital consumption" with features such as non-linear navigation, a short format and embedded interaction (e.g. quiz) to encourage viewer engagemen.

Video for assessment:

Student-created video that students create as part of their learning in a course. Video coursework could take various forms: presentation of research results, demonstration of a developed prototype or a working software or hardware, tutorial for acquired skills, etc.

Another technique to help students with video production is to encourage and support their collaboration. This could be done with or without a specific tool (see case studies 4 and 5). Peer learning is a powerful technique which could boost student creativity (by broadening their perspectives - e.g. seeing what others have come up with) and productivity by peer-pressure and competitiveness (thinking "I/we could do better than other students"). Technological support, however, can boost this even further and help students to acquire additional (sometimes unexpected) skills, such as media literacy, as shown in case study 5. Furthermore, collaboration where students share pre-production media material prepare them for the sharing economy. This way students also get to know basics of fair use and copyright principles as well as acquire such skills as co-production and crowd-sourcing. We found numerous educational benefits of video making across our practice. As well as promoting deep learning and being a reliable assessment technique, video production provides students an opportunity to master transferable skills, of which media literacy is a valuable one. In this process, students learn how to create a meaningful media message, whilst also acquiring or mastering video production skills. When the process of production is collaborative and students share and see each others' pre-production material, they can engage in critical evaluation of video clips in order to make editorial choices in their own work.

2.4. Taxonomy

Drawing observation from these case studies we propose a framework that presents nine scenarios where roles of video producer and consumer are allocated in turns to tutor, student and a third party, who is external to a particular course and student cohort, as illustrated in Figure 1. In what follows we refer to pairs according to how these actors fall in the producer-consumer dichotomy, discussing their common attributes.

A **student-student** video allows sharing, encourages critical thinking, peer learning, peer assessment. At best learn critically from one another, but some consumers may tend to *overtrust* (see sidebar), given that they know the producers. A **student-tu-tor** video is typically used for demonstrations and assessment. FAQs could potentially be used for scaffolding and guidance. A **student-external** video is used in publications and student portfolios¹ potential to become external resource for another institution, or to allow cross-institutional peer-learning.

A **tutor-student** video can consist of e-lectures (as in case study 1), a lecture capture, or even feedback on student work. Another use could be to answer frequently asked questions (FAQs) for scaffolding and guidance. A **tutor-tutor** video can be used for coaching, professional development, or community-building in computer science education.² A **tutor-external** video includes MOOCs, complementary material to textbooks, and sites such as IDF (case study 2).

An **external-student** video suggests the reuse of creative-common materials and other sources. This could be either direct (requires information search and critical evaluation); or mediated by tutor (recommending tools for easy collection, editing and attri-

^{1.} A *student-tutor* video can also be *student-external* if the institution allows the public distribution of assessed material.

^{2.} An example of a teacher explaining how to flip a classroom: <https://youtu.be/ ZRvmjjeZ9CA>.

bution). An **external-tutor** video encompasses both professional development and selection of material for teaching. Finally, an **external-external** video for educational purposes include television and broadcasts as well as online videos and vlogs in tended for information or even marketing and trend-setting, but these are not typically within the context of higher education.

2.5. Stepping back thoughts

Video as prototype builds on long-standing research on User Interfaces and HCI as well as practice, including envisionments. Not only affords numerous pedagogic advantages to students as discussed above but it is a powerful tool for all actors involved. In particular, within the proposed taxonomy, when we consider the different actors across the producer/consumer matrix presented in Figure 1, the roles of producer and consumer can be taken by student, tutor or external party, defining the purpose of the video. In the case of students, production promotes learning of video skills and domain knowledge, whilst consumption foster learning of other skills such as critical evaluation. Similarly, for tutors, both production and consumption can support their professional development and community-building, whilst for external actors the motivation is often showcasing advances in developments and services which can increase reputation and commercial rewards.

It is worth exploring further what other dimensions to the proposed taxonomy of video for HCI education can be considered, perhaps in style, tone, level of support, and other aspects which we have identified and outlined in Tables 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5.

We also observed that students may trust poor information on other students' videos. An explanation is that the videos may be perceived as endorsed by the tutor, who through the exercise is giving it some kind of approval. If videos are interviews or selection of other seemingly real or reliable original sources, the student consumer may underestimate the significance and potential bias in the process of selection, editing and collecting the material.

2.6. Conclusions

Contrasting the various case studies structured across the themes has helped to highlight potential points of mutual learning; for example, template-based approaches used to ease students sharing and editing video may also be useful for tutor produced material. It has also highlighted common challenges to practitioners, such as the need to find ways to make editing of rough videos easy. Finally, it has helped suggest potential new directions; for example, whether student questions as well as tutor feedback could be delivered through short video or audio clips. However, we feel we are at the beginning of exploring this broad and rich area, with great significance to the computer science education community at large. We welcome discussion with other HCI educators and Computer Science Educators in general, and we believe that the proposed taxonomy will offer a common vocabulary for such exchanges.

References

- Dix, A. (2016). More than one way to flip a class: learning analytics for mixed models of learning. *Compass: Journal of Learning and Teaching* 8, 12 (2016).
- Hewett, T. T., Baecker, R., Card, S., Carey, T., Gasen, J., Mantei, M., Perlman, G., Strong, G., & Verplank, W. (1992). ACM SIGCHI curricula for human-computer interaction. ACM.
- Prensky. M. 2001. Digital Natives, Digital Immigrants Part 1, On the Horizon, 9, 5, 1-6. Available at http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/10748120110424816>.
- Schmandt, C. & Arons, B. (1985). Phone Slave: A graphical Telecommunications Interface, *Proceeding of the SID*, 26, 1.
- Stults, R. (1988). *Experimental uses of video to support design activities*. Xerox Palo Alto Research Center.
- Vasilchenko, A., Wilde, A., Snow, S., Balaam, M., & Devlin, M. (2018) Video coursework: opportunity and challenge for HCI education. Proceedings of the 2018 International Conference on Advanced Visual Interfaces. Castiglione della Pescaia, Grosseto, Italy.
- Wellner, P. (1993). Interacting with Paper on the DigitalDesk, Commun. ACM, 36, 7 (July 1993), 87–9. Available at https://doi.org/ 10.1145/159544.159630>.

- Wilde, A; Snow, S. (2018). Passive consumers no more: Experiences with students producing video materials for assessment in HCI. In HCI and the educational technology revolution #HCIed2018: a workshop on video-making for teaching and learning human-computer interaction. Castiglione della Pescaia, Grosseto, Italy.
- Wilde, A., Vasilchenko, A., & Dix, A. (2018, May). HCI and the educational technology revolution #HCIEd2018: a workshop on video-making for teaching and learning human-computer interaction. In Proceedings of the 2018 International Conference on Advanced Visual Interfaces (p. 9). ACM.

New Emerging Technologies for University Innovation

David Blas Padilla

d.blas.at@gmail.com Orcid: 0000-0002-5131-1066 University of Pablo de Olavide

JULIO CABERO ALMENARA

cabero@us.es Orcid: 0000-0002-1133-6031 University of Seville

Esteban Vázquez Cano

evazquez@edu.uned.es Orcid: 0000-0002-6694-7948 National Distance Education University

Eloy López Meneses

elopmen@upo.es Orcid: 0000-0003-0741-5367 University of Pablo de Olavide

Abstract

The present study has been carried out under the umbrella of a wider Spanish research project "Augmented Reality to enhance the development, design, production and evaluation of AR aided HE training programmes" (EdU-5746-P– Proyecto RAfodIUn). This immersive educational experience was conducted through a seminar about emergent technologies, the aims of which were 1) Raise awareness of new AR applications in educational settings, as well as their pedagogical potential applications, 2) generate proactive attitudes of students towards AR, and 3) develop students' competencies around the pedagogical applications of AR. The results show that, among a set of AR applications, Quiver and Zookazam were the most attractive and motivational for educational purposes, while other applications such as Anatomy 4D were not so suited for this purpose, despite being a highly powerful application in the field of healthcare.

Keywords: Technological education, augmented reality, educational apps, Higher Education innovation, emerging technologies

3.1. Augmented Reality: new technologies that generate proactive learning scenarios

The present digital era is moving towards new ways of interacting with reality through "new" interactive and emerging technologies, bringing people closer to a culture of collaborative knowledge (Cope and Kalantzis, 2010), whose trend tend towards privacy, connected content, globality as a process, the use of mobile phones, a digital identity and b-learning, among others.

Nowadays, emerging technologies such as Augmented Reality (AR) are increasing their popularity in training scenarios (Kipper & Rampolla, 2012, Moreno-Martínez and Leiva-Olivencia, 2017). In this sense, the "Augmented Reality" is a technology that allows the combination of digital information and physical information in real time, through different technological supports, such as tablets or smartphones, and that allows creating a new reality (Cabero y Barroso, 2016, Cabero et al. 2016, Fombona y Vázquez-Cano, 2017, Cabero y Barroso, 2018).

Its meaning for educational training is established, on the one hand, by its own specific features, such as: being a mixed reality, the chance to combine, in real time, different layers of information and in different formats (texts, url, videos, ...), it is an interactive technology, it is easy to use, and through its use we make richer or change the information of reality by adding additional information (Cabero and García, 2016). And on the other hand, because the devices that are often used for observation, such as smartphones, are technologies easily available to university students (Cabero y Barroso, 2018).

From a technological point of view, combining the proposals of different authors, Cabero and Barroso (2016) point out the different resources and technological devices that are needed for the production and observation of objects in AR, in particular the authors point out the following:

- 1. An element that captures the image of reality that users are seeing (computer screen, a telephone, or a video game console);
- 2. A device where to project the mixture of the real images with the synthesized images (the three mentioned above can be used);
- 3. A processing element or several that work together whose function is to interpret the real world information that the user re-

- ceives, generate the virtual information that each specific service needs and mix it in an appropriate way (computers, mobiles or videoconsoles);
- 4. A specific type of software to produce the program;
- 5. An augmented reality activator or markers that can be QR codes, physical objects, GPS ...; and
- 6. A content server where the virtual information that we want to incorporate into reality is located.

Finally, despite the great possibilities offered by this technology, as Fernández-Robles (2018) points out, we have some challenges to incorporate it into the teaching-learning process and, among them, we can find the following: the lack of teacher training, the lack of resources and objects of learning of AR, not enough centres that support professors in the production of learning objects of AR, and a lack of experiences with AR that could be used as support (Billinghurst y Düenser, 2012; Cabero y García, 2016). In addition, the AR needs contextualized studies in educational processes that allow research into its advantages and limitations; a technology whose functionality and practicality has been highlighted by different researchers (Prendes, 2015; Garay et al., 2017).

3.2. Scenario of the study

The immersive innovative experience is developed through a Seminar on Emerging Technologies carried out in the months of January and February in the academic year 2017-18 in the subject: "Information and Communication Technologies in Social Education", linked to the first year of the Degree in Social Education of the Faculty of Social Sciences of the Pablo de Olavide University, of Seville (Spain) with a load of 7.3 ECTS Credits (European Credit Transfer System). With regard studies program, the subject of "Information and Communication Technologies in Social Education" belongs to the area of Didactics and Educative Organization and is organized around several thematic blocks; in our case, corresponds to the fourth content core called: "Social / cross-cutting themes", in particular it belongs to the unit 9: "Augmented Reality in social training scenarios". The conceptual scheme of the subject can be found at the following link: <htp://bit.ly/2xwjh4x>. The immersive didactic experience was made through a Seminar of Emerging Technologies whose objective was the following educational intentions: 1) Knowing the new applications of AR in educational settings and their pedagogical possibilities in educational contexts. 2) Generating in the students, proactive attitudes towards the augmented technologies and 3) Develop in the student's competences of didactic use on AR applications presented in the training seminar.

The Seminar on Emerging Technologies was developed in three sessions of two hours where the students of both degrees (Double Degree in Social Work and Social Education) learned the concept of the AR, the levels of this technology, the possibilities and limitations of the AR in formative scenarios and the practical use of different applications of AR oriented to the socio-educational context, such as: Quiver, Zookazam, Chromville y Anatomy 4D. To do this, different tablets, paper printed markers (provided by the professor) and mobile phones of the students who downloaded the applications for the use of the AR were used. In Figure 1, students are shown using markers from the Zookazam app.



Figure 1. Students of the Pablo de Olavide University 2017-18 (Seville, Spain)

The training event aimed to achieve the following didactic intentions:

- To know on the part of the students, educational apps of AR to use them in formative socio-educational scenarios.
- Encourage students to develop cognitive and metacognitive skills in the collaborative construction of object designs implemented with emerging technologies.
- Develop in the students, competences of didactic use of the AR apps used in the classroom.

In addition, in the edublog of the subject (Figure 2), a tab was designed called: "Augmented and Virtual Reality", which offered educational materials on this subject and presented a collection of other educational apps, tutorials and news of interest (http://cort.as/x-F4).



Figure 2. Edublog of the subject: "ICT and Social Education"

At the end of the training seminar each student was asked to complete a questionnaire prepared ad hoc entitled: "Didactic use of the AR", in order to investigate which application used in the AR training seminar was the most motivating, analyze the preferred areas of social intervention for using these immersive technologies and expose the advantages and limitations of AR in the educational context. Its link is: <https://goo.gl/forms/STik3sI9KdPzZi773>.

Ultimately, each student had to develop a personal edublog for the subject on the evidence of the activities carried out, where one of the tabs should be named Augmented Reality and there they should answer these three questions: 1) What is Augmented Reality (AR)? Advantages and Disadvantages of the AR in the training scenarios. 2) Make a brief comment (max 300 words) about the preferred areas of social intervention (Children, adults, elderly, community care ...) where this emerging technology (AR) can be applied and 3) What application of Augmented Reality seen in the Seminar on Emerging Technologies (Zookazam, Anatomy 4D, Quiver and Chromville) did you like more? In Figure 3, two examples of the edublogs that belong to the students of the Degree in Social Education of the academic year 2017-18 are displayed.



Figure 3. Edublog of a student of the Degree in Social Education. Academic year 2017/18. URL: https://miblogdeticbeatrizrm.blogspot.com/p/realidad-aumentada.html>.

3.3. Methodological scenario

We approach an exploratory study whose main objective is to know the most motivating and useful educational apps of AR used in the Seminar of immersive technologies for the academic year 2017-18 in the Degree in Social Education.

For this analytical study, the contributions made by the student group were checked by analyzing the words or sets of meanings as units of record. Subsequently, the guidelines established by different authors were taken as a frame of reference (Bogdan & Biklen, 1992; Miles & Huberman, 1994; Monje 2011). Specifically, in a first stage the data was reduced by categorizing and coding the information obtained. The categorization involved simplifying and selecting the information to make it more manageable. For this we follow the following steps:

- Separation of units to identify significant segments of information on the reflections formulated on the concept of Mediation.
- Identification and classification of the units in order to group them conceptually in groups that shared the same topic with meaning.
- Synthesis and grouping of the different information units.

During coding, each textual unit was related to its category through a mixed procedure (inductive-deductive) to proceed subsequently to its frequency count and percentages count.

Ultimately, all categorized information units were analyzed to facilitate the stage of inference and interpretation of results presented below.

The participating sample consisted of: 56 students of the first year of the Degree in Social Education (Subject: "ICT and Social Education") of the academic year 2017-18.

The questionnaire "Didactic use of AR" was implemented (link: <https://goo.gl/forms/STik3sI9KdPzZi773>). The questionnaire design was based on the theoretical considerations made by Barroso and Gallego-Pérez (2017) and was checked by expert judgment in two rounds by means of a Delphi study. The main objective of the questionnaire was to obtain the opinion of the students according to descriptive aspects, such as the preferred areas of intervention, its advantages and limitations and the perceptions about the different AR apps used in the aforementioned Seminar on Immersive Technologies. In our study we analyze the appreciations and impressions of the 56 students related to the AR apps used in the university classrooms. For this we rely on clicker-based technologies (audience response systems), that is, tools that can be applied in the educational context as feed-back with the student, very useful for monitoring student learning (Caldwell, 2007) and there is evidence that clickers have positive effects on cognitive learning (Hunsu, Adesope & Bayly 2016).

3.4. Results of the immersive innovative experience

First, the response frequency of the 56 students on the most attractive and usable AR apps used in the subject's practices is compiled in Figure 4: "ICT and Social Education" in the Social Education Degree in the academic year 2017-18.



Figure 4. Frequencies of responses from the students of the Degree in Social Education, regarding the most motivating AR apps (2017-18).

Next, Figure 5 shows the perceptions of the 56 students about the AR apps used in the Seminar on Emerging Technologies corresponding to the Degree in Social Education in the academic year 2017-18.

As can be seen in the percentage analysis, the students of the Degree in Social Education (2017-18) reported that the most motivating AR apps used in the Seminar on Emerging Technologies were: Quiver with one (44%), followed by the app Zookazam (23%), Chromville (14%) and the least interesting Anatomy 4D (19%).



Figure 5. Percentage of the most significant AR apps of the Degree in Social Education for the 2017-18 academic year.

Finally, they showed that Quiver and Zookazam were the most attractive and motivating apps because they were very easy to use, usable, friendly and oriented to educational processes, while the other two were less usable and, in particular, Anatomy 4D was a very specialized and specific app for the field of health. But, all affirmed that these AR apps fostered cognitive abilities, spatial abilities and increased positive attitude and understanding in educational processes. In addition, they also reflected that these apps could offer friendly training scenarios for communication, the promotion of gamification in training scenarios and these could be very suitable and functional didactic resources for their professional future in social contexts.

3.5. Final reflexions

In the first place, it is found in agreement with other studies (Bressler & Bodzin, 2013, Cozar *et al.*, 2015, Cabero, Llorente, & Gutiérrez-Castillo, 2017) that this type of emerging technologies show that students have favorable attitudes towards them and their use favors the motivation towards learning. Besides, it also stimulates a proactive teaching environment (Fombona *et al.*, 2012) and favors a high level of student satisfaction (Han et al., 2015, Kim, Hwang, & Zo, 2016). Likewise, as stated in another research (Cabero, Vázquez-Cano, & López-Meneses, 2018), the use of AR has been useful in the construction of emerging competences on the use of ICT, the ability to work in teams, the discovery of new immersive didactic resources useful in the scenarios of Social Education and Social Work, unknown by the majority of students, which can help the development of new training processes from a constructivist and researching perspective. In this sense, we want to emphasize that the didactic activities based on the AR can be especially useful in pre-university and higher education studies related to the Humanities and Social Sciences areas, because these activities allow access to contents that are often presented in a more unidirectional way through printed paper that does not increase motivation or require a greater effort of abstraction among students. With this resource, the contents are visualized in a more creative, dynamic and real way, achieving a more attractive, innovative and motivating didactic at any educational level.

The analysis of the didactic experience of the application of the AR with university students allows us to assert as a first conclusion that the use of objects based on augmented technology in Higher Education, arouses real interest among students. This has also been corroborated by different studies that show high levels of satisfaction when students use this technology and the significant increase in levels of motivation when students are immersed in training actions with AR (Chin-Ming & Yen Nung, 2011; Neven, Hala, & Mohamed, 2011; Di Serio *et al.* 2013; Wojciechowski & Cellary, 2013; Cózar *et al.* 2015; Kim, Hwang & Zo, 2016;). In addition, the students have also commented at the Seminar on emerging technologies that its use is interesting and fun, in accordance with other studies (Teo & Noyes, 2011; Fernández-Robles, 2018)

Despite this increase in motivation among students, the application of the AR must also overcome certain limitations such as the possible dehumanization of methodological processes and the need for a relative economic investment that may cause an increase in the digital divide in society and in education.

Despite these limitations, it should be noted in line with Barroso, Cabero & Moreno-Fernández (2016), that their incorporation into teaching is easy, since almost all students have mobile devices and know how to download AR applications. On the other hand, as it is also extracted from the analysis of the results and confirming the study carried out by Barroso & Gallego-Pérez (2017), it is interesting to see how, in their opinion, a technology like the AR can be used by themselves in their future professional development. In addition, the immersive innovating experience has been useful in the construction of emerging competences on ICT use, ability to work in teams, the discovery of new immersive didactic resources useful in the scenarios of Social Education and Social Work which were unknown by most of the students, which can help the development of new training processes from a constructivist perspective.

Likewise, as it was indicated in 2015 by Cabero, Ballesteros, & López-Meneses, we must state that in view of the current technological, social and communicative framework, Universities should adapt training processes (as the vast majority of them do) attending, among other aspects, to the current characteristics and needs of the students, allowing the easy incorporation of flexible and open scenarios for training and learning that help transform traditional communication models (characterized by the passivity of students) by others in which they can actively participate in the construction of knowledge and where they are aware of their own training process in the acquisition of skills and abilities. We speak, in short, about a new drawing for the university institution, the University 2.0 (Cabero & Marín, 2011).

Ultimately, in accordance with Fernández-Robles (2018), augmented reality can be presented as a technology with real usefulness for university education, since it allows working with active and constructivist methodologies, it offers the possibility to visualize the object from different perspectives, allows the easy acquisition of difficult-to-access knowledge, enables the presentation of simulated scenarios, and enriches the printed material.

Acknowledgment

This work is in the research project called "Augmented Reality to Increase the Training, Design, Production and Evaluation of Augmented Reality Programs for University Education" (RAFODIUN) (EDU2014-57446-P). Besides, we thank the students of the subjects of Information Technology and Communication in Social Education, for the support offered in the innovative experience.

References

- Billinghurst, M. & Dünser, A. (2012). Augmented reality in the class-room, *Computer*, 45 (7), 56-63.
- Bogdan, R. & Biklen, S. K. (1992). *Investigación cualitativa de la educación*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Bressler, D. M. & Bodzin, A. M. (2013). A mixed methods assessment of students'flow experiences during a mobile augmented reality science game. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 29 (6), 505-517.
- Cabero, J. & Barroso, J. (2016). The educational possibilities of Augmented Reality, *NAER*. *New Approaches in Educational Research*, 5 (1), 44-50.
- (2018). Los escenarios tecnológicos en realidad aumentada (RA): posibilidades educativas en estudios universitarios, *Aula Abierta*, 47 (3), 327-336.
- Cabero, J. & García, F. (coords.). (2016). *Realidad aumentada. Tecnología para la formación*. Madrid: Síntesis.
- Cabero, J., Leiva, J., Moreno, N., Barroso, J., & López, E. (2016). Realidad aumentada y educación. Innovación en contextos formativos. Barcelona: Octaedro.
- Cabero, J., M. C. Llorente, & Gutiérrez-Castillo, J. (2017). Evaluación por y desde los usuarios: objetos de aprendizaje con realidad aumentada, *RED. Revista de Educación a Distancia*, 53, 1-17.
- Cabero, J., Vázquez-Cano, E., & López-Meneses, E. (2018). Uso de la realidad aumentada como recurso didáctico en la enseñanza universitaria, *Formación Universitaria*, 11 (1), 25-34.
- Cope, B. & Kalantzis, M. (2010). *Ubiquitous Learning*. Chicago: University of Illinois Press.
- Cozar, R., De Moya, M., Hernández, J., & Hernández, J. (2015). Tecnologías emergentes para la enseñanza de las Ciencias Sociales. Una experiencia con el uso de realidad aumentada en la formación inicial de maestros, *Digital Education Review*, 27, 138-153.
- Fernández-Robles, B. (2018). La utilización de objetos de aprendizaje de realidad aumentada en la enseñanza universitaria de educación primaria, *International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation (IJERI)*, 9, 90-104.
- Fombona, J. & Vázquez-Cano, E. (2017). Posibilidades de utilización de la geolocalización y realidad aumentada en el ámbito educativo, *Educación XX1*, 20 (2), 319-349.
- Fombona, J., Pascual, M. J., & Madeira, M. F. (2012). Realidad aumentada, una evolución de las aplicaciones de los dispositivos móviles, *Píxel-Bit. Revista de Medios y Educación*, 41, 197-210.

- Han, J., Jo, M., Hyun, E., & So, H. (2015). Examining young children's perception toward augmented reality-infused dramatic play, *Education Technology Research Development*, 63, 455-474.
- Kim. K., Hwang, J., & Zo, H. (2016). Understanding users' continuance intention toward smartphone augmented reality applications, *Information Development*, 32 (2), 161-174.
- Kipper, G. & Rampolla, J. (2012). Augmented reality. Amsterdam: Syngress.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. (1994). Qualitative Data Analysis: An Expanded Sourcebook. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Monje, C.A. (2011). *Metodología de la investigación cuantitativa y cualitativa. Guía didáctica*. Nieva: Universidad Surcolombiana. Facultad de Ciencias Sociales y Humanas. Programa de Comunicación Social y Periodismo.
- Moreno-Martínez, N., & Leiva-Olivencia, J. J. (2017). Experiencias formativas de uso didáctico de la realidad aumentada con alumnado del Grado de Educación Primaria en la Universidad de Málaga, *Revista de Educación Mediática y TIC (Edmetic)*, 6 (1), 81-104.
- Teo, T. & Noyes, J. (2011). An assessment of the influence of perceived enjoyment and attitude on the intention to use technology among pre-service teachers: A structural equation modeling approach, *Computers & Education*, 57 (2), 1645-1653.

4

The Primary Education Teacher about ICT and Special Educational Needs. A Study in the Spanish Context

José M. Fernández Batanero

batanero@us.es Orcid: 0000-0003-4097-5382 University of Seville

Abstract

One of the main challenges of international organizations, specialized in educational issues, is the measurement and diagnostic of teachers' digital competences, both in primary and secondary education. Within this context, and with the aim of looking at one of these theoretical premises, this study aimed to identify the degree of training and technological knowledge of primary school teachers in Spain with respect to the use of ICT with individuals with disabilities (functional diversity). A descriptive ex post-facto research method was used, where the sample comprised 777 teachers. An ad-hoc guestionnaire was used as the data-collection instrument. The results revealed the low skill levels of the teachers with respect to the use of ICT with students with disabilities, where the level of training of the teaching staff was determined by personal (gender, age), professional (teaching experience) or educational (qualifications) variables. Among the conclusions, we highlight that teachers highly believe that ICT are useful resources for the training of people with disabilities. However, their technical management and educational use of the ICT, computers and the Internet had an effect on the knowledge they mentioned having on the use of the ICT with individuals with disabilities. This knowledge was not sufficient, according to the teaching staff. Also, the female teachers were perceived as having more knowledge than the male teachers.

Keywords: information and communication technologies, disability, educational inclusion, accessibility

4.1. Introduction

The work was financed by the Spanish Ministry of Economics and Competitiveness within the State Plan for the Fomenting of Scientific and Technical Research of Excellence 2013-2016 (DIFOTI-CYD EDU2016 75232-P).

According to the Education at a Glance 2015 report, information and communication technologies (ICT) are an important component of economic growth in all OECD countries. Given the need of today's young people to competently use these technologies as students, as job applicants or workers, as consumers and as responsible citizens, those who do not have access to them or lack experience in their use find more and more difficult to take part fully in economic, social and civic life. However, the basic skills in ICT cannot add value unless they are accompanied by cognitive and other skills, such as those related to communication, creativity, teamwork and perseverance.

The teaching practices that teachers follow can play an important role in the degree of student learning.

One of the main challenges of international organizations, specialized in educational issues, is the measurement and diagnostic of teachers' digital competences, both in primary and secondary education. Along these lines, there have been many investigations and reports, both national and international, that have achieved to define different standards and the development of digital competence indicators. These studies have served as a reference and have encouraged the creation of other studies focused on the systematization of digital competence in an increasingly diverse society. This diversity can generate contexts of inequality if the formation of those that should favour the inclusion is not adequate.

Information and communication technologies (ICT) are an important component of economic growth in all OECD countries. Given the need of today's young people to competently use these technologies as students, as job applicants or workers, as consumers and as responsible citizens, those who do not have access to them or lack experience in their use find more and more difficult to take part fully in economic, social and civic life. However, the basic skills in ITC cannot add value unless they are accompanied by cognitive and other skills, such as those related to communication, creativity, teamwork and perseverance.

Thus, the educational discourse on information and communication technologies (ICT) is deeply rooted on the premise that these are tools that favor the development, inclusion and participation of collectives that have been traditionally excluded.

The ICT facilitate the easy and comfortable access to all types of information; favor the student's autonomy, through their adaptation to the student's needs and demands; contribute to synchronous and asynchronous communication of these students and their peers and teachers; help with adaptation to the environment thanks to the activities that can be conducted; save time for the acquisition of abilities and skills: favor the diagnostics of the student; back a multisensorial model of communication and training; promotes individualized training that favors the student's progress at his or her own pace, which is highly important for these subjects; favors the development of autonomy and independence: prevents margination; the digital divide, which leads to one being unable of using the instruments of development from the society of knowledge; eases the socio-occupational integration of the students who have specific difficulties; provides moments of leisure; saves time for the acquisition of abilities and skills; the exercises that the students must do can be executed and repeated with minimum efforts so that the students acquire the competences, attitudes and capabilities; favors bridging the gap between these individuals and people in the scientific and cultural worlds; or they can be excellent stimulators (Toledo, 2013).

Authors such as Luque & Rodríguez (2009) mention that among the future actions needed for an adequate implementation of the ICT, we find the integration of the technology in the classroom for students with disabilities and the development of research on the methodology and the didactics for the application of the ICT with these students. In the studies that relate the ICT with its possibilities for students with special education needs due to disability, the potential of the ICT for contributing to a better quality of life of students with functional diversity, is made evident (Altinay & Altinay, 2015; Turner-Cmuchal & Aitken, 2016; Vladimirovna & Sergeevna, 2015; Alper & Goggin, 2017; Hollier, 2017).

In this context, the teachers have to be trained with a set of knowledge and skills that allow them, on the one hand, to understand and master different technological resources, and on the other, to achieve their integration in their didactic practice in the classroom. This implies the necessity of possessing a series of competences that will allow for the implementation of the ICT in the process of teaching-learning (Almerich, Suarez, Orellana, & Díaz 2010).

Within the context in Spain in the last few years, research works have been developed that are related to the initial training of the teachers, and their technological competence and disability (Morales & Llorente Cejudo, 1916; Cabero, Fernández Batanero, & Barroso, 2016). That said, with respect to the active teachers, it should be first pointed out that there is a strong marginality of the works that address the problem of training on the ICT and the competences that these teachers need in their daily practice to be able to use them with disabled individuals. On the other hand, the research conducted evidence the lack of training and knowledge these teachers have with respect to the different types of technologies that could be used. (Roig, Ferrández, Rodríguez-Cano, & Crespo, 2012; Suriá, Martínez & Ordoñez, 2014; Tello & Cascales, 2015). This aspect negatively impacts the use of the ICT, thereby preventing the accessibility of information and the promoting of the individual's capacities, which in the case of individuals with disabilities, could help alleviate their difficulties and in some cases, reduce their limitations to a minimum (Homero, Tejedor, & Calvo, 2017).

4.2. Methodology

To reach these goals, an exploratory study was conducted in the second trimester of 2017. The study of the design was post-facto descriptive, with an accidental non-probabilistic sample. The objectives of the study were: to learn, through the use of a questionnaire, the degree of technological training and knowledge that Primary School teachers have with respect to the use of the ICT for individuals with different types of disabilities. Analyze if this degree of technological training and knowledge is determined by variables such as gender, age, years of teaching experience, education degree, and specialty studied in their initial teacher's training.

The study sample was comprised by 777 teachers from primary schools from the 17 Autonomous Communities in Spain, with most of these centers being public (f=588, 75.68%), followed by subsidized schools (f=141, 18.15%) and 48 private schools (6.18%). Of these 777 teachers, 216 (27.80%) were men and 561 (72.20%) women. 25.48% (f=198) were less than 30 years old, 27.84% (f=294) were aged between 31 and 40, 30.89% (f=240) were aged between 41 and 55, and 5.79% (f=45) were older than 55 years of age. A little over 35% (35.14%, f=275) had between 1 and 5 years of teaching experience, followed by 18.15% (f=141) who had between 16 and 25% years of experience.

Most of these teachers (43.24%, f=336) were career civil servants, followed by 19.31% (f=150) who were interim staff, with the least number of teachers being substitute teacher (2.70%, f=33).

4.3. Data collection instrument

For data collection, an "ad hoc" questionnaire was utilized, comprised by 53 items with a Likert-type scale with six answer options, which collected information on the following dimensions: general perception of the use of the ICT with people with functional diversity (10 items), ICT for people with visual disability (9 items), ICT for people with hearing disability (9 items), ICT for people with motor disability (7 items), ICT for people with cognitive disability (8 items), and accessibility (7 items).

Table 1 shows the values of Cronbach's alpha obtained, for the instrument overall as well as its different dimensions

Dimension	Cronbach's Alpha
Total scale	0.993
General aspects scale	0.967
Visual deficiency scale	0.986
Hearing deficiency scale	0.983
Movement deficiency scale	0.982
Cognitive deficiency scale	0.979
Accesibility scale	0.967

Table 1. Cronbach's alpha values

The values could be considered "very high", and thus indicate high levels of reliability of the scale and the dimensions that comprise it (O'Dwyer & Bernauer, 2014).

The questionnaire was administered online, and can be viewed at <https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSfux-6m1cU6Nf-69eiiMS28LjcSom38yqe2OmS-Jy4mXAgJVnA/ viewform>.

4.4. Results

The data shows that the mean score reached for the instrument overall was 3.26, with a standard deviation of 1.28. This score could indicate that the teachers in the sample considered themselves to be experienced in the use of the ICT with students with functional diversity. This training was better in the "general" perspective (3.70) and in the use with subjects with cognitive (3.45), motor (3.29), and hearing (3.02); on the other hand, the lowest scores were obtained by the knowledge the teachers indicated as having with respect to accessibility (2.85) and the use of technologies with people with "visual" deficits (3.02).

The teachers were asked to score themselves from 0 to 10 on the knowledge they thought to have with respect to the technical and educational management of the audiovisual, computer and internet media; the results are shown in table 2.

	Mean	Std. Dev.
How do you rate your training on the technical management of au- diovisual and computer technologies?	6.58	1.92
How do you rate your training for the educational use of audiovisual and computer technologies?	6.44	1.87
How do you rate your training on the technical use of the Internet?	7.05	1.90
How do you rate your training for the educational use of the Internet?	6.84	2.00

Table 2. Assessment of the teachers with respect to their knowledge on the technical and educational management of the different ICT

The results indicated that the teachers seemed to have certain knowledge on the use of the ICT, although their use of the Internet was greater than the audiovisual or computer resources and higher in the technical use as compared to the educational use.

One of the objectives of the present research study was to understand if there was a relationship between the level of training/ knowledge of the teachers on the use of the ICT with students with diverse disabilities, and the teacher's own perspective on their training on the technical management and for the educational use of the audiovisual, computer and internet technologies. Pearson's correlation coefficient was used, with the scores shown in table 3.

Table 3. Correlations between the technical and educational domains of the audiovisual, computer and internet media and their mastery for the educational use of the ICT with students with functional disabilities (* $p \le .05 - ** p \le .01$). T.M. AV-Co (Technical mastery audiovisual-computer); E.M. AV-Co (Educational mastery audiovisual-computer); T.M. Int (Technical mastery Internet); E.M. Int (Educational mastery Internet)

		T.M. AV-Co	E.M. AV-Co	T.M. Int	E.M. Int
General	Pearson's Correlation	.106**	.149**	.192**	.209**
	Sig.(bilateral)	0.003	0.000	0.000	0.000
Visual	Pearson's Correlation	0.036	.080*	.099**	.111**
	Sig.(bilateral)	0.314	0.026	0.006	0.002
Hearing	Pearson's Correlation	.090*	.130**	.140**	.156**
	Sig.(bilateral)	0.012	0.000	0.000	0.000
Motor	Pearson's Correlation	.072*	.088*	.111**	.101**
	Sig.(bilateral)	0.044	0.015	0.002	0.005
Cognitive	Pearson's Correlation	.084*	.097**	.140**	.152**
	Sig.(bilateral)	0.019	0.007	0.000	0.000
Accessibility	Pearson's Correlation	0.053	.088*	.134"	.123**
	Sig.(bilateral)	0.144	0.014	0.000	0.001
Total	Pearson's Correlation	.079*	.115**	.148**	.156**
	Sig.(bilateral)	0.027	0.001	0.000	0,000

The results were split three ways: in first place, there were primarily significant relationships between the technical and educational mastery of the audiovisual, computer and internet media, and the mastery the teachers point to having on the use of the ICT with students with functional diversity, in general as well as for different types; in second place, the correlations are positive, so that when a variable increases, the other does as well in the same direction; and in third place, and in agreement with Mateo (2004), these correlations are very low.

As for the existence of significant relationships between the knowledge mentioned by the different teachers on the different dimensions that were asked about in the questionnaire (general, visual, hearing...etc.) a new Pearson's correlation coefficient was used, with the values shown in table 4.

Table	4.	Correlations	between	the	different	dimensions	in	the	questionnaire.
(**p≤	.01)).							

Dimensions compared	Correlation
General-Visual	.738**
General-Hearing	.775**
General-Motor	.744**
General-Cognitive	.770**
General-Accessibility	.676**
Visual-Hearing	.814**
Visual-Motor	.804**
Visual-Cognitive	.742**
Visual-Accessibility	.773**
Hearing-Motor	.865**
Hearing-Cognitive	.832**
Hearing -Accessibility	.753**
Motor-Cognitive	.837**
Motor-Accessibility	.774**
Cognitive-Accessibility	.728**

In this case, the results showed that all the correlations were positive and significant to ** $p \le .001$, and very high. In other terms, the teachers who indicated being trained in one of the dimensions were also trained in the others.

With the objective of delving into the possible relationships between training in the dimensions examined in the questionnaire, the following hypotheses were formulated:

- ▶ Null hypothesis (H0): There are no significant differences with an alpha risk of rejecting the hypothesis of 0.05, or less between the different dimensions compared.
- Alternative hypothesis (H1): There are significant differences with an alpha risk rejecting the hypothesis of 0.05 or less between the dimensions compared.

For this, the Student's t-test was used. The resulting values, for 776 degrees of freedom, are presented in table 5.

Dimensions compared	t
General-Visual	19.529**
General-Hearing	14.617**
General-Motor	10.846**
General-Cognitive	6.855**
General-Accessibility	21.973**
Visual-Hearing	-5.766**
Visual-Motor	-8.164**
Visual-Cognitive	-11.349**
Visual-Accessibility	5.028**
Hearing-Motor	-3.170**
Hearing-Cognitive	-7.952**
Hearing - Accessibility	9.683**
Motor-Cognitive	-5.093**
Motor-Accessibility	12.375**
Cognitive- Accessibility	15.380**

Table 5. Student's t-test values between the different dimensions examined in the questionnaire. (** $p \le .01$)

The resulting values led to the rejection of all the H0, so that it could be concluded that there were statistically-significantly differences as well as an alpha risk of rejecting the H0 of $p \le .001$, with respect to the knowledge shown by the teachers on the different types of knowledge on the use of the ICT with individuals with different types of functional diversity.

Another of the hypothesis referred to the existence of differences in the knowledge as a function of the gender of the 216 male teachers and the 561 female ones, with the means shown in table 6.

	Gender	Mean
General	Male	3.6000
	Female	3.7326
Visual	Male	2.8356
	Female	3.0914
Hearing	Male	2.8920
	Female	3.3244
Motor	Male	3.2560
	Female	3.3086
Cognitive	Male	3.1337
	Female	3.5782
Accessibility	Male	2.8869
	Female	2.8304
Total	Male	3.0967
	Female	3.3196

Table 6. Values reached as a function of the teacher's gender

As shown in the mean values, they tended to be higher for the women than for the men, except for the dimension "accessibility".

In order to analyze if the differences found were significant from a statistical point of view, a Student's t-test was used for independent samples, although before this, a Levene's test was used to analyze the equality of the variances (homoscedasticity), and as a function of the significance value obtained, to determine the t-value that should be used. Table 8 shows the values obtained and the degree of significance in order to accept or reject the H0, which referred to the non-existence of significant differences.

		Levene	's test			
	F	Sig.	t	Df	Sig.	
General	Equal variances are assumed	1.582	.209	-1.447	775	.148
	Equal variances are not assumed			-1.500	420.348	.134
Visual	Equal variances are assumed	20.998	.000	-2.253	775	.025
	Equal variances are not assumed			-2.459	472.723	.014**
Hearing	Equal variances are assumed	8.248	.004	-3.667	775	.000
	Equal variances are not assumed			-3.898	444.653	.000**
Motor	Equal variances are assumed	3.106	.078	426	775	.670
	Equal variances are not assumed			441	420.314	.659
Cognitive	Equal variances are assumed	.618	.432	-3.641	775	.000
	Equal variances are not assumed			-3.702	403.679	.000**
Accessibility	Equal variances are assumed	6.028	.014	.488	775	.626
	Equal variances are not assumed			.519	445.475	.604
Total	Equal variances are assumed	7.550	.006	-2.181	775	.029**
	Equal variances are not assumed			-2.326	447.749	.020

Table 7. Differences as a function of gender of the teachers. (** $p \le .01$)

The results did not lead to the rejection of the H0 that referred to the non-existence of statistically-significant differences to $p \le .05$ or less in the following dimensions: general knowledge, application of the ICT for people with motor deficit and accessibility. On the other hand, there were significant differences in the following dimensions: visual, hearing and cognitive. It should be mentioned that the H0 was also rejected in the scores found for the instrument overall. In every case, the female teachers had greater knowledge than the men on the useof the ICT with people with functional diversity.

To analyze if there were statistically-significant differences as a function of the teacher's ages, an ANOVA was used (table 8).

		Sum of squares	Df	Quadratic mean	F	Sig.
General	Among groups	66.650	3	22.217	18.059	.000**
	Within groups	950.966	773	1.230		
	Total	1017.616	776			
Visual	Among groups	84.361	3	28.120	14.656	.000**
	Within groups	1483.091	773	1.919		
	Total	1567.452	776			
Hearing	Among groups	146.115	3	48.705	24.070	.000**
	Within groups	1564.151	773	2.023		
	Total	1710.266	776			
Motor	Among groups	144.282	3	48.094	21.786	.000**
	Within groups	1706.419	773	2.208		
	Total	1850.702	776			
Cognitive	Among groups	148.903	3	49.634	22.790	.000**
	Within groups	1683.529	773	2.178		
	Total	1832.432	776			
Accessibility	Among groups	47.184	3	15.728	7.732	.000**
	Within groups	1572.476	773	2.034		
	Total	1619.661	776			
Total	Among groups	94.008	3	31.336	20.591	.000**
	Within groups	1176.355	773	1.522		
	Total	1270.362	776			

Table	8. ANOVA	as a	function	of the	teacher'	s ages l	(** p≤ .0)1)
-------	----------	------	----------	--------	----------	----------	-----------	-----

The results allowed for the rejection of all the H0 formulated that referred to the non-existence of significant differences as a function of the teacher's age, to significance level of $p \le .01$, with respect to the knowledge the teachers mentioned having on the application of the ICT for individuals with functional diversity. These differences were found in their general knowledge, as well as the one possessed by the different types of diversity.

In order to understand if there were differences between the different age groups, a "Post-Hoc" ANOVA analysis was applied
for multiple comparisons (Miller, 1997) (Table 9). It should be noted, that to not over-explain on the results, and as they were very similar, only the data collected when the test was applied to the entire instrument are shown.

Table	9.	Post-test	of	multiple	comparisons	for	the	differences	obtained	as	а
functi	on	of age									

Age	Age	Differences in means	Standard error	Sig
Younger than 30	Between 31 and 40	.44349	.11341	.000**
	Between 41 and 55	.72222	.11843	.000**
	Older than 55	1.34934	.20372	.000**
Between 31 and 40	Younger than 30	44349	.11341	.000**
	Between 41 and 55	.27873	.10732	.010**
	Older than 55	.90585	.19747	.000**
Between 41 and 55	Younger than 30	72222	.11843	.000**
	Between 31 and 40	27873	.10732	.010**
	Older than 55	.62712	.20040	.002**
Older than 55	Younger than 30	-1.34934	.20372	.000**
	Between 31 and 40	90585	.19747	.000**
	Between 41 and 55	62712	.20040	.002**

As it can be observed, differences were fundamentally shown between the younger professors with respect to the older ones. Thus, it could be said that the 10-year cutoff used was enough for establishing differences in the knowledge the teachers indicated as having on the application of the ICT with individuals with functional diversity.

4.5. Conclusions

The conclusions derived from the data presented, in relation to the objectives proposed, reveal interesting aspects such as:

- ➤ The teachers highly believe that ICT are useful resources for the training of people with disabilities. However, their technical management and educational use of the ICT, computers and the Internet had an effect on the knowledge they mentioned having on the use of the ICT with individuals with disabilities. This knowledge was not sufficient, according to the teaching staff.
- The low level of training indicated was on the general overview as well as the specific application to individuals with disabilities: Visual, Hearing, Motor and Cognitive, as well as to accessible design and accessibility. These low scores are the result of the little training received.
- The female teachers were perceived as having more knowledge than the male teachers.
- The age of the teachers and the years of experience had an effect on the level of knowledge on the use of the ICT with people with disabilities. In this sense, in both cases the younger teachers mentioned having more knowledge. This could be due to these younger students having finished their studies very recently, which coincided with the recent addition of training on the use of the ICT with people with disabilities in the curriculum. This interest could have been fed by the recent appearance of manuals on the ICT and disabilities in different universities in Spain, in Masters' degree in special education, etc.

As for the limitations of this research work, three can be highlighted only information on the teaching staff was collected, and it would be important to collect information on the educational center's directors as well.

References

- Almerich, G., Suárez, J. M., Orellana, N., & Díaz, M.I. (2010). Relationship between the integration of information and communication technologies and knowledge of them, *Revista de Investigación Educati*va, 28 (1),31-50.
- Alper, M. & Goggin, G. (2017). Digital technology and rights in the lives of children with disabilities, *New Media & Society*. Avalailable at http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/146144816686323>.

- Altinay A. & Altinay, Z. (2015). Examination on ICT integration into Special Education Schools for Developing Countries, TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology, 14 (3), 70-72.
- Cabero, J., Fernández Batanero, J. M. & Barroso, O. (2016). Students of the Teaching degree: ICT and disability, *Revista Electrónica de Investigación Educativa*, 18 (3), 106-120. Avalailable at http://redie.uabc.mx/redie/article/view/965>.
- Cabero, J., Fernández Batanero, J. M. & Córdoba, M. (2016). Knowledge of the ICT applied to individuals with disabilities. Construction of a diagnostics instrument, *Magis, Revista Internacional de Investigación en Educación*, 8, 17, 157-176. doi: 10.11144/Javeriana.m8-17.ctap.
- Hollier, S. (2017). *Technology, education and access: A 'fair go' for people with disabilities*. 14th International Web for All Conference, W4A.
- Homero, G., Tejedor, F. J., & Calvo, M. I. (2017). Meta-analysis on the effect of education software on students with special education needs, *Revista de Investigación Educativa*, 35 (1), 35-52.
- Luque, D. & Rodríguez, G. (2009). Information and Communication Technology used with disabled students: a teaching approach, *Revista Iberoamericana de Educación*, 49 (3), 1-8.
- Mateo, J. (2004). Ex post-facto research. In Rafael Bisquerra-Alzina (coord.), Metodología de la investigación educativa. Madrid: La Muralla, (195-230).
- Morales, P. T. & Llorente Cejudo, M. C. (2016). Initial training of the teaching staff on the use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) for the education of the disabled, *Digital Education Review*, 30, 123-134.
- O'Dwyer, L. & Bernauer, J. (2014). *Quantitative Research for the Qualitative Researcher*. California: Sage.
- Roig, R.; Ferrández, S.; Rodríguez-Cano, C., & Crespo, M. (2012). The use of the ICT in the Special Education Classroom: teacher's perception. In Navarro, J., Fernández, M. T., Soto, F. J., & Tortosa, F. (coords.), *Flexible responses in diverse educational contexts*. Murcia: Consejería de Educación, Formación y Empleo. Avalailable at <http://diversidad. murciaeduca.es/publicaciones/dea2012/docs/ rroig.pdf>.
- Suriá, R., Martínez, D., & Ordoñez, T. (2014). ICT, teaching and disability: do teachers feel prepare to support disabled students in the use of the ICT in the classrooms? In Arnaiz, P., Hurtado, M. D., & Soto, F. J. (coords.) 25 Años de integración escolar en España: tecnología e inclusión en el ámbito educativo, laboral y comunitario. Murcia: Consejería de Educación, Formación y Empleo.

- Tello, I. & Cascales, A. (2015). The ICT and specific needs of educational support: analysis of the teacher's ICT competences, *RIED*, 18 (2), 355-383.
- Toledo, P. (2013). The technologies of information, communication and inclusive education. In *Nuevos escenarios digitales. las tecnologías de la información y la comunicación aplicadas a la formación y desarrollo curricular*. Madrid: Pirámide, pp. 411-427.
- Turner-Cmuchal, M. & Aitken, S. (2016). ICT as a tool for supporting inclusive learning opportunities, *Perspectivas Internacionales sobre la Educación Inclusiva*, 8, 159-180.
- Vladimirovna, S. & Sergeevna, O. (2015). Features of the Information and Communication Technology Application by the Subjects of Special Education, *International Education Studies*, 8 (6). Available at http://10.5539/ies.v8n6p162>.

5

Making an Argument in the Arts: Using Genre Analysis to Inform Embedded Academic Writing Support in a UK Arts University

Steven White

swhite@aub.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-2296-7082 Arts University Bournemouth

MATT NICHOLLS

mnicholls@aub.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-2059-9757 Arts University Bournemouth

Abstract

Students entering art and design courses in UK higher education come from a range of educational and cultural backgrounds. These students frequently report finding academic writing challenging. Expectations as to the nature of description, analysis and criticality can also differ across subject areas. As a result, students need support in developing their ability to communicate appropriately within their disciplines - their academic literacies. This study applies genre analysis to identify ways in which students express critical thinking in undergraduate Visual Effects Design and Production essays. The findings highlight common ways of linking ideas through exemplification, drawing conclusions from grounds, and challenging the validity of assumptions. Ways of expressing the strength of claims and indicating the writer's attitude are also frequently used in the sample. The findings are then integrated into a practical model for impromptu teaching of writing by subject lecturers. The article confirms understandings of the way students express criticality in essays, and aligns insights from genre analysis and academic literacies in a novel way. The outcome is a proposal for a practical, low-preparation approach to teaching academic writing within the disciplines.Keywords: blended learning, active methodologies, students' participation, learning community, teaching-learning processes.

Keywords: genre analysis, criticality, academic writing, academic literacies, embedded

5.1. Introduction

This chapter describes the attempt to improve academic writing support on the Visual Effects for Film and Television (VFX) undergraduate degree course at a UK arts university. The study is based on systematic analysis of student written assignment texts and teacher feedback produced within the particular discipline.

Though students at the university are required to produce written work for assessment, students enrolled in arts subjects commonly struggle with expressing themselves in writing. As such, a clear need exists for support which equips students with the knowledge and skills they need to produce written assignments. The research project attempts to apply an 'embedded' approach to supporting academic writing in the novel context of an arts university.

The first section explores how understandings of academic writing and communication have developed in UK higher education. This development moves from initial conceptions of discrete skills, to more nuanced concepts of academic literacies within discourse communities. Within these discourse communities, distinct genres of writing are identified which reveal particular communicative purposes and language structures.

Diverse students, diverse support needs

Student populations at UK universities are diverse in terms in of their prior educational experiences and nationalities. At the same time, most courses rely on written assignments as an important aspect of student assessment. As a result, dealing with this diverse student body "poses a great challenge to universities to ensure progression of students from different educational backgrounds and abilities" (Wingate, 2006, p. 457). In this context, innovative approaches to supporting students in developing their writing ability are required. This is especially the case among students in arts and design courses who often resist writing as "they find it constraining and difficult" (Borg, 2012, p. 5). Moving from teaching generic study skills to developing academic literacies

The UK university system typically requires students to specialize in a particular subject area at an early stage in their studies. Subject lecturers often have limited time, resources or expertise to focus specifically on supporting student writing in addition to developing core knowledge and skills of their discipline. Conventional institutional responses to this were to establish generic, extra-curricular support services, separate from subject departments which aimed to help students develop their 'study skills'. However, simplistic approaches to teaching discrete skills of 'academic writing' or 'academic reading' to students across a range of disciplines were quickly found to be inadequate, as these skills are both linked with one another and embedded within their contexts of use (Maldoni, 2017). As a result, more nuanced understandings of 'academic literacies' developed which embody "the ability to communicate competently in an academic discourse community" (Wingate, 2015, p. 6).

Applying academic literacies insights via genre approaches

The academic literacies approach is sensitive to the ways particular discourse communities develop norms of communication as social practices, with common understandings of how knowledge can be constructed and shared (Lillis, 2006:33). The practices of particular discourse communities are revealed, for example, in the distinct expectations for forms of analysis required in subjects as seemingly similar as History and English Literature (Chanock, 2000). However, researchers have claimed that the academic literacies perspective has limited utility in teaching students the practice of writing, so have attempted to use it alongside the more text-focused aspects of genre awareness (Wingate & Tribble, 2011). Genre is "both a social and a cognitive concept" (Hyland, 2008) which represents the way texts can be categorized or grouped according to how their writers use, and how their readers understand language. Genre analysis of texts focuses on the aims of the writer (their communicative purpose), how texts are structured and how language is used to achieve that purpose. In order to usefully apply this genre approach, therefore, it is necessary to look at the particular forms of writing used in a particular setting.

Analysis, argument and criticality in academic essays

For students in UK universities, including those on arts courses, the dominant form of written assessment is the "argumentative essay" (Hewings, 2010). In such essays, student writers are expected to "argue for a particular position in relation to a given question or proposition" (Moore & Morton, 2005, p. 74). In order to construct a successful argument, writers must demonstrate "a critical stance through the text" (Bruce, 2016, p. 14). For these reasons, this research project focuses on ways students demonstrate critical thinking in their essay writing.

It is difficult, however, to capture the meaning of the term 'critical thinking' in a single definition. In common with studies in genre analysis and academic literacies, research published in the broader higher education literature has shown that ways of thinking and creating knowledge differ across disciplines. Almost twenty years ago Chanock (2000) demonstrated that the idea of 'analvsis' can be interpreted differently by both students and teachers in different subject areas. In Chanock's study, tutor feedback on work deemed insufficiently critical frequently noted that there was "too much description and not enough analysis" (p.95). However, students frequently found it difficult to understand and act upon this kind of feedback, because teacher understandings and expectations regarding the nature of 'analysis' in their respective disciplines were not clearly defined or explained. Chanock's study calls for teachers to directly demonstrate a range of models of successful analysis in the various contexts relevant to their subject areas.

Similarly, Moore (2013, p. 506) surveyed HE tutors in Humanities and found seven "definitional strands" of critical thinking. Moore argues that because understandings of criticality are "multiple" and "contested", teachers must discuss and encourage engagement with particular uses of critical thinking "within quite specific study contexts" (2013, p. 520). This suggests that commonly used generic models of argumentation such as Toulmin's (2003) three-part identification of *grounds, claims* and *warrants* may not be sufficient in helping students across disciplines to understand the different requirements of writing tasks (Nesi and Gardner, 2012). Indeed, Nesi & Gardner's findings on argumentation align with Chanock's view on analysis (stated previously) in that the way argument is used differs across subject areas.

'Signalling' analysis and argument in writing

It is clear, then, that criticality is expressed in multiple ways in university writing. One way to deal with this diversity is to focus on how key aspects of analysis and argument are linked together and "signalled" in writing (Bruce, 2016, p. 15). Bruce attempts to bring together diverse ways of looking at criticality through a "holistic, multiple-variable examination of expression of critical thinking" (2016 p. 16), using his *social genre/cognitive genre* model (Bruce, 2008). The social element of the model focuses on how the overall purpose of a text is realized within a discourse community. The cognitive element explores how a writer's rhetorical aims are realized through particular stretches of texts and the way they are organized or linked together. Taken together, these elements of the model can help reveal how a writer's "critical stance" can be demonstrated (Bruce 2016 p.15).

Using insights from genre analysis to inform teaching of writing

Teaching students how to identify and ultimately express this critical stance is, then, the next challenge in supporting student essay writing within particular disciplines. Borrowing insights from Systemic Functional Linguistics, genre approaches often use Feez's (1998, in Hyland, 2008, p.558) 'teaching-learning cycle' as a basis for planning writing sessions for students. This approach scaffolds students' attempts to produce written texts through a "a series of linked stages which support learners towards understanding texts" (Hyland, 2008). The stages gradually extend the demands required of students in their writing, progressing through the following steps (Feez, 1998; in Hyland, 2008, pp. 558-559):

- 1. Setting context identify the purposes and setting of the written genre
- 2. Modelling analysing examples within the chosen genre for text stages and particular elements used
- 3. Joint construction students are supported in producing selected sections of texts or functional language
- 4. Independent construction students write particular text types, teacher monitors

5. Comparing - students look at examples of the same or different genres, thinking about how particular texts work to achieve their social aims within a discourse community

By employing this model of genre analysis, this research aims to contribute to understandings of how students express criticality in a sample of 10 academic essays. It then considers how writing support embedded in disciplinary teaching can use these insights from genre analysis to enhance students' ability to write critically in an arts university context. This responds to an identified need for "systematic research [...] to obtain a more nuanced account of texts produced by learners and expert writers across a wider range of disciplines" (Wingate & Tribble, 2012, p. 491). This need is particularly acute in the art and design contexts where research into student writing is relatively limited, and is often focused on doctoral writing or research articles (Paltridge *et al.*, 2012; Ravelli *et al.*, 2013).

As such, the research questions (RQ) for this study are:

- RQ1: How do students express a critical stance in academic essays in VFX?
- RQ2: How can embedded writing classes support student use of a critical stance in these essays?

This introduction section has highlighted the need for an innovative embedded approach to supporting student writing in art and design higher education. It has also shown how concepts of academic genre and academic literacies can provide a useful basis for understanding and teaching written academic communication, and linked this to the aims and research questions. The second section sets out the research design and identifies how Bruce's model of social/cognitive genre is used to identify how students express a "critical stance" in various ways in the sample of written essays. The third section outlines the findings of the research, followed in section four by a discussion of how these findings broadly align with previous studies of critical stance in academic essays from other disciplines, and a discussion of how these findings might be practically applied in an educational setting via the use of academic "literacy windows" in lectures or seminars.

5.2. Method

The VFX undergraduate degree course was chosen as a focus because lecturers had observed that students often had problems producing high quality written work, especially in essays. Though student attitudes were not directly surveyed, lecturers reported that many students on the course found writing difficult or unpleasant. This broadly supports Borg's claims that HE students in arts contexts find writing particularly challenging (Borg, 2012).

The study used a purposive sample of 10 second year undergraduate VFX student essays. All essays had been graded by course lecturers as 'first' (n=1) or 'upper second' class (n=9), so received the highest or second highest overall grade classification for the task. These essays were selected intentionally as samples of 'good' student work, as the research aimed to identify useful, authentic exemplars of students taking a critical stance which could inform future writing development activities in the classroom. Essays had an average length of 3000 words, so the sample was approximately 30 000 words in length overall.

Permission to use the essays was obtained from all of those involved following research ethics guidelines of the university. These essays selected were produced by students in second year courses, so that any insights produced from the research could benefit participants in the study as they moved through the university, and help new students entering in subsequent years.

The social/cognitive genre model

As noted in the introduction section, the analytical approach follows Bruce (2016) in using the social genre/cognitive genre model to identify how student writers express a critical stance in argumentative essays.

Social genre is the broader level of analysis, concerned with the "overall social purpose" of a text. In contrast, cognitive genre looks at the way a writer deals with the "cognitive orientation and internal organization" of a text and its particular sections. Following indications from Bruce's recent work, this study focuses on the social genre element of "stance" (Paltridge, 2014), and the cognitive genre element of "interpropositional relations" (Crombie, 1985) as ways to identify the critical stance of a student writer. Social and cognitive genres are explained in turn below.

Social genre: Analysis of 'evaluative features'

A writer's stance is realized through various "metadiscourse devices" which can guide the reader in their understanding of a text. Most relevant to this study are the "evaluative features" of a text which involve the reader in the argument being made (Hyland, 2017, p. 20). In this study, student essays were manually analysed for the following evaluative features:

- Hedges (might, perhaps, possible, about)
- Attitude markers (unfortunately, I agree that, surprisingly) and boosters (in fact, it is clear, certainly)
- Engagement markers (consider, note that, you can see that)
- Self-mentions (I / we / my / our)

Cognitive genre: Analysis of 'interpropositional relations'

In terms of cognitive genre, the most relevant aspect of Bruce's model is its use of Crombie's (1985) concept of "interpropositional relations" which show relationships between statements within a writer's argument. According to Bruce (2016), writers express meaning by constructing "binary relations between two propositions", connecting ideas in both language and meaning (2016, p. 17-18). Linguistic links can be shown with overt linking terms such as 'because' or 'as a result', or statements can simply be placed in sequence to create various kinds of meaning as shown in Table 1 below:

Table 1. The meaning and use of interpropositional relations (adapted fromCrombie, 1985)

Interpropositional relation	Explanation / example
Amplification	the second clause in a sentence repeats the propositional content of the first, but adds detail or specifics to that content. <i>X works as an active element that Y understands to be</i>

Concession / contraexpectation	the truth of an inference is directly or indirectly denied, signalled by subordinators, prepositions or conjunctions. <i>Although X</i> , Y; X appears to suggest, but is highly problematic; This seems, yet /
Condition / consequence	one clause states a condition or hypothetical cause for the event or observation in the other clause. <i>If X works poorly, Y will occur.</i>
Grounds / conclusion	deduction from an observation: <i>X</i> can be observed in the film, therefore it can be concluded that <i>Y</i> is
Means / result	one clause states how a result stated in the other can be achieved. The director provokes reaction X by doing Y.
Reason / result	a reason element explains why a particular effect (the result) came about. As a result of X, Y happened; X is true because/as
Statement exemplification	one clause makes a general statement and the other gives a proposition as an example of the first statement. The use of visual effects is very subtle. For example, the use of X and Y evoke
Simple comparison	Stating that one thing is similar to another
Simple contrast	Stating that one thing is different from another

Following Bruce (2016), each student essay was manually analysed by one of the researchers in a series of stages:

- 1. Identify the overarching argument made and text structure.
- 2. Highlight extracts from the text which express the student's critical stance in relation to the essay question.
- Code the extracts in terms of (a) metadiscourse markers and (b) coherence relations which help to express the student's critical stance.
- 4. Summarise and compare elements of critical stance across the sample.

Due to constraints of time and resources, one researcher acted as the sole manual rater to read and code the texts, but used a 'critical friend' also familiar with genre analysis to confirm interpretations of key stretches of text or categorizations.

A table of coded extracts was produced for each essay, and an overall summary sheet produced for discussion with the subject lecturer. The researcher and subject lecturer then examined the results together in order to consider how the findings might lead to research-informed teaching interventions on future courses.

5.3. Results 1: Identifying critical stance in essays

Following Bruce (2016), this study focused on identifying writers' statements of their critical stance in essays. It did this by using the social/cognitive genre model to analyse student essays as described above. The analysis identified 173 critical statements overall across the ten essays, giving an average of 17 critical statements per essay. These statements could be found at any stage of the essay, rather than being focused at any particular points (such as the conclusion, though unsurprisingly every essay contained at least one statement of critical stance in the conclusion section).

In attempting to fully answer RQ1, the analysis followed Bruce (2016) by focusing closely on identifying the most common metadiscourse markers and coherence relations used to express a critical stance in these critical statements. The overall answer to RQ1 was that the writers expressed their critical stance in argument essays primarily by:

- Using metadiscourse markers of (1) attitude markers and (2) hedges
- Using interpropositional relations of (1) Statement exemplification, (2) Amplification, (3) Grounds / conclusion and (4) Concession / contraexpectation.

Though some statements of critical stance only contained a single element (an interpropositional relation or metadiscourse marker), many statements contained both or even multiple instances, as in extract one below:

...certain markers of film genre are common. **However**, audience expectation regarding these markers <u>can in some cases</u> lead to inclusion of stereotypical characters. [Essay 1]

The extract shows a concession / contraexpectation **interpropositional relation** (in **bold**), and a hedging <u>metadiscourse marker</u> (<u>underlined</u>) occurring within a statement of critical stance.

The following section will consider in more detail the identification of metadiscourse markers and interpropositional relations.

5.4. Results 2: Use of metadiscourse markers

Using Hyland's concept of 'stance' from Bruce's social genre model, the critical statements were analysed for use of expressions which function by "assisting the writer (or speaker) to express a viewpoint and engage with readers as members of a particular community" (2005, p. 37). A total of 173 such metadiscourse markers were identified in critical statements from the essays, an average of 17.3 per essay. It should be noted that the researcher at times found the distinction between boosters which show the "writer's certainty" and attitude markers showing "the writer's attitude" difficult to make. For example, it was difficult to clear distinguish between certainty and attitude in statements such as 'I believe' or 'it is important'. As a result, the researcher decided to categorize the 'booster' and 'attitude marker' elements together in the coding process. This choice can be justified in that the focus of the study is to identify language used to express a critical stance as a teaching tool, rather than as a focus on comparing instances of particular micro elements of language use.

This dual category of attitude marker/booster was therefore the most frequently used, comprising over 60% of all metadiscourse markers identified (78 in total, 7.8 per essay). Hedging language was the next most frequently used technique, by which the writer could demonstrate or "withhold ... full commitment to statements" (Hyland, 2004, p. 111). As shown in Table 2, hedges were used 34 times in total across the essays with an average of 3.8 instances per essay. Hedging language took a variety forms but the majority of hedges (19 of the 34) made use of modal verb constructions (*can, might, could*).

Discourse markers	Total number used	Percentage	Average per essay
Attitude marker/booster	78	61.4%	7.8
Hedge	34	27%	3.8
Self mention	10	8%	2
Engagement marker	5	4%	2.5
	127		12.7

Table 2. Use of discourse markers in statements of critical stance in student essays

5.5. Results 3: Interpropositional relations

A range of interpropositional relations were employed by students in their essays, with a total of 221 used across the sample, giving an average of 22.1 per essay. The most frequent inter propositional relations used were statement exemplification (totalling 46 across the sample, almost 21% of all such propositions used). Next was amplification (44, 20%), followed by grounds / conclusion and concession / contra-expectation (both having 37 propositions each, 16.7% of the total). The full details as to use and frequency of interpropositional relations in the essays can be seen in Table 3 below.

 Table 3. Use of interpropositional relations in statements of critical stance in student work

Interpropositional relation	Total number used	Percentage	Average per essay
Statement exemplification	46	21%	4.6
Amplification	44	20%	4.9
Grounds/conclusion	37	17%	3.7
Concession/contraexpectation	37	17%	3.7
Means/result	34	15%	3.8
Reason/result	9	4%	1.5
Condition/consequence	8	3.5%	1.3
Simple contrast	3	1.5%	1.5
Simple comparison	3	1.5%	1
	221		22.1

The essay required that students analyse a number of films as a key part of the task, so it is perhaps not surprising that statement exemplification was used most frequently (on average 4.6 times per essay). Many statements were made which presented a student's critical stance on a particular matter, and this was then illustrated with the use of an example. Students were able to articulate a range of linguistic means to provide examples (*for example, such as, this is shown in* [...], *this is an example of* ...).

The second most common interpropositional relation was amplification (averaging 4.9 per essay). Amplification involves simply adding specific detail to a previous statement, often using *'which/ that'* as a way to link the ideas as the following examples show: [Film X] employs a number of different styles of VFX, which contribute to the narrative in terms of ... [Essay 7]

...we see use of cinematography to create distinguishing shots **that** focus the audience on a specific object ... [Essay 9]

The next two most common relations involved constructions of grounds /conclusion and concession / contraexpectation (both on average 3.7 times per essay). Grounds / conclusion relations often explicitly show a deduction being made from an observation, and help students to clearly highlight their thinking on a particular subject:

Spectacle <u>can enhance</u> the visual storytelling in a film... **Therefore**, [film genre X] uses VFX to support and expand upon ... [Essay 6]

...The emblematic VFX within [film Y] catalyses both the narrative and themes directly, and **therefore** answers the question of ... [Essay 5]

Concession / contra-expectation statements were the joint third most commonly used interpropositional relations. These constructions allow students to demonstrate their knowledge of, for example, a common assumption or widely held idea, but then go on to challenge its accuracy or appropriateness in a particular context:

Without visual effects this would not have been possible, **however** <u>it</u> <u>can be argued</u> that to tell the story... [Essay 1]

Many films were seen as science fiction purely for utilising effects. However, we have learnt that... [Essay 3]

Although [film genre X] <u>may be</u> cordoned off into its own category independent of [genre X], they still share the same foundations of... Essay 5]

The next most common interpropositional relation used was means / result (34, 15.4% of total). Again, the frequency of use of this construction is perhaps unsurprising given the nature of the task (to explain how and why VFX can be used in film).

5.6. Discussion

The broader literature on critical thinking suggests that different disciplinary communities may differ in their expectations about how criticality is expressed (Chanock, 2000; Moore, 2013). The findings of this study confirm this in that the way criticality is signalled in VFX (itself an adapted form of film studies) differs in some respects to expression of criticality in Bruce's (2016) study of sociology and English literature argument essays (see Table 4). However, the difference lies mainly in the order of the three most frequently used signals of critical stance (interpropositional relations), rather than in types of relations used:

	VFX	Sociology	English literature
1	Statement e.g	Reason result	Grounds conclusion
2	Amplification	Concession contraexpectation	Concession contraexpectation
3	Grounds conclusion	Grounds conclusion	Reason result
4	Concession contraexpectation	Amplification	Amplification

Table 4. Frequency of type of interpropositional relation used in VFX comparedto Bruce's (2016) study of sociology and English literature

As shown in Table 4, Bruce (2016) identified amplification, grounds / conclusion, and concession / contraexpectation as 3 of the four most commonly used interpropositional relations in essays from sociology and English literature, and these have been similarly identified in undergraduate writing on VFX in this study (though in different orders of frequency).

Though the frequent use of metadiscourse signals of hedging and attitude markers was also very broadly in line with those in Bruce's study, the findings in this area are less comparable given the decision to combine the categories of attitude marker and booster in this research project. In any case the particular patterns for frequency of use were not similar across subjects as show in Table 5 below.

	VFX	Sociology	English literature
Attitude marker	61.4%	74%	42%
Hedge	46.5%	15%	46.5%

Table 5. Comparison of use of metadiscourse markers across subjects as a percentage of markers used in the essays

This study acknowledges that argument is a key aspect of effective essay writing (Hewings, 2010; Moore and Morton, 2005:74), and focuses on how successful student writing actually makes an argument. As a result, the findings of this study can contribute to teacher and student understandings of how knowledge can be constructed and shared in a particular discipline (Lillis, 2006). The following sections explore RQ2 on how these findings might inform teaching practice.

Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes

The findings of RQ1 answer, to a limited extent, Wingate and Tribble's call for "systematic research [...] to obtain a more nuanced account of texts produced by learners and expert writers" in particular disciplines (2012, p. 491). The research literature is clear that to be most effective, support for students in developing their academic writing is most effective when embedded within the students' academic discipline (Maldoni & Lear, 2016). It is important, then, to consider how these empirical findings can be used to provide writing support which is embedded within VFX courses.

The results of the study were discussed and analysed in collaboration with the VFX course lecturer. Both the researcher and lecturer agreed on the possible usefulness of a combined focus on argument and its written expression in teaching sessions. In fact, the unit which includes the essay task already has three essay-focused academic writing sessions embedded within it. In these sessions, subject lecturer, subject librarian and academic writing tutors collaborate to support students towards completing the essay task.

However, concerns were raised about the lack of space for additional, extensive teaching interventions using these insights within an already crowded syllabus. As a solution, we propose to intertwine subject lectures/seminar discussions with occasional "literacy windows" (Wingate, 2016, p. 360) in which "time is set aside to focus on academic literacy conventions and requirements ...[including] how knowledge is presented and debated in the literature, how claims are made".

Responding to concerns about lack of time for dedicated sessions, these 'windows' could be opened at convenient times during lectures or seminars, at points when suitable examples arise from discussion of authentic disciplinary subject matter. For example, in discussing a current debate in the field of VFX, the teacher could introduce and model an example statement of critical stance which might be found in a student essay using the concession / contra expectation structure. A one or two sentence language structure could be modelled on a whiteboard / projector, whilst the lecturer makes the purpose and context of such academic communication clear to students. A quick follow up activity could ask students to generate, in small groups, a relevant example which illustrates the point made in the concession / contraexpectation statement. The small groups could then jointly produce a reformulated written sentence to express their idea in academic style, perhaps adding hedging or attitude markers under guidance from the lecturer. Students could then briefly share and compare their sentences.

These activities make use of the empirical findings on how critical stance is expressed in VFX (through interpropositional relations and metadiscourse markers). Furthermore, the approach can be aligned with a suitable pedagogic approach in the form (outlined in the introduction) of Feez's teaching-learning cycle (1998), which is designed to operationalise insights in genre-based approaches to the teaching of writing. The proposed activities link the teaching content (generated by this piece of genre research) to Feez's genre-informed teaching approach, as highlighted in Table 6 below:

Table 6. Stages of Feez's (1998) teaching-learning cycle mapped against a proposed 'academic literacy window' (Wingate, 2016) in a VFX lecture/seminar

Stage of Feez's teaching-learning cycle	In-lecture 'academic literacy window' activity using outputs of genre analysis
1. Set context	Teacher highlights how the VFX literature contains de- bate, arguments and alternative viewpoints on theory and practice

2. Model chosen text	Teacher writes and displays a concession / contraex- pectation-type sentence construction (and any use of meta discourse markers of hedging or authorial atti- tude) which expresses, in essay style, a point from the current lecture
3. Joint construction of text	Students are encouraged to (a) generate examples from their experience of film which illustrates the given point. Students then jointly try to form a concession / con- traexpectation sentence which illustrates their thinking.
4. Independent construction of texts	(Omitted because of time constraints)
5. Compare texts	Students share and comment on texts produced by each group. Students could consider whether meta discourse markers such as hedging are required to add nuance to arguments made.

This approach has the advantage that it requires little or no preparation by the teacher (as it responds to typical issues covered in lectures), and could be incorporated as an engaging and student-centred activity within a more formal lecture or seminar discussion. It also requires students to engage with the potentially distinctive critical thinking practices of a particular discipline (Moore, 2013), and the communication norms of its associated discourse community.

Limitations

It is important to note that the size of the sample of essays analysed was relatively limited, partly because of constraints of time, resources, and the number of student essays available. However, the main focus of the study was to explore how successful student work expresses argument or critical stance, rather than to make definitive statements about disciplinary content. In addition, though a 'critical friend' was used as a means of checking understanding and application of coding of texts, analysis was conducted by a single rater so no formal measures of inter-rater reliability could be conducted. The merging of categories of attitude markers and boosters also meant that analysis of discourse markers was less precise in its focus.

5.7. Conclusions

This paper has identified a need to support the diverse cohort of students currently entering higher education in developing their written argumentation skills, especially in the arts. Research shows the need for support which attends to both meaning making and the language used to express such meaning in a particular discipline. Such support needs to be grounded in the discipline area, rather than focusing on generic study skills. Thus, this study aimed to identify how students in VFX express argument via their critical stance in essays.

Using Bruce's social/cognitive model of genre analysis, the study found that successful student writing uses a range of interpropositional relations to indicate the relationships between ideas that form their critical stance in an essay. The most frequent relations used are statement exemplification, amplification, grounds/ conclusion and concession/contra expectation.

In addition, students add nuance to statements of critical stance arguments by adding metadiscourse signals, primarily attitude markers and hedging to express their argument. Student writing in VFX used interpropositional relations and discourse markers in a broadly similar way to that of previous studies of sociology and English literature essays. Although all these disciplines shared a high level of use of the three most common relations, the specific frequencies of their use varied across the three subject areas.

The article confirms and extends knowledge about the ways in which students express criticality appropriately in assessed writing within their particular subject areas in the novel context of an arts university. It responds innovatively to Wingate and Tribble's call for such studies (2012), by combining genre-informed approaches to identifying and teaching the language of argument with established ideas on embedding teaching within subject disciplines. In drawing on these genre-informed analytical and pedagogical techniques, the study proposes a theoretically aligned means by which this embedding can occur. Thus, subject lecturers can support students in developing written argumentation skills, with minimal preparation required, in a classroom environment via Wingate's "literacy windows". Future research will attempt to evaluate the effectiveness of this teaching approach.

References

- Borg, E. (2012). Writing differently in Art and Design: Innovative approaches to writing tasks. In Hardy, C. & Clughen, L. (eds), *Writing in the Disciplines: Building Supportive Cultures for Student Writing in UK Higher Education.* Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing, pp. 169-187.
- Bruce, I. (2008). Academic writing and genre: A systematic analysis. Bloomsbury.
- Bruce, I. (2016). Constructing critical stance in University essays in English literature and sociolog, *English for Specific Purposes*. *Pergamon*, 42, 13-25.
- Chanock, K. (2000). Comments on Essays: Do students understand what tutors write?, *Teaching in Higher Education. Kate Chanock*, 5 (1), 95-105.
- Crombie, W. (1985). *Process and relation in discourse and language learning*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hewings, M. (2010). Materials for university essay writing. In Harwood, N. (ed.), English language teaching materials. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 251-278.
- Hyland, K. (2004). *Disciplinary discourses: social interactions in academic writing*. University of Michigan Press.
- ---- (2005). *Metadiscourse: Exploring interaction in writing*. London: Continuum.
- (2008). Genre and academic writing in the disciplines, *Language Teaching*, 41 (4), 543–562.
- (2017). Metadiscourse: What is it and where is it going?, *Journal of Pragmatics*, 113, 16-29.
- Lillis, T. M. (2006). Student writing as "Academic Literacies" pedagogy: dialogues of participation. In *Teaching Academic Writing in UK Higher Education*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 30-45.
- Maldoni, A. & Lear, E. (2016). A decade of embedding: Where are we now?, *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, 13 (3).
- Maldoni, A. M. (2017). A cross-disciplinary approach to embedding: A pedagogy for developing academic literacies, *Journal of Academic Language & Learning*, 11 (1), A104-A124.
- Moore, T. (2013). Critical thinking: seven definitions in search of a concept, *Studies in Higher Education*. *Routledge*, 38 (4), 506-522. doi: 10.1080/03075079.2011.586995.
- Moore, T. & Morton, J. (2005). Dimensions of difference: a comparison of university writing and IELTS writing, *Journal of English for Academic Purposes. Pergamon*, 4 (1), 43-66.

- Nesi, H. & Gardner, S. (2012). *Genres across the disciplines: Student writing in higher education*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Paltridge, B. (2014). Genre and second-language academic writing, *Language Teaching*, 47 (3), 03-318.
- Paltridge, B., Starfield, S., Ravelli, L. J., & Tuckwell, K. (2012). Change and stability: Examining the macrostructures of doctoral theses in the visual and performing arts, *Journal of English for Academic Purposes. Pergamon*, 11 (4), 332-344.
- Ravelli, L., Paltridge, B., Starfield, S., & Tuckwell, K. (2013). Extending the notion of "text": the visual and performing arts doctoral thesis, *Visual Communication*, 12 (4), 395-422.
- Toulmin, S. (2003). *The uses of argument*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Wingate, U. (2006). Doing away with "study skills", *Teaching in Higher Education*, 11 (4), 457-469.
- (2015). Academic literacy and student diversity : the case for inclusive *practice*. Multi-lingual Matters.
- (2016). Academic literacy across the curriculum: Towards a collaborative instructional approach, *Language Teaching*, 51 (3), 349-364.
- Wingate, U. & Tribble, C. (2011). The best of both worlds? Towards an English for Academic Purposes/Academic Literacies writing pedagogy, *Studies in Higher Education*, pp. 1-15.
- (2012). The best of both worlds? Towards an English for Academic Purposes/Academic Literacies writing pedagogy, *Studies in Higher Education*, 37 (4), 481-495.

6

Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain)

M. PILAR CÁCERES RECHE

caceres@ugr.es Orcid: 0000-0002-6323-8054 University of Granada

Inmaculada Aznar Díaz

iaznar@ugr.es Orcid: 0000-0002-0018-1150 University of Granada

REBECA SOLER COSTA

rsoler@unizar.es Orcid: 0000-0003-2033-9792 University of Zaragoza

Abstract

Current training in University requires the introduction and development of lifelong learning due to the evolution society has experienced and hence higher education. The training needs can be faced up with the introduction of different innovative strategies, such as the development of blended learning through the use of ICT in a specific learning community. Even more, considering the globalization and its effects it seems indispensable to use the communicating possibilities provided by ICT, the potentialities they can bring us in different training settings. Obviously this will require the use of active methodologies to be able to share knowledge so that learning communities reach a relevant role transforming the teaching scenario in a more updated and dynamic context. Student's participation is necessary both face-to-face and in virtual settings. No doubt, the introduction of all these issues requires deep methodological changes in the University context, being able to assume a continuous process of reflection and innovation. The aim of this paper is to analyse the most relevant contributions made by several teaching innovation projects that have been implemented at the University of Granada (Faculty of Educational Sciences) during various academic years, and whose implementation teachers and students have positively valued. The innovative action allows us to analyse the impact of how learning communities in blended learning and with different active methodologies contribute to enhance the students' learning process. Self-didactic and collaborative ICT tools in learning communities in university courses seem to guarantee the development of a suitable lifelong learning process.

Keywords: blended learning, active methodologies, students' participation, learning community, teaching-learning processes

6.1. Introduction

In accordance with current socio-educational requirements and job placement-related training needs, in the "lifelong learning" environment the University should increasingly promote the improvement of educational quality for teachers to develop in, who are better trained, in order to acquire and master a series of professional skills as basic tools for their self-learning, which derives from social interaction in face-to-face and virtual environments (social networks) (Soler Santaliestra, Soler Costa and Araya, 2016). In turn, this training experience will lead to their own continuous and self-taught professional development, which will improve their teaching activity and performance in education centres by transmitting knowledge and learning to new generations through a "waterfall model". This implies laying the bases for a fundamental methodological change characterised by using active methodologies from initial levels of education. Thus teacher training in the Faculties of Education is essential as teachers are the main agents of much socio-educative importance to change and develop the transformational process in school teaching innovation, and even the University training model, according to the European convergence framework (the Bologne Declaration).

Hence in an increasingly more interconnected world, which has been called "the global village" given the possibilities of communicating thanks to major advances in ICT, which totally minimise geographic distances, it is crucial to properly use the main potentialities offered by these new training scenarios, such as collaborative learning (Hinojo, Aznar, & Cáceres, 2009; López, Jaén, & Cabero, 2013; Cabero & Marín, 2014; Grande, Cañón, & Cantón, 2016). This can be understood as "the reciprocity between a set of individuals who know how to differentiate and compare their points of view to generate a knowledge building process. In this process, all individuals learn more than they would if they learned by themselves as a result of the interaction among team members" (Guitert & Giménez, 2000). In this way, and together with such learning, solving projects is necessary which, according to Román 2004, involves performing group tasks (fulfilling qualitatively richer aims with several group members); group dynamics (increasing closeness, better interactions and personal relationships, and a higher degree of job satisfaction and valuing others) and its implication in personal aspects (developing social and communicative skills, respect for differences, growing feedback, etc.).

All this is framed within *active methodologies* and the aim is to build knowledge in a shared manner so that learning communities play a relevant role throughout this transforming process, as verified by the research results published in different works and by former innovative teaching projects undertaken at the University of Granada since academic year 2005/06, and also at other Spanish Universities. Here active and dynamic student participation is basic to favour their training in a continuous interaction process.

Hence learning through a community, a group, becomes the central and cross-curricular axis in students' training in both faceto-face and virtually settings (blended learning) (Chaves, Trujillo, Cáceres, Hinojo, & Alonso, 2015; Fernández, Arias, Fidalgo, & Robledo, 2017). Defined as free pedagogical spaces for cooperation that promote "an interactive process of collective building that is permanently submitted to public scrutiny, and debate to socially and educationally improve the community" (Leiva, Pedrero, & Pérez, 2014:1), they become one of the main priority training strategies to meet one of the principal demands in implementing the European Higher Education Area and to improve the quality of University teaching.

6.2. Justification

The way to face methodological changes will depend, to a great extent, on each University's idiosyncratic features (supporting teaching innovation, work dynamics, financing, teachers' motivation, incentives, etc.). First of all, it requires a continuous process to reflect on both the practice and innovative initiative of the teachers who work in dynamic and interdisciplinary groups according to operational and sequenced goals in time (Aznar, Raso, Hinojo, & Romero, 2017; López Llorent & Medina, 2017).

One example of all this is the teaching innovation experience, which is backed by a successive professional career that derives from former teaching innovation projects which have covered a 10-year period of innovative initiatives, and with commitment to improve the quality of University teaching and research, action which detects strengths and weaknesses, and which restructures new intervention proposals about more particular aspects. All this focuses on the innovative action of University teaching methodologies.

This proposal intends to synthesise the most relevant contributions made by several teaching innovation projects that have been implemented at the University of Granada (Faculty of Educational Sciences) during various academic years, and whose implementation teachers and students have positively valued, these being the people it addresses and the direct beneficiaries of a series of actions. There is the importance of making good use of students' active implication through the possibilities that the method by projects offers to favour greater implication and motivation, and to undertake "self-didactic" and interactive strategies by successively alternating with collaborative learning in networks. Here information is exchanged, opinions are compared and collaborative learning is undertaken as groups. All these strategies and tools are necessary to develop specific skills, which are required to train future teachers. Moreover within the European Higher Education Area, acquiring strategic skills to master Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) is a fundamental challenge throughout this training process and, within this, so is knowledge and the practical use of the advantages provided by Web 2.0 tools. In this way, combining and reflecting on practically putting into practice projects were done with technological support to facilitate the development of skills that any teacher requires to work according to the quality and professionalism parameters currently expected of them.

By considering verifiable aspects in today's university situation through implementing former teaching innovation projects, and other studies and reports, we confirm a series of teaching methodological drawbacks that are indicated in the Universidad 2000 Report (excessive use of master classes, poor pedagogic innovation by teachers). During the previous academic year (2016-2017), we considered integrating all this background into a project in an attempt to reflect the methodological advanced made in university training holistically to help to improve Higher Education teaching (Cáceres, Raso, Bautista, & Hinojo, 2013; Cáceres, Aznar, Hinojo, & Alonso, 2014; Raso, Aznar, & Cáceres, 2014; Cabero, Marín, & Sampedro, 2017). Among the obtained results, which are susceptible to improvement, we found:

- A high percentage of students who lack teaching transversal skills (reflective capacity, the capacity to analyse, plan and organise work; personal initiative and metacognitive self-regulation, etc.)
- Differences for students in skills in and knowledge of handling ICT (digital skills) which is a handicap to establish true networking learning communities (collaborative learning). Some students lack motivation and availability, which limits their extensible participation
- Students lack motivation and implication to study, particularly in core subjects like Didactics and School Organisation, which are fundamental for training future teachers.
- Lack of training for the teachers who have actively participated in the project, who recognise their limitations in planning the method by projects, designing assessment instruments to do follow-up, and how to organise suitable feedback to students' requirements, interests and cognitive needs.

We centre on the main weaknesses detected in the latest innovative action, and we focus on the following lines of action taken in this project or innovative experience, financed by the Teaching Innovation Unit of the Vice-Rector of Quality at the University of Granada:

- Supporting key skills or metacognitive skills. Lack of knowledge in some cases, and lack of, in most cases, mastering and/or skills to use the techniques and resources needed in university teaching, such as "learning to learn", are key aspects for students' professional development as future teachers.
- The emerging design of classrooms and spaces to form learning communities (in semi-face-to-face or blended learning settings). The intention of this line of action is to follow a series of procedure principles (a growing community, emerging objectives, exceeding limits, respecting others, etc.) according to Olivencia, Pedrero, & Pérez, 2014, and backing, in turn, its training process to mitigate teachers' gaps in learning when designing such face-to-face and virtual learning places to guide and motivate participation and social knowledge building by students.
- Methodological-type implications to develop an all-round integrated approach in which all competences are coordinated and participate with one another where students are the main figures in their own learning. Hence action and experience become two characteristic notes that delimit, to a great extent, the development of competences through having to introduce active methods that centre on students' autonomic and decisive participation: e.g., like that we propose by the "method by projects" by semi-face-to-face interaction in learning communities (blended learning).
- More specific intervention that centres on developing "learning communities" as an axis to encompass the interaction, collaboration, sharing experiences, ideas, skills and knowledge from group diversity (Fig. 1), particularly in relation to improving metacognitive (reflective capacity, the capacity to analyse, plan and organise work; personal initiative and metacognitive self-regulation, etc.) and teaching transversal skills; digital competences (suitably using and handling ICT); and teacher training for planning these innovative actions (method by projects with use of ICT, self-assessment and follow-up of the teaching-learning process through feedback from the aforementioned "learning communities" outline). To this end, here the intention is to follow a series of procedure principles (a growing community, emerging objectives, exceeding limits, respecting others, etc.) that are fundamental for this training model to be successful.



Fig. 1. Learning communities in students' development of skills

The intention of this whole process of restructuring innovative action in the university teaching methodology is to "analyse the impact of learning communities on semi-face-to-face settings by putting into practice different active methodologies (method by projects, using ICT, collaborative self-didactic learning, etc.)". This was the general objective of our innovative action.

6.3. Objectives

- Carrying out a DASW (detecting and analysing strong and weak points) analysis to design and develop learning communities in blended learning university settings.
- Training teachers to design face-to-face and virtual settings that guide towards, and motivate participation and social knowled-ge building, among university students.
- Promoting students' development, commitment and implication in using technological tools and in developing active learning methodologies.
- Promoting "self-didacticism" among students in interactive and interdisciplinary learning processes with which to acquire a high potential to develop continuous training permanent learning strategies (lifelong learning).
- Favouring teaching skills being acquired by the method by projects, and active and collaborative work dynamics, by focusing on knowledge management using technological tools.

- Improving students' learning outcomes, and their levels of teaching quality and success, in the teaching-learning process.
- Helping students acquire/master metacognitive skills by making them more aware of their own cognitive resources, and by promoting their self-regulation ("learning to learn").
- Developing significant and autonomous learning in a group oriented to research and critical thinking.
- Acquiring seeking, evaluation, quality and selection skills for information on the Internet. Evaluating the levels of the main agents' (teachers and students) satisfaction with the way the innovative action proposed through its impact to improve the teaching-learning process at the university.

6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries

It involves the students who participated in this teaching innovation experience, who focused on the different courses of the Degrees of Primary and Childhood Education taught at the Faculty of Educational Sciences at the University of Granada. This experiment involved some 345 students from the four courses per degree.

A series of phases in the procedure were carried out, which specified the actions to be taken: Phase 1. Structural aspects: setting up a moodle education platform (basic lines of activities or proposals to be performed as part of the method by projects); Phase 2. Undertaking the project: an initial seminar (face-to-face), and then seminars on a monthly basis (virtual/face-to-face), to determine the common and generic aspects of all the contents to be developed, and to design practices that integrate acquired knowledge, skills and attitudes; i.e., the teaching skills needed to adapt to today's educational expectancies and challenges; online/ face-to-face tutoring; and training in and counselling about suitable platform operation (LeaderGroup.com). Phase 3. Assessing the project: assessing the impact of the taken innovative action via the involved agents (questionnaires, reflections through seminars, etc.). Finally, writing an end report that includes future research lines, including the project possibly continuing or its extension by introducing the required improvements; diffusing the obtained results (multimedia production) in different media and electronic resources (journals, books, talks, posters, communications, etc.); attending Conferences, Teaching Innovation Events, etc.

6.5. Discussing the results

In order to learn about the degree of the planned objectives being fulfilled after applying this innovative teaching methodology, we centred on analysing students' perceptions, who are the direct beneficiaries of this whole training experience, by designing two surveys (initial and final) on a Likert-type scale using the "lime survey" server, with responses that go from 1 to 4, whose values represent progressive responses (not at all, somewhat, quite a lot and a lot), save the last item, whose evaluation goes from "completely disagree" to "completely agree". Both surveys centred on four dimensions:

Identifying data

Students' profile offers a good gender balance with 45% males and 58% females, which is quite normal in Education Degrees. Specifically, more than half the participants studied the second course of the Primary Education Degree (62%), and 38% studied the first course of the Childhood Education Degree. Their ages went from 19 to 20 years, so their initial expectancies when they arrived at university were compared with the experience of those who had known some teaching methodologies in different subjects.

Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT

It can be stated that after taking this innovative action, students considered that they possessed suitable knowledge and could appropriately use ICT to conduct their learning, as opposed to either expressing uncertainties (stating that they were barely up-to-date with the latest novelties in technological tools and resources), or considering them difficult to understand or use, which they showed in the survey (more than 60%) on initial expectancies. Some of the most outstanding results are summarised in Figure 2:

ITEMS	Valid percentage
"Suitably using Internet search engines (Google, Yahoo, Proquest, etc.) is a very useful tool to access relevant information" (item 5)	82.33%
"I found it easy to handle the education platform" (item 4)	70.68%
"I find it more motivating to work on subject contents using ICT-based teaching methodologies than conventional classes" (item 6)	65.04%
"I think I master today's technological tools quite well" (Item 13)	72.93%

Fig. 2. Summarised results on the "use and knowledge of ICT"

Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities and social networks

As with the previous dimension, quite positive results were obtained about respondents' perceptive experience in collaborative learning and its use in learning communities. The same line coincided with the initial vision, that of students maintaining the importance of group work (more than 80%) as a facilitating element to acquire and complement new information, learning, etc. However, one of the items with a lower score refers to preferences of working individually as opposed to working as a group, where almost 40% opted for the first option; this indicates poor training in group dynamics, lack of knowledge of how to collaboratively work, negative group work experiences, etc. It will be necessary to learn about them in order to work to improve this situation.

In line with this, Figure 3 provides some of the most significant items and results:

ITEMS	Valid percentage
"Working with other colleagues helps me learn and better understand con- tents" (item 16)	85.34%
"Entering in dialogue and interacting with other people helps me learn by comparing different points of view" (item 18)	83.38%
"I prefer to work alone than doing group tasks" (item 19)	67.29%
"Forming part of professional learning communities in the future with other teachers and professionals, etc. is fundamental." (item 23)	85.72%

Fig. 3. Summarised results about "learning communities and group work"

Valuing degree of satisfaction

Students quite positively valued the use and operation of social networks, developing interactive learning, the need to train by using this type of university models with ICT, improving the quality of face-to-face classes and motivation, making contents to be worked more accessible and practical, etc. Nonetheless, some handicaps have to be considered; e.g., more than 40% of the study group stated that teachers do not frequently use "active methodologies with the use of ICT"; about 30% indicated certain difficulties in grasping that "interacting with others in social networks facilitates collaborative learning", which might coincide with the previously mentioned preference to working "individually" as opposed to working as a group. So it would be necessary to examine in-depth students' work cultures. Students were also divided in their views about developing the "digital skill" as 50% considered it had increased, while the other half believed the opposite was true.

ITEMS	Valid percentage
"Social networks favour cooperative-dynamic learning"	66.17%
"Teachers use active methodologies with ICT"	57.09%
"Using ICT favours autonomic and self-didactic learning"	73.68%
"Using social networks facilitates interactions with other colleagues and developing collaborative learning"	68.08%
"I feel that using social networks greatly motivates learning and comple- ments face-to-face classes"	67.29%
"My digital competence has increased by undertaking this subject"	50%

Fig. 4. Summarised results about "assessing the use of new methodologies with ICT"

In general lines, students' degree of satisfaction with the initiative of the project dealing with university training was high, as reflected in Figure 5:



Fig. 5. Students' degree of satisfaction with having undertaken and learned the subject using the ICT

6.5. Conclusions

According to the obtained data, the questionnaires, observations and reflections carried out and made throughout the process confirmed that students' responses were most favourable about this methodology, and about the learning possibilities it offers. As strong points, the importance attached by students to using new teaching methodologies and using ICT stood out for their training as future teachers through developing a series of specific skills. Here the interaction taken in learning communities through semiface-to-face settings also positively stood out as a key motivating element to improve the teaching-learning process by, for example, using search engines and databases on the Internet (Web of Knowledge, Proquest, etc.). This interaction is integrated into work done by the "method by projects", where self-didacticism and collaboration are constantly combined, and even an evaluation of the great enrichment gained from having a virtual community of education professionals. However as some limitations were detected by both students and teachers, it would be important to consider them to improve implementing future teaching innovation actions as the results verified the need to examine digital skill training for students and teachers more in-depth because tech-
nological advances and their implications for education change and contents need to be updated. Hence a self-didactic training process followed by teachers would be necessary to plan and orientate technological resources, to detect any possible student difficulties and, in particular, to revitalize group interactions in learning communities by encouraging participation and moderating solving projects. This would be fundamental to motivate students to work in groups, to learn collaboratively and to acquire satisfactory learning experiences. Nonetheless, the personalized attention needed today in this teaching methodology presents severe structural limitations given the high teacher/student ratio. So it would be necessary to set up the personalized didactic planning of practical seminars, to count on smaller class groups and, above all, and to reinforce intergroup and intragroup tutoring as indirect support to solve any main doubts, interests and requirements that may emerge in each work phase through classmates themselves. Besides, the time needed to reach an agreement about setting up some common guidelines to share tasks and to reach a consensus about them is lacking. Many students' habits and "academic cultures" are also lacking who, having played a passive role in the teaching-learning process, and having employed traditional methodologies and reinforced individual learning more, now face the restructuring of different roles to what they are accustomed, and they have no knowledge of the strategies and skills required to work in a group from not only an academic approach, but also from a personal one (developing social skills, knowing how to communicate, knowing how to suitably express themselves, being tolerant, developing active listening, etc.) (Trujillo, Aznar, & Cáceres, 2015).

Therefore, acquiring this whole series of self-didactic and collaborative tools through learning communities in early university courses will guarantee being able to better face the academic world (later courses, preparing Final Degree Projects, etc.), for their professional development. Thus it is fundamental to continue working in this line, and also with all those aspects that ensure verifiable improvements in student learning to acquire evidence that guarantees improving university education quality in agreement with today's challenges.

References

- Aznar, I., Raso, F., Hinojo, M. A., & Romero, J.J. (2017). Percepciones de los futuros docentes respecto al potencial de la ludificación y la inclusión de los videojuegos en los procesos de enseñanza-aprendizaje, *Educar*, 53 (1), 11-28.
- Cabero, J. & Marín, V. (2014). Posibilidades educativas de las redes sociales y el trabajo en grupo. Percepciones de los alumnos universitarios, *Comunicar. Revista científica iberoamericana de comunicación y* educación, 42, 165-172.
- Cabero, J., Marín, V., & Sampedro, B. E. (2017). Aportaciones desde la investigación para la utilización educativa de los MOOC, *Revista Española de Pedagogía*, 75, (266), 7-27.
- Cáceres, M^a. P., Aznar, I., Hinojo, M^a. A., & Alonso, S. (2014). B-learning y competencias docentes en la Universidad. In Cobos, D., López, E., Jaén, A. Martín, A., & Molina, L. (dirs.). *Innovagogía 2014. II Congreso Virtual Internacional sobre Innovación Pedagógica y Praxis Educativa*, 1451-1457. Sevilla: AFOE, Formación.
- Cáceres, M. P., Raso, F., Bautista, J. M., & Hinojo, M. A. (2013). El método por proyectos como acción innovadora para la formación docente mediante el aprendizaje entre iguales (PID 10-67). In Jiménez, L. & García, M. C. (coords.), *Innovación docente y buenas prácticas en la Universidad de Granada*, 1, (2), 458-470. Granada: GEU.
- Chaves, E., Trujillo, J. M., Cáceres, M. P., Hinojo, F. J., Hinojo, M. A., & Alonso, S. (2015). La idea de PLE y la formación de profesionales de la educación. In Allueva, A. E. & Alejandre, J. L. Actas de las Jornadas Virtuales de Colaboración y Formación Virtual USATIC 2015, Ubicuo y Social: Aprendizaje con TIC, pp. 162-173. Madrid: Bubook Publishing.
- Fernández, T. G., Arias-Gundín, O., Pérez, C. R., Fidalgo, R., & Robledo, P. (2017). Metodologies actives i desenvolupament de competències en estudiants universitaris amb diferents estils de pensament, *Revista* d'Innovació Docent Universitària, 9, 66-80.
- Grande, M., Cañón, R., & Cantón, I. (2016). Tecnologías de la información y la comunicación: Evolución del concepto y características, *IJERI: International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation*, 6, 218-230.
- Guitert, M. & Giménez, F. (2000). El trabajo cooperativo en entornos virtuales de aprendizaje. In Duar, J. M. & Sangra, A. (ed.). *Aprender en la virtualidad*, pp. 113-134.
- Hinojo, F. J., Aznar, I., & Cáceres, M. P. (2009). Percepciones del alumnado sobre el blended learning en la universidad. *Comunicar. Nuevas*

Formas de Comunicación: Cibermedios y Medios Móviles. Revista Científica de Educomunicación, 33, 165-174.

- Leiva, J. J., Pedrero, E., & Pérez, R. (2014). Las comunidades de aprendizaje como estrategia de desarrollo y compromiso pedagógico en la formación inicial del profesorado, *Hekademos. Revista Educativa Digital*, 16, 51-58.
- López, E., Jaén, A., & Cabero, J. (2013). Los portafolios educativos virtuales en las aulas universitarias. Instrumentos didácticos para la innovación docente y la calidad de los procesos de enseñanza y aprendizaje, *Enseñanza & Teaching*, 31 (1), 43-70.
- López, E., Llorent, V., & Medina, B. (2017). Análisis diacrónico de las ventajas e inconvenientes del uso de las TIC en el ámbito educativo a través de mapas conceptuales multimedia, TE & ET: Revista Iberoamericana de Tecnología en Educación y Educación en Tecnología, 19, 34-40.
- Raso, F., Aznar, I., & Cáceres, M^a P. (2014). Integración de tecnologías de la información y comunicación: estudio evaluativo en la escuela rural andaluza (España), *Pixel Bit, Revista de Medios y Educación*, 45, 51-64.
- Román, P. (2004). Los entornos de trabajo colaborativo y su aplicación en la enseñanza. In Cabero, J. & Romero, R. (coords.), *Nuevas tecnologías en la práctica educativa*. Granada: Aljibe.
- Soler Santaliestra, J. R., Soler Costa, R. & Araya, M. I. (2016). Educación semipresencial blended learning. El caso de la Licenciatura en Pedagogía con énfasis en didáctica de la Universidad Nacional de Costa Rica. In Roig Vila, R. (ed.), *Tecnología, innovación e investigación en los* procesos de enseñanza-aprendizaje. Barcelona: Octaedro, pp. 1342-1350.
- Trujillo, J. M., Aznar, I., & Cáceres, M. P. (2015). Análisis del uso e integración de redes sociales colaborativas en comunidades de aprendizaje de la Universidad de Granada (España) & John Moore de Liverpool (Reino Unido), *Revista Complutense de Educación*, 1, (26), 289-311.

7

Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork

M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO mbelando@ucm.es Orcid: 0000-0001-5730-7896 Complutense University of Madrid M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Теміño mcarrasco@ucm.es Orcid: 0000-0001-5760-8234 Complutense University of Madrid

Abstract

Teamwork is currently one of the most highly demanded competences among university students by companies. In this paper we make a contribution to research into the area through an experience of educational innovation. We assess the level of satisfaction of a student group with the deployment of teamwork through a collaborative software open. To this end, an exploratorydescriptive study has been carried out and a questionnaire has been used with questions on technological skills and satisfaction in ICT knowledge. Among the results, the highest score questions are: the student's ability to coordinate a group activity carried out on the internet, knowledge about information programs in which to share information on the network with peers and the use of cloud storage systems. The advantages detected when using a web application for group work for the first time are related to the motivation and the greater involvement of the students, as well as a better distribution of tasks among the different members of the group and a more effective follow-up of the development of the works by the teacher and coordinator responsible for the group.

Keywords: university student's teamwork, technological skills, learning methods, social education

7.1. Introduction

Teamwork is currently one of the most highly demanded competences among university students by companies. There are many researches that we find on this subject, but as stated by Driskell, Salas & Driskell (2018), despite being in the golden age of publications on this subject, much of the results are preliminary and point to the need for further research.

Therefore, in this paper we make a contribution to research into the area through an experience of educational innovation in which we value the satisfaction of a group of students with the introduction of teamwork through a collaborative software open.

Background

Europe's higher education system must face in the coming years major challenges linked, among others, through innovation, persistent social divisions and the necessary counter capabilities. As noted in the communication from the European Commission on a renewed EU agenda for higher education,

"All advanced learning students, regardless of subject matter, need to acquire advanced cross-disciplinary skills and key competencies that enable them to succeed: high-level digital skills, writing and calculation, autonomy, critical thinking and the ability to problem solving are increasingly crucial attributes" (European Commission, 2017, p.5).

Among these cross-disciplinary skills, for university students the acquisition of skills related to teamwork is fundamental. These are competences that will serve not only to satisfactorily overcome their university studies but also, in a medium and long term, will be of great use in their future professional performance, as the experience carried out by Lakkala *et al.* (2017) in which they formed work teams with students of Teaching and Social Work. According to these authors, this type of work combines commitment and efficiency together with tensions and dilemmas.

Also, as it was concluded in the research of Ramírez, Rodríguez & Blotto (2016, 77), "The small group could be a first instance to validate or not a scientific proposal. The act of verbalizing arguments to a partner and receiving explanations from others provides students with the opportunity to rehearse modes of expression in scientific terms, free of charge. pressures — real or imaginary — by the presence of the teacher".

The teamwork is, therefore, one of the most effective tools in the classrooms in general and concretely, in the university ones, since it improves the academic performance of the students (Delgado Rivera *et al.*, 2017; Férez & Cutillas, 2015).

In addition, currently companies identify teamwork as one of the key capabilities for staff recruitment because, as Miller (2003) indicates, organizations base their decisions, develops strategies and measure performance workers through teamwork (Delgado Rivera *et al.*, 2017; Férez & Cutillas, 2015; Park, Kim, Park, & Park, 2015).

On the other hand, and specifying in the study presented here, in the degree in which research has been developed (Degree in Social Education), the transversal competence that refers to teamwork has been written as follows:

Value the importance of teamwork and acquire skills to work interdisciplinary within and outside organizations, from planning, design, intervention and evaluation of different programs or any other intervention that may require it.

Interest in this methodology is also present in various degrees from all areas of knowledge in Spanish Universities. The recognition of this relevance in the training of university students has inspired several innovative experiences in the university environment such as Carballo (2013), Coronado (2013); Guitert, Romeu, & Pérez-Mateo (2007); Leris, Fidalgo, & Sein-Echaluce (2014); Lozano, Romano, & Segovia (2014); Messetti, Dusi, & Rodorigo (2016) and Valiente (2013), among others.

On the other hand, the methodology of group work has some specific characteristics, of which we highlight, following Coronado (2013, p. 174), the following: motivates the students on the subject to be treated, makes the students responsible for their work, encourages the group discourse in the classroom, integrates the group comments, the students learn from their personal and group experience, encourages reflection, exchange and participation. And in the study by Putra and Fibra (2016) it was shown that group work is the main element in the generation of innovation.

These characteristics of group work make it a complex methodology that involves personal factors and interrelation with others that, at times, generates problems among the components of the group that can prevent the realization of a good job (Belando & Carrasco, 2014).

Canto et al. (2009) analyzed the most common conflicts faced by students when they work as a team. These are: imbalance in what each member of the group does, difficulty in reaching an agreement, imbalance in the levels of motivation and ambition of the members, and distrust when it comes to sharing information. However, these authors argue that the presence of conflicts should not lead teachers to give up working with this methodology, rather it should be seen as an advantage since it allows not only the learning of technical knowledge but also cross-disciplinary skills that are very useful in the professional world.

Another of these cross-disciplinary skills is, as was acknowledged in the communication of the European Commission mentioned at the beginning, digital competences. It is a fact that new technologies have transformed both learning processes and the same knowledge and skills, both in the workplace and in the development of leisure activities. In the university area of ICT management is imprescindible for all its members, both students and faculties must have adequate technology management. In the specific case of students, research shows that learning experiences through ICT are valued positively by them (Maquilón, Mirete, García, & Hernández, 2013; Rubio & Escofet, 2014).

In addition, the study carried out by Gutiérrez-Porlán, Román-García, & Sánchez-Vera (2018) it detects that university students show greater use of Internet tools for collaborative work. However, in the same study it has been detected that students do not conceive ICT as a learning space. According to this idea, another study indicates that the knowledge that students have of the tools they have at their disposal is still scarce, although students are constantly connected to the network, there are tools that are completely unknown to them and it is detected that the tools that are devote more time to those already know how to use (White & Le-Cornu, 2011).

This should lead us to reflect on whether methodologies carried out in university classrooms are consistent, or not, with the specific needs of the students. For example, the study carried out by Vilches Vilela & Reche Urbano (2019) shows that the use of WhatsApp as a group work tool limits the relationships between group participants and communication processes. Therefore, as teachers we must improve the vision that students have towards ICT and the network, bringing their perception closer to that of an effective and adequate collaborative learning space.

"Collaborative technological tools can generate new learning scenarios derived from the impact that the evolution of communications has had on the way people work and on the structure of organizations" (Muñoz-Repiso, Martín, & Payo, 2012, p. 162).

7.2. Methodology

Considering the scenario described above mind, it has drawn up an exploratory-descriptive study, where you want to study student satisfaction with the methodology of teamwork, through a technological tool in a subject's degree of Social Education.

In the study we have combined two complementary research methodologies, since two major objectives are proposed with each of the parties. On the one hand, exploratory designs are used in order to prepare the ground for future research and are, generally, the antecedent to any other study. This design is used when the research plan is to examine a field little studied and, therefore, there are many questions unanswered (Hernández, Fernández, & Baptista, 2014). On the other hand, the descriptive designs, the same authors define them as the investigation that tries to describe situations, contexts or events.

For all the above, this type of study has been selected to obtain an approximation to the satisfaction and technological learning that students have when an innovative element is introduced in the university classroom. In addition, this study may allow the implementation of a larger experiment in the future in which we can have control groups to improve the results and study in depth the effect that the introduction of technologies for group work in the classroom, may have in the development of students. For this, the following objectives are proposed:

- Know the satisfaction with the subject of the students.
- Know the satisfaction with the selected tool for time management.
- Evaluate the degree of knowledge of students after the use of this tool.
- Measure the evolution of learning perceived by students.

The experience was carried out in the subject "Planning and management of socio-educational programs", where the teaching methodology was adapted to introduce the use of the Trello tool as a means to elaborate group work.

The selection of the tool to use is a fundamental aspect in the study, since it must meet a series of criteria, as evidenced in a previous study (Belando-Montoro & Carrasco-Temiño, 2014), in which the characteristics of ten applications that facilitate group work were analyzed. It was demonstrated that the use of the selected tool (Trello) was quite simple, free and, although part of its software is in English, it allows to rename both the boards and the lists and tasks, which allows students to adapt it to their needs. To this is added the fact that the way of visualizing the pending tasks is very intuitive and the monitoring by the teacher can be done quite easily. When starting the course/project/work, Trello it acts as if it was a mind map because it allows to put all the ideas on the cards for individual tasks, then sort or prioritize them according to importance or due dates and add attachments (Woods, 2017).

No control has been in the study, only the experimental group. This supposes a limitation for the interpretation of the data, since it can not be indicated that the results are due to the implementation of said tool. However, for the implementation of further studies to develop this methodology, it is you study may provide a basis that offers data and interesting tracks on various issues.

A survey was conducted at the beginning of the course and another at the end, which was completed in the computer room of the Faculty of Education through Google, so that all students had the opportunity to participate in the study.

This study has a great relevance, since it allows us to detect the satisfaction of the students with teaching innovations in the classroom and, therefore, to develop more and more and better methodologies to use in the classroom.

Sample

The sample consists of students enrolled in the 4th semester of Grade in Social Education at the Complutense University of Madrid of tomorrow's group. In the pre-test, 42 subjects participated and in the post-test the sample was reduced to 29 students. This mortality of the sample is the cause of the evolution of the students in the subject, since the post-test was applied at the end of the semester and in these last days the students begin to be absent from the classes for the preparation of exams and/or endof-course assignments.

Instrument

The instrument used for this study is a self-made questionnaire, both in the pre-test and in the post-test. A series of demographic questions were asked about the availability of ICT for students and other questions structured in three blocks:

- Technological competences of students
- Previous ideas about program development
- Satisfaction in the knowledge of ICT

The measured items are presented on a scale of 1 to 4, where 1 means "nothing true" and 4 "very true". For the posttest, questions about the availability of ICT for students technological skills of students and more general questions related to the skills associated with the subject remained were removed. In addition, in the section of previous ideas about the preparation of programs, items related to the subject to be taught were kept and questions about satisfaction with the class taught were added. Finally, in the section on satisfaction with ICT knowledge, a large part of the questions is eliminated, adding three on satisfaction with the teamwork tool and time management used.

Process

The data obtained were grouped, tabulated and analyzed with the statistical package SPSS, where all the results presented below were elaborated. On the one hand, a descriptive statistic was carried out and, on the other hand, pre-experimental statistics with a pretest-posttest design with a group. The statistical tests used were the T-Student for related samples and the Wilcoxon test based on the homogeneity of variances between the different variables.

7.3. Results

Regarding the results of the study, the first thing that was analyzed was the familiarity that students have with new technologies, so that we could guarantee the continuity of experience in their home, since they had enough knowledge to perform this experience. 95% of the students of the subject indicate that they have a computer at home and 90% indicate having internet at home. However, regarding the use of computer class in the faculty, almost 74% of them say they do not use it. These data are consistent it each other and we can see that students have technological support at home that permit them properly and follow the class from their homes and have no need to use the computer classroom of the faculty.

It was also necessary to discover the technological competences of the student that they had at the beginning of the semester to adapt the training in the selected ICT tool, as well as in other adjacent resources that might be needed for an adequate use of the subject.

To do this several questions about skills and competencies related to the management of computers that are detailed in the Graphic 1. In this, as it can be seen by the responses provided by students, they have a high knowledge of management information systems in general. This level can be classified as a user level, since the resolution of problems in the computer does not obtain a score as high as the rest, which indicates a lack of more advanced knowledge. It should also be noted that also get a low score paragraph consulting them on the use of leaves c to calculation, confirming knowledge to indicate user level.

Finally, the item is staked referred to knowledge of collaborative work programs, where the average score does not reach the value of 2. This indicates that students have a generic knowledge about the use of new technologies, but do not know specialized programs that can support them in their work professional as collaborative work tools could be.



Graphic 1. Technological skills of students.

Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies

For the pretest-postest analysis of the results obtained, it is necessary to verify the normality of variances in the sample previously, using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. This test has indicated a significance of less than 0.05 in all items included in the questionnaire, so the sample does not follow a normal distribution.

Based on this result, it is determined to perform the contrast of the differences between the pretest and the posttest through the non-parametric Wilcoxon test in all the comparative variables. In this test it has indicated a significance less than 0.05 in all the items included in the questionnaire, so the sample does not follow a normal distribution.

With respect to the ranges of the variables, it must be indicated that in the variables analyzed in pretest and posttest, better values are detected in the posttest. Although the absence of a control group, we can not state that this improvement is due to the application of the methodology, but a set of factors influencing the student. Next, the variables analyzed and the results in each of them are detailed.

In the item, "You are able to coordinate a group activity carried out on the internet" we found 19 positive and 2 negative ranges and according to the Z statistic and its associated p, we can affirm that there are statistically significant differences in the pre-test and post-test measurements and the number of positive ranges indicate that the scores are higher in the post-test. Specifically, the average of this item in the pre-test is 2.49 and in the post-test a value of 3.28 is obtained. Therefore, in the post-test students perceive greater ability to coordinate team activities with their peers that can be done through the internet.

Rang				
		Ν	Average Range	Sum of ranges
You are able to coordinate a group activity carried out on the Internet, for example in an electronic forum. PRETEST- You are able to coordinate a group activity carried out on the Internet, for example in an electronic forum. POSTEST	Negative ranges	19a	11,42	217,00
	Posive ranges	2ь	7,00	14,00
	Ties	7c		
	Total	28		
a. PRETEST < POSTEST				
b. PRETEST > POSTEST				

c. PRETEST = POSTEST

Test statisticsa

	You are able to coordinate a group activity carried out on the Internet, for example in an electronic forum. PRETEST- You are able to coordinate a group activity carried out on the Internet, for example in an electronic forum. POSTEST
Ζ	-3,645b
asymptotic significance (bilateral)	.000
a. rank test of Wilcoxon b. It is based on positive ranges	

Figure 1. Wilcoxon 1 test

It was also investigated in the knowledge that the students had before and after the subject, on computer programs in which they could share information on the network with the rest of their classmates. In this case, 15 positive and 3 negative ranks were obtained, as shown in Figure 2, and we can confirm through the Z statistic, that students obtain higher scores in the question after the subject. In the initial questionnaire, an average of 3.12 was obtained and after the subject rose to 3.55, therefore, at the end of the subject they affirmed have knowledge about computer programs with which they can share information on a network with their peers.

		Ν	Average Range	Sum of ranges
You know computer programs to share information on the network with your colleagues PRETEST - You know computer programs to share information on the network with your colleagues POSTTEST	Negative ranges	15a	9,80	147,00
	Posive ranges	3b	8,00	24,00
	Ties	10c		
	Total	28		
a. PRETEST < POSTEST				
b. PRETEST > POSTEST				

c. PRETEST = POSTEST

Test statisticsa



Figure 2. Wilcoxon 2 test

It was also examined if the students make use of the existing cloud storage systems, since for the development of the subject they required to have an account in these types of system together with their peers. In this case, 20 negative and 2 positive ranges were obtained, which, together with the significance of the lower *alpha* sta-

tistic, indicates that there were better results in the post-test questionnaire. The mean in this case also shows an important increase, since it goes from 2.05 in the pre-test to 3.21 in the post-test.

		N	Average Range	Sum of ranges
	Negative ranges	20a	12.05	241,00
Easily use cloud storage systems PRETEST - Easily use cloud storage systems POSTTEST	Posive ranges	2ь	6,00	12,00
	Ties	5c		
	Total	27		
a. PRETEST < POSTEST				
b. PRETEST > POSTEST				

c. PRETEST = POSTEST

Test statisticsa



Figure 3. Wilcoxon 3 test

To conclude the analysis of the results, in the section on technological skills of students, they were asked about the knowledge about conducting consultations in national and international databases. The statistic of both items is significant, indicating the positive and negative ranges of these, which improved the results after the subject, since their means are higher in the post-test, as can be seen in the following table.

Table	1. N	Лedia	know	ledge	databases
-------	------	-------	------	-------	-----------

	Pretest	Postest
You know how to consult in national databases	1.78	2.66
You know how to make queries in international databases	1.68	2.34

Satisfaction with the subject

In general, one of the objectives of the study and the project was to know the satisfaction of students with the subject, so that it can be determined whether the improvement in satisfaction is solely due to the tool used or, on the contrary, if it is due to the subject as a whole.

In this case, a good degree of student satisfaction is detected, highlighting the response received to the item: "The deliveries through the virtual market have been adequate", which is very close to 4, which is the maximum possible score (see Figure 2). The rest of the items are located in values very close to 3 of the scale, which is a positive assessment, highlighting slightly among them the item related to the knowledge acquired in the class to make an adequate evaluation of the program and / or project carried out. In addition, deviations from the data show a grouping of results, which describes homogeneity of responses among students. You can see the means in Graphic 2.



Graphic 2. Average rating of the sample on different statements regarding satisfaction with the subject

Satisfaction with the selected tool

To analyze the satisfaction that students have with the implementation of a tool like Trello in the subject, they were included in the post-test three questions as you relate with it. Next, the descriptive results that show the satisfaction of the students are detailed with the selected tool.

The first was the adequacy of the explanation of the tool to be used, since this tells us if the kind of initiation to the program that was carried out in the first days of class on the tool has been adequate (see table 2). The average is at 3.48, which is a high value considering that the measurement of the variable was of intervals with values between 1 and 4. In addition, the median reaffirms that the explanation was perceived by students as very adequate

On the other hand, they were asked if the use of Trello had allowed them to better organize the subject. On this occasion, the average stands at 2.62, which indicates that there is good satisfaction in this regard.

	The management of Trello has allowed you to better organize the subject	The explanation of Trello has been adequate	
Ν	Valid	29	29
	Lost	13	13
Half		2.62	3.48
Median		3.00	4.00
Standard deviat	ion	,942	738

Table 2. Trello. Explanation and relationship with the organization of the subject

Next, it was examined whether they considered the introduction of Trello in the subject adequate (see table 3). On this occasion, the question gave the option of yes or no, so we are going to analyze it through the percentage of both items. Students indicated that they considered adequate the introduction of Trello in the subject account for almost 83% of the sample, so we can say that the class generally agrees with the application of a task manager in subject of the way it was done.

You consider adequate the introduction of Trello in the subject					
		Frequency	Percentage	Valid percentage	Accumulated percentage
Valid	YES	24	82,76	82,76	82,76
	DO NOT	5	17,24	17,24	100.0
	Total	29	100.0	100.0	

Table 3. Pertinence of Trello in the subject

Perceived evolution

Finally, he tried to know the evolution that the students themselves perceived of their knowledge and skills after the subject. These issues allow us to be aware of the improvement students perceive about their basic computer knowledge and theoretical knowledge about socio-educational programs and projects. In addition, we wanted to know the improvement in collaborative work software skills concretely. For this, these questions were interspersed throughout the questionnaire. The results are shown in the following graphic:



Graphic 3. Average rating of the sample on different claims related to the evolution perceived by students in knowledge and skills

The highest average score is awarded to theoretical knowledge about socio-educational programs and projects, which is to be expected, since it is one of the main objectives of this specific subject. The knowledge and skills related to the collaborative learning experience through Trello obtain lower scores, but achieve the approved, since they exceed 2.5. The improvement of basic computer skills was not an objective with this experience, however, they were also questioned about it and students perceive how their knowledge has improved, since they have been forced to intensify the use of these devices for the completion of the tasks of the subject, therefore, in this item they obtain a score of 2.59. As it regards the perception of the class about their skills in software for collaborative work, here a value of 2.83 is obtained, which indicates that students perceive that they were improving their skills.

Therefore, we can conclude this section of analysis of results indicating that the students of the subject have at the beginning of it a knowledge at user level of technology in general and highlights the low score of the item referred to the knowledge of collaborative work programs. With respect to the technological competence perceived by the student before and after, we find that all the variables obtain significant differences between both measurements. Specifically, they obtain the highest score in the post-test, the question referred to the student's ability to coordinate a group activity carried out on the internet, knowledge about information programs in which to share information on the network with peers and the use of computer systems, cloud storage. Regarding the satisfaction of these students, with respect to the subject in general, the scores of all the items are close to 3, with a Likert scale of 1 to 4, positively highlighting the satisfaction with the deliveries made by the virtual campus. Now we specify the satisfaction of the selected tool and this is also positive, although not as intense as with the subject in general. Finally, the evolution of the students themselves perceive n after the experience is very positive, because the values of these items are located and n good place.

7.4. Conclusions

One of the objectives of using applications such as Trello for group work was to avoid one of the problems that arise when using this methodology, and that not all the components of the group work equally. In this way, the teacher can check the work done by each student, the internal organization of the work, and the dates of delivery of each of the tasks within the group. In addition, with this way of working, it is possible to naturalize the follow-up of group work and maintain high the level of demand of all group members during all the months the subject lasts. Moreover, and coinciding with what was demonstrated in a previous study (Carrasco-Temiño, Belando-Montoro, & García-Garzón, 2017), it can be said that this tool improves the competence of time management in students.

The positive results found on the use of Trello in the teaching of higher education coincide with the experiences of Delgado, Mesquida, & Mas (2014) focused on the follow-up of the apprehension of work teams and that of Maněna, Maněnová, Myška, & Rybenská (2015) which defends that Trello is the best tool to help students to plan their tasks well and guide them in their obligations. Also, in the studio of the Prtljaga, Nedimović, & Đorđev (2016) hold the valuable role of the use of Trello in the organization and planning of work in higher education institutions. In our case, most of the class considers the introduction of such a tool adequate, which confirms the results obtained by the mentioned authors.

In particular, our students, after passing through the subject, are more able to coordinate group activities carried out through the Internet, they know more computer programs to share information on the network with their colleagues and they use cloud storage systems more easily. Although it is true that, as we have indicated previously, we can not confirm a direct relationship between the data and the tool due to the lack of a control group. Although after the good results obtained, the realization of the same experience with the measurement of a control group is not ruled out.

In addition, data on student satisfaction indicate that the introduction of these innovations in the classroom is a strategy well accepted by students. Therefore, although Trello has been selected to be used in the work of the subject "Planning and management of socio-educational programs", as has been reported in previous pages, it is an application that can be useful for group work of any kind. subject as well as in any work environment, so the results of this research can serve as a basis for other research that aims to deepen the use of ICT tools for group work in the university field.

The advantages detected when using a web application for group work for the first time are related to the motivation and the greater involvement of the students, as well as a better distribution of tasks among the different members of the group and a more effective follow-up of the development of the works by the teacher and coordinator responsible for the group.

References

- Belando-Montoro, M. R. & Carrasco-Temiño, M. A. (2014). Una experiencia de aplicación de TIC para facilitar el trabajo en grupo en ámbitos socioeducativos. In Alonso, D. & Valiente, M. (coords.), V Encuentro Internacional de intercambio de experiencias innovadoras en la docencia. Madrid: Universidad Complutense de Madrid y Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, pp. 69-75.
- Del Canto, P., Gallego, I., López, J. M., Mora, J., Reyes, A., Rodríguez, E., Sanjeevan, K., Santamaría, E., & Valero, M. (2009). Conflictos en el trabajo en grupo: cuatro casos habituales. *Revista de Formación e Innovación Educativa Universitaria*, 2 (4), 211-226.
- Carballo, R. (2013). Aprender haciendo en grupo: experiencia innovadora. In Carballo, R. (dir.), *Aprendiendo e innovando desde la experiencia*. Madrid: Universidad Complutense de Madrid, pp 181-196.
- Carrasco-Temiño, M.A., Belando-Montoro, M. R., & García-Garzón, E. (2017). Improving students time management skills using web platforms: a critical review and educative applications. In López-Meneses, E., Sirignano, F. M., Reyes-Tejedor, M., Cunzio, M. L. & Gómez-Galán, J. (ed.), European innovations in education: research models and teaching applications. Afoe: Sevilla, pp. 187-199.
- Comisión Europea (2017). Comunicación de la Comisión al Parlamento Europeo, al Consejo, al Comité Económico y Social Europeo y al Comité de las Regiones sobre una agenda renovada de la UE para la educación superior. COM, 247 final.

- Coronado, M. G. (2013). Metodología de trabajo en grupo y desarrollo de espacios de aprendizaje e integración. In Carballo, R. (dir.), Aprendiendo e innovando desde la experiencia. Madrid: Universidad Complutense de Madrid, pp. 171-176.
- Delgado, A., Mesquida, A. L., & Mas, A. (2014). Utilización de *Trello* para realizar el seguimiento del aprendizaje de equipos de trabajo, *Actas del Simposio/Taller XX JENUI*. Oviedo: Universidad de Oviedo, pp. 53-58.
- Delgado Rivera, M., Fasce Henry, E., Pérez Villalobos, C., Rivera Fuentes, N., Salazar Saéz, P., Riquelme Vallejos, C., & Campos Cerda, I., (2017). Trabajo en equipo y rendimiento académico en un curso de kinesología empleando aprendizaje basado en equipos. *Investigación en Educación Médica*, 6 (22), 80-87.
- Driskell, J. E., Salas, E., & Driskell, T. (2018). Foundations of teamwork and collaboration. *American Psychologist*, 73 (4), 334-348. Available at http://dx.doi.org.bucm.idm.oclc.org/10.1037/amp0000241.
- Férez, P. C. & Cutillas, P. M. (2015). Trabajo en equipo frente a trabajo individual: ventajas del aprendizaje cooperativo en el aula de traducción. *Tonos Digital*, 28, 1-21. Available at https://dialnet.unirioja.es/ servlet/articulo?codigo=4952439>.
- Guitert, M., Romeu, T., & Pérez-Mateo, M. (2007). Competencias TIC y trabajo en equipo en entornos virtuales, *Revista de Universidad y Sociedad del Conocimiento*, 4 (1). Available at http://www.uoc.edu/rusc/4/1/dt/esp/guitert_romeu_perez-mateo.pdf>.
- Gutiérrez-Porlán, I., Román-García, M., & Sánchez-Vera, M. (2018). Estrategias para la comunicación y el trabajo colaborativo en red de los estudiantes universitarios, *Comunicar*, 26 (54), 91-100. Available at http://dx.doi.org/10.3916/C54-2018-09>.
- Hernández, R., Fernández, C., & Baptista, P. (2014). *Metodología de la investigación*. México: McGrall-Hill.
- Lakkala, S., Turunen, T. A., Kangas, H., Pulju, M., Kuukasjärvi, U., & Autti, H. (2017). Learning inter-professional teamwork during university studies: a case study of student-teachers' and social work students' shared professional experiences, *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 43 (4), 414-426.
- Leris, D., Fidalgo, A., & Sein-Echaluce, M. L. (2014). A comprehensive training model of the teamwork competence, *International Journal of Learning and Intellectual Capital*, 11 (1), 1-19.
- Lozano, M., Romano, I., & Segovia, M. M. (2014). Efectos del trabajo en grupo en el rendimiento académico y en el grado de satisfacción del alumnado. *Comunicación al I Seminario Iberoamericano de Innovación*

Docente de la Universidad Pablo de Olavide, 20-21 de noviembre de 2014. Available at http://riemann.upo.es/congresos/index.php/si-didoupo/sidiupo/schedConf/presentations.

- Maněna, V., Maněnová, M., Myška, K., & Rybenská, K. (2015). Comparative study of online tools in preparation for future teachers for use in cooperative learning methods. In Chan, K. (ed.), *Future Communication Technology and Engineering*. London: Taylor and Francis Group, pp. 65-68.
- Maquilón, J. J., Mirete, A. B., García, F. A., & Hernández, F. (2013). Valoración de las TIC por los estudiantes universitarios y su relación con los enfoques de aprendizaje, *Revista de Investigación Educativa*, 31 (2), 537-554.
- Miller, D L (2003). The Stages of Group Development: A Retrospective Study of Dynamic Team Processes. Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences / Revue Canadienne des Sciences de l'Administration, 20 (2), 121-134. Available at ">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1936-4490.2003.tb00698.x>">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1936-4490.2003.tb00698.x>.
- Messetti, G., Dusi, P., & Rodorigo, M. (2016). Convertirse en grupo de trabajo: Un modelo de didáctica universitaria, *Revista Interuniversitaria de Formación del Profesorado*, 86 (30.2), 147-160.
- Muñoz-Repiso, A. G., Martín, A. H., & Payo, A. R. (2012). La metodología a metodología del aprendizaje colaborativo a través de las TIC: Una aproximación a las opiniones de profesores y alumnos/Methodology of collaborative learning through ICT: An approach to the professors and students opinions. *Revista Complutense de Educación*, 23 (1), 161-188.
- Park, H.-R., Kim, C.-J., Park, J.-W., & Park, E. (2015). Effects of teambased learning on perceived teamwork and academic performance in a health assessment subject, *Collegian*, 22 (3), 299-305. Available at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2014.05.001>.
- Prtljaga, P., Nedimović, T., & Đorđev, I. (2016). Improving organization and skills of planning in higher education using new informational communicative technology. In Barković, D. & Runzheimer, B. Interdisciplinary Management Research XII. Opatija: Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osije, pp. 303-312.
- Putra, S. & Fibra, A. (2016). Teamwork as an Innovation Generator: An Analysis of Project Hatchery at Binus University International. *Pertanika Journal Social Sciences & Humanities*, 24 (S), 139-154.
- Ramírez, S., Rodríguez, J., & Blotto, B. (2016). El equipo de trabajo como estrategia de aprendizaje, *InterCambios: Dilemas y Transiciones de la Educación Superior*, 3 (1), 70-79.

- Rubio, M. J. & Escofet, A. (2014). Visiones de los estudiantes de la docencia universitaria mediada por TIC, *Pixel-Bit: Revista de Medios y Educación*, 45, 217-230.
- Valiente, M. (2013). Proyectos de innovación educativa en la Universidad. Innovaciones docentes, nuevas tecnologías, trabajo en equipo, educación en la Universidad. In Carballo, R. (dir.), Aprendiendo e innovando desde la experiencia. Madrid: Universidad Complutense de Madrid, pp. 215-222.
- Vilches Vilela, M. J. & Reche Urbano, E. (2019). Limitaciones de WhatsApp para la realización de actividades colaborativas en la universidad, RIED. *Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 22 (2), 57-77. Available at https://doi.org/10.5944/ried.22.2.3741>.
- White, D. & Le-Cornu, A. (2011). Visitors and residents: A new typology for online Engagement. *First Monday*, 16 (9). Available at http://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v16i9.3171>.
- Woods, D. (2017). Trello, The School Librarian, 65 (3), 147. Available at http://o-search.proquest.com.cisne.sim.ucm.es/docview/1939915638?accountid=14514>.

Enhancing the Student Experience: Integrating MOOCs into Campus-Based Modules

NICHOLAS FAIR

n.s.fair@soton.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0003-1566-4689 University of Southampton MANUEL LEÓN-URRUTIA

m.leon-urrutia@soton.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-6358-7617 University of Southampton

Lisa Harris

I.j.harris@soton.ac.uk Orcid: 0000-0002-9586-7453 University of Southampton

Abstract

Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) are continuing to expand in Higher Education Institutions (HEIs). In some cases, these courses are becoming integrated into institutions, to such an extent that they are being incorporated in the on-campus curriculum. There are a range of benefits which learners can enjoy when undertaking a university module in which participating in a MOOC is part of the syllabus, such as participating in wider learning communities, and accessing state-of-the-art learning materials. However, at the moment it is not easy to evaluate the outcome of integrating MOOCs into traditional university modules, as there is not yet a great deal of research reporting on the area. To address this research gap, this paper reports on a socio-technical intervention in which 46 undergraduates on the Online Social Networks module at the University of Southampton also had the Learning in the Network Age and Power of Social Media FutureLearn MOOCs, and an offline support programme, integrated into the syllabus for revision purposes. Learners were surveyed before the module started to establish their prior experience of and attitudes to MOOCs. In order to reach an assessment of the effectiveness of the intervention, the module final grades and result profile, the learners assessed reflections and the anonymized end-of-module feedback forms were analyzed. The module grade average increased by three percent, moving up a band, and the number of top grades awarded doubled. However, learner reflections and feedback were rather more mixed, with equal numbers of learners finding MOOCs of great value for deepening understanding as those who gained little benefit from the experience. Such diversity of outcomes led the researchers to a discussion of the barriers affecting a socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning.

Keywords: MOOCs, networked learning, blended learning

8.1. Introduction

The web has already had a transformative effect on most aspects of modern life, work and education, and Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) have not been exempt from this process. According to Sir Tim Berners-Lee (2000), the web was originally created as a system for CERN researchers to share their findings and thereby learn from one another - a global learning tool. Equally, the Innovating Pedagogy Report (Sharples et al, 2014) recently identified "massive open social learning" as the innovation most likely to have a significant impact upon education. It is unsurprising therefore that a plethora of formal and informal, profit and notfor-profit online services targeted at teaching and/or learning have continued to spring up in the years since the creation of the web. Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) form one type of online teaching and learning approach and have now begun to move from an emerging technology to a maturing feature of the educational sector. A 2013 review of MOOCs by the UK's (then) Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) suggested that,

There is consensus that MOOCs, correctly deployed, do offer education institutions a useful lever for restructuring and transition. On balance, the literature expresses the view that MOOCs will probably not threaten traditional forms of University teaching in the short term, but a significant sub-group of credible writers forsees wide and sudden changes and disruptions to HEIs from MOOCs. (p. 6)

In the four years since the review, forward thinking HEIs have begun to move beyond a focus on online file storage towards harnessing the potential of digital technologies to support social, collaborative learning on a global basis. A growing number are putting MOOCs at the heart of their online education strategy as the building blocks of flexible, networked curricula and collaborative partnerships (e.g. the Universities of New South Wales and Deakin in Australia, and most recently Leeds and Coventry Universities in the UK). Every programme in UNSW is developing an integrated curriculum framework that combines free MOOCs, traditional modules and professional development elements according to its specific requirements. However, this forward thinking is not yet typical across the HE sector generally.

MOOCs were primarily conceived as externally facing educational initiatives in HEIs (Davis et.al. 2014) (although they have subsequently also been used internally as testing grounds for educational innovation (Leon, et.al. 2015)). The most common model for the development of MOOCs is a partnership between HEIs and bespoke platforms, such as FutureLearn, Coursera, or EdX, who host the educational content produced by the HEI's academics, and provide them with a specific interface. There is another model by which a university produces a course and the materials and activities of which are distributed across different applications, usually through social media. These two formats have been categorized as xMOOCs and cMOOCs respectively (Rodriguez, 2012). Both formats have the university as the content provider, and as a key stakeholder, and have the potential to "drive innovation and experimentation, leading to improved learning and lower costs and a managed restructuring" (BIS, 2013, p. 6) for the HE sector.

Mainly due to the fact that these courses are massive and open, many opportunities have been identified as a result of the integration of these courses within on-campus modules. However, as the BIS Review (2013, p.6) suggests, "There is as yet no agreed satisfactory system of measurement for assessing the quality of MOOCs from the learners' point of view". This paper aims to build on a small but growing body of research evaluating the effectiveness of integrating MOOCs into traditional university modules. The objective is to investigate whether blending MOOCs into a traditional module as a revision tool positively impacts learning. It will begin with a brief history of MOOC developments and a socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning, before reviewing the results of earlier work in this area. It will then report on a MOOC intervention in which 46 undergraduates on the 'Online Social Networks' module had the Learning in the Network Age and Power of Social Media FutureLearn MOOCs integrated within the syllabus and module activities. Finally, it will evaluate the lessons learned and discuss some of the barriers to wider adoption.

A brief history

Although the first courses categorized as MOOCs did not include campus-based students, they did integrate enrolled paying students with open online learners (Downes, 2008). Downes reported on the experience of a course entitled Connectivism and Connective Learning, in which one version of the course featured a paid enrolment, capped at 25 online students, and another version was free and had an enrolment of nearly 3000 learners. As a manifestation of Connectivism (Siemens 2005a), learners in both versions interacted with each other through a set of distributed open online tools, mainly chats, blogs, and even in virtual worlds such as Second Life.

A different approach to the open online course flourished a few years later. In 2011, leading universities such as MIT and Stanford started to liaise with MOOC platform providers such as EDx and Coursera to offer platform-centered courses to tens and even hundreds of thousands of students (Davis et.al. 2014). These courses were categorised as xMOOCs, as opposed to the above described connectivist MOOCs (cMOOCs) (Rodríguez, 2012), and many universities adopted them as part of their strategy. Both cMOOCs and xMOOCs are open, online and externally facing. This feature motivated many universities to adopt them for achieving outreach and visibility, (León et.al. 2015), but there were other drivers. For example, MOOCs provide opportunities to interact with high numbers of learners other than those on-campus (*ibid*), as well as opportunities to for educators to wrap their materials in flipped and blended learning experiences on-campus (Koller, 2012).

At first glance, it may seem that early connectivist MOOCs were conceived as interactive experiences between university learners and a wider, diverse learning community, whereas later platform-centered MOOCs ran the risk of being perceived as a means of expansion and colonialism (Daniel, 2012). However, this distinction does not align with the numerous mission statements of xMOOC stakeholders and there is also variation between the connectivity offered by courses and platforms within the xMOOC model itself. It may also be the case that sometimes MOOC participants themselves voluntarily choose to connect with coursemates through alternative platforms. For example, a learner on the Learning in the Network Age MOOC (FutureLearn / University of Southampton) chose to start a Facebook page for the MOOC with the express intention of providing a means for interested learners and the educators to stay in contact once the MOOC was ended. Many MOOCs also feature a course Twitter hashtag to provide non-platform-based communication avenues, or include links out to quizzes, surveys or others hosted on third party platforms. There is also an increasing blurring of in-platform communication and activity and out-platform interactions, which may be voluntary or formal.

In summary, MOOCs in 2017 can mainly be considered as platform-centred services developed in partnership between a MOOC provider and a university, each located at different points along the spectrum of strict xMOOC to strict cMOOC according to appropriacy, capability and intent. They are primarily externally facing resources, but are starting to become used for internal purposes. As such, they provide fertile ground for providing a gateway through which universities can transition towards a socio-technical approach the HE teaching and learning.

A socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning

Developing from the fields of Science and Technology Studies (e.g. Bijker *et al*, 1987; Hughes, 1987) and Actor Network Theory (e.g. Callon, 1986; Latour 1987, 1990; Law, 1992), a socio-technical system may be best defined as one which "focuses on the interdependencies between and among people, technology and the environment" (Cummings, 1978). Socio-technical theory tells us that the development of society and the development of technology is interdependent, with each impacting the other in complex and inseparable ways at Niche, Regime and Landscape levels (Geels, 2002). At the level of the individual, personal development can not be separated from the technologies which are available to that individual and the societies in which the individual exists. When applied to education, this approach recognizes that learning becomes something an individual accomplishes inseparably from their technology and their social context.

Evolving from the learning theory of Social Constructivism as expressed in Communities of Practice (Vygotsky, 1978; Lave, 1991; Lave & Wenger, 1991), Connectivism (Siemens, 2005a, 2005b; Downes, 2006) underpins the socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning. Connectivism suggests that "knowledge is distributed across a network of connections, and therefore that learning consists of the ability to construct and traverse those networks" (Downes, 2007) and that "knowledge and skills emerge from making connections between different domains of activity such as experience, learning and knowledge, as well as between individuals in a social network. It foregrounds learners' exposure to social and cultural experiences, rather than their exposure to didactic transmission or self-directed enquiry" (BIS, 2013, p. 13). Connectivism recognizes the role of forming networks of connections as the process of learning and places equal emphasis on those connections being face-to-face or through technologies. As such, it is the learning theory perhaps best placed to reflect a modern society often described as consisting of networked individuals (Wellman & Rainie, 2012) learning, living and working in a network society (Castells 1996).

The socio-technical umbrella broadly encompasses many well-established and researched efforts to maximise the potential of technology for teaching and learning, including movements around Technology-enhanced Learning (TEL) (e.g. Goodyear & Retalis, 2010), blended learning (e.g. Garrison & Vaughan, 2008), online educational tools (e.g. MOOCs, Khan Academy, etc.), networked learning (e.g. Richardson & Mancabelli, 2011) and Connectivism (Siemens, 2005a, 2005b). Beyond their commitment to the centrality of technology, these movements are also linked by a view that learning is not about passively consuming content provided by tutors.

Rather, learning is social, networked and technological where individuals collaboratively discover, share, discuss, reflect and learn in harmony with their technologies. Socio-technical approaches move beyond the received wisdom of "the sage on the stage" - instead it is about actively participating in learning at times, places and contexts of the learner's choosing. As Mazur (2012) notes, "Active learners take new information and apply it, rather than merely taking note of it. Firsthand use of new material develops personal ownership". Indeed, the author of the first MOOC (#CCK08) in 2008 emphasized the importance of these elements of MOOCs, explaining that "To date, higher education has largely failed to learn the lessons of participatory culture, distributed and fragmented value systems and networked learning." (Siemens, 2014).

MOOCs in the classroom

There have been a large number of initiatives to experiment with the incorporation of MOOCs in on-campus modules (Sandeen, 2013). These experiences have been shared in a large corpus of literature, some of which, identified by Israel et. al. (2015) are worth highlighting. For example, Caulfield et. al. (2013) report on the experience of using a Stanford MOOC as learning material in a module at a Puerto Rican university. Both the learners and the teacher benefited from the high-quality materials (videos, articles, and quizzes), although the learners did not engage in the MOOC forums. Bruff et. al. (2013) also used a Stanford MOOC in their university -Vanderbilt-, integrating it simultaneously to their module with similar results. The learners in the module were encouraged to participate in all aspects of the of the MOOC, and they did so in all of them except the forums. Another experience shared was that of Holotescu et. al. (2014), who integrated a few MOOCs from different universities in a local Learning Management System in their own institution, the Polytechnic University of Timisoara. The experience was deemed as generally positive, mainly because of the opportunity of leveraging a wide choice of materials from a wide range of MOOCs. Andone (2015) repeated the experience with a similar approach in the same institution. In both cases, several learners reported to have benefited from the participation in the interaction spaces offered by the different MOOCs in which they participated, although the most used interaction tool was the one put in place by the university, not the one put in place by the MOOCs themselves. Therefore, there was interaction through the use of MOOCs, but there was not much interaction between the university learners and the wider MOOC participants.

The last case to be reported here is that of Griffiths (2013), who used a series of MOOCs in on-campus modules as an experiment over two years. Unlike the previous cases, most of these MOOCs were created by the same university - University System of Maryland - and they were used as part of the syllabus. The results were generally positive, but students expressed dissatisfaction with the quantity of face-to-face interaction in the module, as they perceived that much of the face-to-face settings were replaced by online settings. This may indicate that prior expectations (and/or educational conditioning), such as expecting a suitable amount of face-to-face exposure to an 'expert', may lead to tension in these types of socio-technical approaches which are inevitably going to be different from traditional expectations.

8.2. Methodology

This project was conceived as a combination of research and practice, in a process that shares a great deal of elements with the socalled 'action research' methodological process. The term 'action research' was coined in the forties (Lewin, 1946), who described is as a process that takes place in most areas of social practice. Carr & Kemmis (1986) developed this concept for the area of education, providing the following definition:

"Action research is simply a form of self-reflective enquiry undertaken by participants in social situations in order to improve the rationality and justice of their own practices, their understanding of these practices, and the situations in which the practices are carried out (p. 162)

The 'action research' process is a continuous cycle that involves identifying a need, planning accordingly, deploy the plan, and evaluate it. This paper describes the first iteration of this cycle. The plans for the second iteration will be described in the 'future work' section. The first stages of this action research process, namely need identification, planning, and deployment, are described in the intervention section.

The intervention

The objective of our research was to investigate the impact of encouraging undergraduates to actively participate in two of the

University's FutureLearn MOOCs on their exam performance in the Online Social Networks module, during semester two of the 2016-17 academic year. Previous observation of this module during semester two had indicated that the long Easter break just four weeks before the exam period might be adversely impacting learners' knowledge retention, revision strategies and exam performance. The repurposing of the Learning in the Network Age and Power of Social Media MOOCs to act as an intervention aimed at reversing some of these adverse effects was developed as the first in a number of possible experimental approaches.

During the four week period between the end of the Easter break and the start of the exam period, learners were encouraged to study the MOOCs, each of which ran for two weeks, as a revision tool. The bulk of the content covered by both MOOCs had been previously covered during standard module lectures in earlier parts of the semester. To assist with individual motivation, learners were made aware that some of the exam questions would be based directly on some of the relevant MOOC activities and steps. As part of their module assessment, students also wrote a 500 word summary reflecting on the extent of the learning value they obtained from MOOC participation.

Research by Davies et al. (2012), for example, has indicated that within the UK A-level cohort, learners from certain higher socio-economic backgrounds and educational contexts were better equipped to make use of their networks of people and technologies for educational purposes, but were quite limited users of social media networks for sharing, creating and communicating. The opposite was true for those from lower socio-economic backgrounds and educational contexts, who were skilled social media users, but lacked literacies and skills in using their networks for learning. There were different expectations (of both learning and technology), different norms of behaviour, and different personal motivations which impacted the level of an individual's digital literacy and network skills.

It was therefore highly likely that not all learners on the module would have the same levels of motivation, nor of digital literacies, network skills or online confidence. As the BIS review stated of the situation in 2013, "Most studies show that the MOOC experience demands skill and aptitude in online social networking, and that these baseline capabilities are not widely enough shared for MOOCs to present a realistic format for many learners" (p.5) and that "The networking, reputational and learning skills that MOOC environments require for successful learning are an important issue." (p.8).

Consequently, an offline support programme was also developed. The timetabled face-to-face lecture sessions were repurposed to provide a more structured setting for participating in the MOOCs (as opposed to being used for independent self-study), where peers were on hand, and a teacher present to demonstrate. It was felt that this would help to encourage offline networking and situated social interactions to complement those occurring online. In addition, the inclusion of the teacher (as facilitator - there to assist with any technical issues and to guide any in depth discussions arising from the MOOC content), was also intended to be reassuring to learners with more traditional expectations.

Evaluation

In order to investigate the impact of the intervention described above, the learners were surveyed at the start of the module to establish the extent of their prior experience with MOOCs and with online learning more generally. Analyses of both the assessed reflections and the end-of-module feedback forms were conducted. Finally module grades and results profiles were compared with those of previous years.

The sample

The pre-course survey was completed by thirty-six students (18 female, 17 male, 1 trans) during the first face-to-face lecture of the Online Social Networks module in semester two 2016-17. Perhaps unsurprisingly for a module with this title and content, two thirds of respondents self-identified as somewhere on the Digital Resident side of White and Le Cornu's (2011) spectrum (67%), with only nineteen percent placing themselves on the Visitor side (the remaining fourteen percent did not complete the question).

Despite this potential sample bias towards Digital Residents and the fact that just over half the learners had participated in some form of online learning previously (53%), at the start of the course almost two thirds of the learners had, at best, only a vague
idea about what a MOOC actually was (64%); over two thirds had never studied in a blended way (i.e. a course with a mix of faceto-face and online elements) (69%); and over eight out of ten had never participated in a MOOC before (81%).

Results

Those who had completed a MOOC previously reported that they had found them useful. However, in the majority of questions, the attitude of those who had not participated in MOOCs before, unsurprisingly, indicated a lack of knowledge of the benefits/drawbacks of MOOCs ('neutral' or 'don't know' was the highest scoring category in all attitudinal questions). However, it was also clear that there was an overall positive attitude towards the potential for MOOCs to be of use. There were signs of positivity towards MOOCs being a convenient way to learn (44%), being useful for revision (36%) and being best when supported by face-to-face sessions (36%). Only one learner considered them a waste of time and inconvenient/difficult to use (3%).

Although the majority of respondents were neutral or did not know (62%), of particular interest is that when asked whether they learn more from MOOCs than from lectures, equal numbers of learners strongly or partially agreed (19%) as strongly or partially disagreed (19%). This suggests that for some the use of MOOCs as a replacement for traditional lectures may well be a divisive issue and of mixed benefit. Nevertheless, overall the survey showed that despite a largely Digital Resident cohort, starting knowledge of MOOCs was low and that attitudes towards them were consequently neutral or unknown. However, those with a view on MOOCs were generally well predisposed towards them as a potentially useful learning method.

The question of whether the integration of the MOOCs as a revision tool translated into better academic performance can be first seen through a comparison of module results from the same semester in previous years (Figure 1 below).

The figure shows that the percentage of learners achieving the highest grade band doubled in 2017. In addition, there was an increase in learners gaining a 2,i (60-69%) and a significant decrease in the number gaining a 2.ii (50-59%), leading to an average grade improvement of three percent. This equated to the movement of the module average grade upwards a grade band.



Figure 1. module results pre and post intervention

Clearly caution must be exercised here as a whole host of other mitigating factors may also have had an effect, including the different people involved (the learners), improved teacher/module experience, different exam questions, different marking teams, different performance in other parts of the module assessment, different personal, social and contextual influences on the exam day... and so on. This may be mitigated to a degree by the the fact that the previous two years profiles (2015 & 16) were remarkably similar. Nevertheless, no definitive causal significance can be attached to the changes having resulted from the MOOC intervention. However, it does seem that the increase in the award of 70-79% grades is significant and that the direction of travel is positive, providing some possible weight to the beneficial impact of the intervention.

However, it is important to explore this possibility further by cross-referencing this with what the learners actually reported of their experiences. The first set of data to turn to is the reflective writing assessment which learners on the module were required to submit as part of their assessment activities. It is important to note that as a formal assessment activity, there may have been a perception on the learner's behalf that they should write what they think the tutors would like to hear. Whether this occurred or not was beyond the scope of this data to capture, however, it is necessary to keep in mind that there may be some task bias in effect.

The first aspect learners were invited to reflect on was the *specific value* which they felt they had received from participating in the MOOC as a revision tool. Interestingly, only 72% of the learners actually commented directly on this, although of those who did several commented in multiple ways. This could be interpreted positively - nearly three quarters of the learners considered the MOOC valuable - or it could be seen more negatively - just over a quarter gained no value from the experience. In fact, what this suggests is a mixed picture, although with a weighting towards it being a positive experience.

The comments were then grouped by theme in four broad areas arising from the analysis as follows:

- General features of being an online course
- Knowledge and understanding of content
- Multimedia aspects of the MOOC
- Interaction and participation
- The results can be seen in the chart below (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Reflections on the specific value of MOOC participation for learners

The results indicate that 72% of comments focussed on how the MOOC (and its audio and video) helped learners to gain a deeper understanding of the topic and explore more deeply into course content and concepts. Example comments in this area provides insight when the learners wrote:

I was able to deepen my understanding in a more connected way.

The idea that learning is occurring all around me had not occurred to me before, which is why developing my PLN [Personal Learning Network] had such a profound effect on me.

The MOOC was undoubtedly significant in extending my learning network to the digital environment in addition to the lecture theatre.

Using a networked learning approach makes everyone a teacher in their own unique fields, with the exchange of these experiences helping the learning of all involved.

This may suggest that, for some at least, the network learning approach added value to their depth of understanding. It may also be one possible reason for the doubling in top grades awarded for the module this year.

Learners also commented on the value of having access to a range of perspectives from a global cohort, with a number of them choosing to reflect specifically on the value they received from both *reading* the MOOC discussions (48%) and *contributing* to them (30%). On reading the discussions, example learner comments included:

The discussions surprised me with how much they furthered my knowledge. They gave insights and different perspectives that I would not have considered before.

The main benefit has been in signposting areas that I need to understand more, and having a huge community on hand to help.

Concerning contributing to discussions, comments included:

By engaging with one of the learners who shared his knowledge, he gave me pointers to interesting and relevant contemporary essays – this is something that cannot be incorporated into a printed textbook.

I'm not confident asking questions in class but I got a lot of value from contributing to MOOC discussions.

Interacting with others to explore the content leads towards a higher quality learning experience.

These comments may suggest, that for some at least, the social learning approach, mediated through technology, also added value to the learning experience. This may be another reason why the module results showed an improvement this year.

However, it is important to note that there were many learners who did not contribute to discussions, citing a preference for lurking, a lack of confidence and a lack of time as the reasons. It was also felt that discussions on the MOOC moved on too rapidly, so late-comers were less likely to receive replies to the comments they did contribute. Some learners also felt that the discussions were often *fragmented and not always followed through, hence of limited use* (learner comment). More generally, others reported finding themselves easily distracted, outside their comfort zone, or that it was hard to learn from a screen alone. Indeed, nine percent of learners explicitly stated that they felt a mix of online and offline was best.

As a further reference point, this time one without the potential task bias of the assessed reflections above, the anonymous end-of-module feedback forms provide additional data. Nineteen learners (41%) completed the feedback forms, with twenty-five percent reporting the MOOCs as the best feature of the module. One example learner commented, *"The MOOC's were extremely helpful in developing knowledge from lectures and good to use when revising"*. Taken as percentage of the total cohort, a little over eleven percent clearly found the MOOCs of considerable value to their learning.

However, an almost equal percentage of feedback respondents (23%) felt that how to use the MOOCs effectively had not been made clear enough and that they had not taken the maximum value from them. An example comment along these lines was, *"The use of the MOOC was not made that clear and the lectures seemed to cover most of what was online"*. It may be the case that these learners failed to take advantage of the weekly face-to-face support sessions which were an important part of the intervention design, nevertheless, for this eleven percent of the total cohort the integration of the MOOCs did not add value. Future interventions could be

improved by developing more effective support programmes that reach out to all.

There may be interesting parallels between the equal percentages of the cohort who found the intervention beneficial (and not), with the equal percentages of learners who *before the start of the module* either strongly or partially agreed (and disagreed) with the idea that MOOCs were more effective than traditional lectures for learning purposes (anonymisation makes a correlation impossible to confirm). This raises the intriguing possibility that prior positive/negative attitudes towards MOOCs may directly correlate to the value a learner can extract from a socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning. Future studies exploring this would be useful.

In summary, the data concerning the effectiveness of the socio-technical intervention (the integration of the MOOCs into the module and the accompanying support programme) indicates a somewhat mixed picture. At the start of the module the majority of learners considered themselves to be somewhere on the Digital Resident side of the Resident-Visitor spectrum, the starting knowledge and experience of MOOCs was low and attitudes towards them were consequently neutral or unknown. Module results data, importantly, nevertheless indicated that there was a noticeable improvement in the 2017 module results profile compared with the two previous years, with a significant doubling in the number of top grades awarded. Although there may be a range of factors which could have impacted this, the fact that the previous two years profiles were remarkably similar provides some weight to the positive impact of the intervention. In addition, the data also suggests that in a majority of cases the integration of the MOOC helped learners to deepen their understanding, which may be reflected in the improved module results profile. In addition, both the network learning and social learning opportunities afforded by the MOOC were valued by learners. However, this was far from universal, with some learners not supported enough through the process, not valuing the MOOC discussions or the online nature of the MOOC, and a number deeming a mix of online and offline to be best. It may also be the case that prior attitudes towards MOOCs (or even online learning and the web more generally) impact on the value a learner can gain from these types of socio-technical interventions.

8.3. Discussion

It is perhaps not surprising that for individual learners the integration of the MOOCs into the module timetable produced mixed results. For some learners the intervention and the network and social learning approaches were highly beneficial, adding to depth of understanding and the range of perspectives and people they were exposed to. For others, it was unclear how the MOOCs should be used or what learning value they would bring. They were something outside their comfort zone and different from the norm. Even within a predominantly Digital Resident cohort, attitudes towards MOOCs, digital literacy levels, and network skills can not be considered equal. We each have our digital differences.

This finding illuminates two very important barriers to the more widespread adoption of socio-technical teaching approaches in HEIs. The first is that learner's attitudes to MOOCs, online learning and the web in general are likely to be shaped by previous experience and knowledge. Innovative interventions such as this one will tend to cause some students to have to leave their comfort zone, with potentially mixed results. For those conditioned to learning in the traditional modes and equipped with prior expectations of what it means 'to be taught and to learn', (expectations which may only be heightened by the contractual, transactional nature of the current HE model), having to move into less familiar contexts in which their traditional expectations are less clearly matched to the reality of their learning process, can have negative results. The negative impact on the learners however may be more perceived than real, as the improved module results profile may suggest.

The second barrier is that learner's digital literacies levels and network skills are also likely to be very different and perhaps for some more aligned to traditional educational contexts. Through their prior schooling, with its necessary focus on content-led, exam-driven teaching approaches, learners come to university equipped with the literacies to thrive in those settings. While digital literacies are developed by individuals through their own online activities and increasingly encouraged in formal schooling, it still remains largely the case that "the literacies and skills required to benefit from MOOCs are very specific... [and] ...it is also likely that primary and secondary education curricula are not addressing these learning skills adequately" (BIS, 2013). Therefore, when asked to participate in innovative HE modules some learners may find themselves with a reduced suite of literacies and skills to deploy, or reduced levels of self-confidence in their literacies and skills, which may have a negative impact for that learner.

This therefore leads to a catch-22 situation for HEIs, who understandably need firm evidence of the benefits of adopting a socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning as a route to improved achievement and satisfaction. The catch: for as long as innovative modules featuring MOOCs remain the exception rather than the norm in an undergraduate's learning experience and for as long as little explicit effort is made to address the differences in learner's digital literacies and network skills, the results of research is always likely to indicate, put simply, that there are some who love it, most who are neutral, and some who hate it. Or, more reasonably, some who significantly benefit from it, many who benefit a little from it and some who do not benefit from it at all.

8.4. Conclusion and future work

In conclusion, there is some promising evidence from this study that the integration of MOOCs into university modules, in this case as a revision tool, does positively impact the module results profile (e.g. double the number of firsts in 2017 compared with previous years) as it can deepen learning and increase the range of perspectives and people learners are exposed to. The social and network learning approach is also of benefit to some learners, while structural and contextual factors create digital differences (in attitudes to MOOCs, digital literacies levels and network skills), which may be a barrier to the benefits being felt by all learners. More learner familiarity with socio-technical learning and more focus on the development of digital literacies and network skills would be of benefit to all. However, the integration of MOOCs into university modules is not a one-size-fits-all solution to improving achievement and student satisfaction, rather the right MOOC must be deployed in the right way for the right module and cohort. It is to be hoped that this paper will contribute to the discussions concerning the effectiveness of the adoption of MOOCs for internal purposes, and more generally, the adoption of a socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning. In time, these contributions might empower those HEIs already committed to producing MOOCs to maximize their use throughout the curriculum as a gateway to providing an innovative, connected and effective learning environment for the networked students of today.

As future work, a second iteration of the aforementioned 'action research' process will take place, in which a similar intervention will be run in a different module called 'Living and Working in the Web', the tuition of which has a much higher proportion of online contact hours. The intervention is similar because the same MOOC will be integrated in the module, and students will be surveyed with similar mechanisms in order to obtain responses that will be compared to those in the previous iteration. However, few variations on the intervention will be implemented in response to the evaluation of the module discussed in this paper. For example, a great deal of the social interaction between the students will take place in the comments sections of the blogs they produce as part of their assessment, and they will be suggested to participate in the 'Learning in the Network Age' MOOC only. The purpose of this variation is achieving a more controlled environment where student interactions can be better guided and assessed. Also, the role of the MOOC both as a revision tool and as a task point of departure will be more prominent than its role as a discussion tool. This way, feedback will be addressed in response to those students who reported not being interested in participating in the open MOOC discussion forum.

References

- Andone, D., Mihaescu, V., Ternauciuc, A., & Vasiu, R. (2015). Integrating MOOCs in Traditional Higher Education. In *Proceedings of the Third European Summit of MOOCs Stakeholders* (pp. 71-75).
- Berners-Lee, T., Fischetti, M., & Foreword By-Dertouzos, M. L., 2000. Weaving the Web: The original design and ultimate destiny of the World Wide Web by its inventor. Harper Information.
- Bijker, W. E., Hughes, T. P., & Pinch, T. J. (eds.) (1987). *The social construction of technological systems: New directions in the sociology and history of technology.*

- Bruff, D. O., Fisher, D. H., McEwen, K. E., & Smith, B. E. (2013). Wrapping a MOOC: Student Perceptions of an Experiment in Blended Learning, *MERLOT, Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 9 (2), 187-199.
- Callon, M. (1986). Some elements of a sociology of translation: domestication of the scallops and the fishermen of St. Brieuc Bay, *Power, action, and belief: A new sociology of knowledge,* 32, 196-223.
- Castells, M., 1996. The network society (vol. 469). Oxford: Blackwell.
- Caulfield, M., Collier, A., & Halawa, S. (2013). Rethinking online community in MOOCs used for blended learning, *Educause Review Online*, 1-9. Available at http://er.educause.edu/articles/2013/10/rethinking-online-community-in-moocs-used-for-blended-learning>.
- Carr, W. & Kemmis, S. (2003). Becoming critical: education knowledge and action research. Routledge.
- Cummings, T. G. (1978). Self-regulating work groups: A socio-technical synthesis. *Academy of Management Review*, 3 (3), 625-634.
- Davis, H., Dickens, K., León-Urrutia, M., Sánchez Vera, M. del M., & White, S. (2014). MOOCs for Universities and Learners An analysis of motivating factors. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Computer Supported Education*. Barcelona. Available at http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/363714/1/DavisEtAl2014MOOCsCSEDUFinal.pdf>.
- Davis, H. C., Halford, S. J., and Gibbins, N. (2012). Digital natives? Investigating young people's critical skills in evaluating web based information. In *Proceedings of the 4th Annual ACM Web Science Conference*. ACM, pp. 78-81.
- Downes, S. (2006). Learning networks and connective knowledge, *Collective Intelligence and Elearning*, 20, 1-26.
- (2007). What Connectivism is. Available at <http://halfanhour.blogspot.co.uk/2007/02/what-connectivism-is.html>.
- (2008). Places to GO: Connectivism & connective knowledge. Innovate, 5 (1).
- Garrison, D. R. & Vaughan, N. D. (2008). Blended learning in higher education: Framework, principles, and guidelines. John Wiley & Sons.
- Geels, F. W. (2002). Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: a multi-level perspective and a case-study, *Research Policy*, 31 (8), 1257-1274.
- Goodyear, P. & Retalis, S. (2010). Technology-enhanced learning. (Sense publishers).
- Goodyear, P., Banks, S., Hodgson, V., & McConnell, D. (eds.) (2006). Advances in research on networked learning (vol. 4). Springer Science & Business Media.

- Griffiths, R. (2013). MOOCs in the classroom? In Haggard, S. (ed.), *The maturing of the MOOC* (p. 9). doi: http://doi.org/10.18665/sr.24658.
- Haggard, S., Brown, S., Mills, R., Tait, A., Warburton, S., Lawton, W., & Angulo, T. (2013). The maturing of the MOOC: Literature review of massive open online courses and other forms of online distance learning. Department for Business, Innovation and Skills, UK Government.
- Hao, Y. (2014). Exploring Undergraduate Students' Perceptions of MOOCs. In World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education, vol. 2014, pp. 789-792. Available at http://www.editlib.org/p/148807/>.
- Holotescu, C., Grosseck, G., Cretu, V., & Naaji, A. (2014). Integrating MOOCs in blended courses. In *Let'S Build the Future Through Learning Innovation*!, vol. 1, pp. 243-250. doi: http://doi.org/10.12753/2066-026X-14-034.
- Hotle, S. L., & Garrow, L. A. (2016). Effects of the traditional and flipped classrooms on undergraduate student opinions and success. *Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice*, 142 (1), 5015005. doi: http://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EI.1943-5541.0000259.
- Hughes, T. P. (1987). The evolution of large technological systems. In *The social construction of technological systems: New directions in the sociology and history of technology*, pp. 51-82.
- Illich, I (1971). *Deschooling Society* (chapter 6): Learning Webs. Calder & Boyars.
- Israel, M. J. (2015). Effectiveness of integrating MOOCs in traditional classrooms for undergraduate students, *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 16 (5), 102-118.
- Kang, S.-C. J., Li, Y., & Tseng, C. (2016). The effect of soft classroom: A new learning environment integrating MOOCs into conventional classrooms for college students. In ASEE Annual Conference and Exposition, Conference Proceedings, vol. 2016-June, p. 14.
- Koller, D. (2012). How online courses can form a basis for on-campus teaching. *Forbes*.
- Latour, B. (1987). Science in Action: How to Follow Scientists and Engineers Through Society. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- (1990). Technology is society made durable, *The Sociological Review*, 38 (S1), 103-131.
- Lave, J. (1991). Situating learning in communities of practice, *Perspectives* on Socially Shared Cognition, 2, 63-82.
- Lave, J. & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge University Press.

- Law, J. (1992). Notes on the theory of the actor-network: Ordering, strategy, and heterogeneity. *Systems practice*, 5 (4), 379-393.
- Leon, M., White, S., & White, S. (2016). MOOCs in Higher Education magazines: a content analysis of internal stakeholder perspectives. Springer. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-29585-5_23.
- Lewin, K. (1946). Action research and minority problems, *Journal of Social Issues*, 2 (4), 34-46.
- Lightfoot, J. (2005). Integrating emerging technologies into traditional classrooms: a ped. *International Journal of Instructional Media*, 32 (2), 209–224.
- Linderbaum, B. A. & Levy, P. E. (2010). The development and validation of the Feedback Orientation Scale (FOS), *Journal of Management*, 36 (6), 1372-1405.
- Mazur, E. (2012). The Twilight of the Lecture', Harvard Magazine.
- Rainie, L. & Wellman, B. (2012). Networked: The new social operating system. Mit Press.
- Richardson, W. & Mancabelli, R. (2011). *Personal learning networks: Using the power of connections to transform education*. Solution Tree Press.
- Rodriguez, C. O. (2012). MOOCs and the AI-Stanford like courses: Two successful and distinct course formats for massive open online courses, *European Journal of Open Distance and ELearning*, II, 1-13. Available at http://www.eurodl.org/?article=516>.
- Sandeen, C. (2013). Integrating MOOCS into Traditional Higher Education: The Emerging "MOOC 3.0", Era, *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 45 (6), 34-39. doi: http://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2013 .842103>.
- Sharples, M., Adams, A., Ferguson, R., Gaved, M., McAndrew, P., Rienties, B., Weller, M., & Whitelock, D. (2014). *Innovating Pedagogy 2014: Open University Innovation Report 3*. Milton Keynes: The Open University.
- Siemens, G. (2004). *Connectivism. A learning theory for the digital age.* Available at <http://www. Elearnspace. org/Articles/connectivism. htm>.
- (2005a). Connectivism: Learning as network-creation, ASTD Learning News, 10 (1).
- (2005b). Connectivism: A learning theory for the digital age. Chicago
- (2014). The attack on our higher education system, and why we should welcome it, TED blog.
- Vygotsky, L (1978). Mind in Society. London: Harvard University Press.
- White, D. S. & Le Cornu, A. (2011). Visitors and Residents: A new typology for online engagement, *First Monday*, 16 (9).

9

Educational robotics and computational thinking. A didactic experience of innovation at the university level

PEDRO ROMÁN-GRAVÁN proman@us.es Orcid: 0000-0002-1646-9247 University of Seville CRISTÓBAL BALLESTEROS-REGAÑA cballesteros@us.es

Orcid: 0000-0002-9959-6953 University of Seville

CARLOS HERVÁS-GÓMEZ

hervas@us.es Orcid: 0000-0002-0904-9041 University of Seville

Abstract

Educational robotics has thrived in recent years and is now gaining increasing presence in educational centres around the world. Although it has been especially significant in stages of secondary education, numerous introductory experiences have begun to be developed in stages of early childhood and primary education. The experience presented in this chapter aims to initiate a research line of educational innovation that will be focused on the didactic integration of the following types of robots: mBot, Mouse Robot and Makey-Makey board.

Keywords: educational robotics, computational thinking, university teaching, didactic experience, innovation

9.1. Previous considerations about the development of the experience

The studies by Benitti (2012) and Alimisis (2014) demonstrate how educational robotics has thrived in recent years and is now gaining increasing presence in educational centres around the world.

Although it has been especially significant in stages of secondary education, numerous introductory experiences have begun to be developed in stages of early childhood and primary education.

In Spain, however, although educational robotics has also started to be incorporated in the classrooms, this is still being regarded as an extracurricular activity, mostly due to the boom that this technology has acquired in current society enhanced, among other factors, by the new economic and technological demands derived from an increasingly skilled labor (Smith, 2016).

The experience presented in this chapter aims to initiate a research line of educational innovation that will be focused on the didactic integration of the different types of robots that are currently in the Spanish market.

The first robot was mBot, from the Chinese manufacturer Makeblock (Figure 1), especially designed for stages of primary and secondary education and baccalaureate.



Figure 1. mBot by Makeblock (http://bit.ly/mbot-makeblock)

The second one was Mouse Robot, from the American manufacturer Learning Resources (Figure 2), very similar to the famous Beebot, but more appropriate for early childhood education and the first years of primary education.



Figure 2. Mouse Robot by Learning Resources (http://bit.ly/mouse-robot)

Lastly, we also worked with the Makey-Makey board, from Joylabz (Figure 3), a young spin-off created by two students of the MIT Media Lab of Massachusetts, U.S.A.



Figure 3. Makey-Makey board by Joylabz (http://bit.ly/placa-makey-makey)

9.2. Educational robotics and computational thinking: didactic possibilities

Currently, there is still no generally agreed definition in the scientific community to clarify the concept of educational robotics, pedagogical robotics or didactic robotics. In this sense, Pittí (2014) stated that educational robotics is a tool at the service of learning, capable of generating collaborative environments where the participants can practice the skills of the 21st century, which are known as the "4Cs": "Collaboration, Creativity, Communication and Criticism (critical thinking)".

Acuña (2012, p. 8), on the other hand, defines it as a "learning context that promotes a set of performances and skills directly related to the creation, design, construction, programing and dissemination of one's own creations, first mental, then physical, using different technological resources and materials, which can be programmed and controlled from a computer or mobile device".

Therefore, different elements are considered in both cases, such as:

- It is regarded as an interdisciplinary field.
- It requires the creation of a technological object with a specific purpose that is given, depending on the author, different names, such as educational robot, robot prototype and even those who refer to the creation of automatisms, among other considerations.
- It is used in the field of education.

It contributes to the development of key competences and skills for the students of the 21st century.

According to Bravo & Guzmán (2012) and Román & Hervás (2017), robotics in the field of education turns out to be a resource that facilitates the learning process and the development of general competences such as socialization, creativity and initiative; these competences will allow students to respond with increasing efficiency and adaptability to the shifting environments that characterize today's society. For these authors, the presence of robotics in the classroom is not exclusively limited to the mere training of students in the field of robotics. On the contrary, they aim to use its multidisciplinary nature to generate learning environments in which students can perceive the problems of the real world and, from them, imagine and formulate the possible solutions, and put them into practice to stimulate their level of involvement and motivation for the subjects they are working on.

Programing and robotics involves Computational Thinking (CT), that is, how machines and computers work, since these are

programmed by human beings. According to the European Commission (2017), programing is today's literacy and it helps developing new skills such as problem solving, team work or analytical thinking.

Atmatzidou & Demetriadis (2014) consider CT as a fundamental skill that promotes, among students, new ways of thinking in the different scientific disciplines. Yadav, Mayfield, Zhou, Hambrusch, & Korb (2014) define CT in a wider way, considering it as a mental activity that allows visualizing problems and formulating automated solutions.

In a society like the one we live in nowadays, increasingly based on information, CT is becoming an essential skill for everyone, as stated, for example, by An & Lee (2014) through the creation of an initial training course for teachers, whose purpose was the familiarization, understanding and use of CT in the classrooms.

However, despite all the highlighted virtues, the contributions of Alimisis, Moro, Arlegui, Pina, Frangou, & Papanikolaou (2007) demonstrate how most teachers still refuse to acknowledge the benefits that robotics can bring to the educational processes in the classroom and even, when they do acknowledge so, many of them claim that they are not ready to use and integrate robots didactically in their teaching and learning processes (Mataric, Koenig, & Feil-Seifer, 2007) and, consequently, to incorporate projects of educational robotics in their classrooms.

Therefore, this multidisciplinary nature of educational robotics requires teachers to acquire knowledge in this field, as well as methodological and didactic strategies, for its curricular integration in the classroom. Thus, according to Alimisis *et al.* (2007), teachers will have to accompany their students throughout the entire learning process, calculating and adjusting its needs as it develops. This process will require a constant reflection that offers the necessary information to transform the traditional method, directing it toward the promotion of activities that stimulate in students the need for learning through exploration and the search for knowledge and, thus, contribute to the development of their creative thinking and intelligence.

In fact, the study by Sullivan & Moriarty (2009) demonstrated that some teachers still feel unprepared to carry out teaching activities that involve the use of educational robotics, even after being trained in it. Kim, Choi, Han, & So (2012) also showed these flaws in Korean ICT teachers (considered, a priori, as skilled professionals in this field) and analyzed their training needs, both in programing and educational robotics and in the applicability of these in the classroom. In this regard, Greenberg, McKee, & Walsh (2013) recommend also as a strategy to limit the number of recruits for the teacher training programs.

According to Fredricks, Blumenfeld, & Paris (2004), the interest of the teacher leads to an active commitment, in general, whereas uninterested teachers have less chances of making an impact in the classrooms (Kim, Kim, Lee, Spector, & DeMeester, 2013). Therefore, robotics can be an effective tool in which teachers should become interested and learn about it (through initial and/ or continuing education), at first, and then use it in their teaching processes.

Bers (2008) stated that teacher training in robotics can also produce other positive influences in the teaching practice, such as student-targeted teaching. According to Bravo and Guzmán (2012), educational robotics can keep the attention of students. The fact that students can handle and experiment directly contributes to focus, at all times, their attention, perceptions and observations about the activity being carried out.

Despite the importance of including educational robotics in teacher training (Pittí, Curto, Moreno, & Rodríguez, 2013), there are still very few studies that focused on this matter. According to Gorman (2016), in order for educational robotics to settle naturally in the classrooms, teachers need more conviction and a lot more training.

Perritt (2010) described professional development using a learning approach based on problems along with robotics. Thus, the more confident the teachers were, the more they used robots and critical thinking in their teaching. Likewise, Osborne, Thomas, & Forbes (2010) highlighted the importance of teacher training, although they only mentioned the fact that there were workshops for teachers.

Arlegui, Pina, & Moro (2013) explained more about their teacher training, although they only provided testimonial reports about what the teachers learned and did. Therefore, teachers need to be efficiently trained in order for them to make a proper use of robotics (Bers, 2010:1). On the other hand, in the study by Agatolio, Pivetti, Di Battista, Menegatti, & Moro (2017), the participants showed greater willingness and better attitude toward robotics after receiving a training course. The teachers coincided in the conviction that robotics can improve student motivation to learn. Regarding implementation in the classroom, approximately two thirds of the participants declared that they already had an idea of how they would integrate robotics in the curriculum.

According to Artym, Carbonaro, & Boechler (2017), computational thinking has been identified by some researchers as a skill desired by students of the 21st century. The challenge for teachers will be to create learning environments that can foster the development of CT in students. Teacher training programs are a unique vehicle to integrate CT skills in their pedagogical practice. It is a clear fact that the growth and creation of employment is linked to the development of innovation in education; thereby, the introduction and training of teachers in basic knowledge of robotics in the present will have a positive impact in the progress of tomorrow's society. However, as stated by Ferreira, Ryan, & Davis (2015), the institutions that regulate the initial training of teachers are large and complex organizations, and thus, difficult to change.

Lastly, to talk about robotics involves doing so about personal skills and STEM competences, or its STEAM evolution, which is where educational environments are stressing the curriculum and programs of science, technology, engineering and mathematics. In fact, it was because of the narrow approach of STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) that educators requested a less technical approach that allowed arts, design and humanities to be included (<http://bit.ly/youtube-stem>).

This demand created the space for education in Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and Mathematics (STEAM), a more transdisciplinary approach focused on problem solving whose primary objective is to prepare students to solve urgent problems of the world through innovation, creativity, critical thinking, efficient communication, collaboration and, lastly, the active generation of new knowledge (Quigley & Herro, 2016).

9.3. A didactic experience of innovation with university students

The experience of innovation presented in this chapter was carried out during the academic year 2016-2017 in the Faculty of Education Science at the University of Seville, Spain. Two groups of students from the Degree of Early Childhood Education and another two groups from the Degree of Primary Education participated in the experience.

The groups of participants from the Degree of Early Childhood Education were constituted by fourth-year students who undertook the 6-credit basic training subject (<<u>http://bit.ly/tic-infan-</u> til-us>): "Information and Communication Technology Applied to Early Childhood Education".

The groups of participants from the Degree of Primary Education were constituted by first-year students that undertook the 6-credit basic training subject (<http://bit.ly/tic-primaria-us>): "Information and Communication Technology Applied to Education".

The experience began with a first session in which we explained to the students the meaning of CT and educational robotics (Figure 4). During this session, they were given a document that contained both the computerized collective presentation used in the session, and different texts that expanded the information presented, which they had to use during the different sessions that covered the entire experimental process.



Figure 4. José Luis Guisado, lecturer at the University of Seville, explaining what educational robotics is

Next, they were introduced to the Scratch and mBlock programing language (the Scratch version to program mBot robots), they proceeded to the assembling of the robots and then they started programing them from the basic notions received (Figure 5).

The practical lecture with mBot consisted in programing the robot in a way that this would move in different directions and even detect obstacles with the ultrasound sensors and avoid them. They also had to make the color LEDs in the top and front of the robot switch on. The following videos (<http://bit.ly/mbot-video>) show the interaction of the different groups of students with mBot.



Figure 5. Students programing the mBot with the mBlock programing language

For the learning of Scratch programing language, a simple template was used, which was provided by the non-profit organization "programamos.es" (<https://programamos.es>). Through it, the students programmed a videogame related to healthy eating, in which the famous cat had to stand beneath the fruits falling down the screen and discard the bowls full of sweets (Figure 6).

In the next stage, the students were taught (Figure 7):

- The functioning and purpose of the second robot: Mouse Robot.
- The procedure to assemble the circuit.
- How to use the orientation chips.
- How to program didactic units with Mouse Robot.

The following video (<http://bit.ly/mouse-robot-video>) shows all the details about the interaction of the students with Robot Mouse.



Figure 6. Students programing with the Scratch programing language



Figure 7. Students interacting with Robot Mouse

The third and last stage of our experience was designed for the students to learn (Figure 8):

- The functioning of the Makey-Makey board.
- Its different purposes.
- The most suitable methodological and didactic procedure for its curricular integration in the classroom program.

The practical lecture with Makey-Makey consisted in drawing arrows using a pencil (electricity conductors) and programing the board in a way that, when the different arrows touched each other, the computer would reproduce the musical instrument they had assigned: drum, cymbals, etc.



Figure 8. Students programing the Makey-Makey board with Scratch

9.4. Conclusions

In order to know in more detail the results obtained from the didactic experience of innovation, with the university students of the Faculty of Education Science at the University of Seville, Spain, we created a satisfaction survey that was administered at the end. From its analysis, the following conclusions were drawn:

a) The general degree of satisfaction shown by the students was very high, since they claimed to be very satisfied with the opportunity that the experience had offered them to interact with the robots and their corresponding applications; they even showed their desire to spend more time doing this kind of activities. Thereby, at this point, we formulate the following question: why must teachers have knowledge related to robotics?

- b) First of all, because, in the near future, society will require different jobs related to programing and machines. This will be driven by a humanity that will be increasingly computerized, as is already happening in the present, which is also leading many companies to resort to robots for the realization of logistic or marketing activities (assistant robots).
- c) The second justification is related to the development of competences (both basic and specific) in the field of education that are acquired or reinforced through programing, among which we can highlight the following: motivation, curiosity, interest, participation, collaborative work, self-learning, critical thinking, shared building of knowledge, access to new means of information and communication, application knowledge, creativity, imagination, learning how to learn, skills in and with ICT, as well as frustration tolerance, among others.
- d) Both programing and robotics constitute a booming market driven by the development of new and improved services and products. This is not only happening in sectors like manufacturing, search and rescue, health, housing, transportation and logistics, environment and agriculture, but also in compulsory education, which is where future researchers and scientists will come from.

The transversal nature of robotics is an advantageous aspect to efficiently approach the main concerns that affect us all. Thanks to this characteristic, students can involve in daily matters, such as climate change, sustainable transportation, affordable renewable energies, food safety and even safety itself. Therefore, we must hope that funding for research and innovation will grow exponentially in these areas with the aim of improving the quality of life of all citizens.

References

- Acuña, A. L. (2012). Diseño y administración de proyectos de robótica educativa: lecciones aprendidas, *Revista Teoría de la Educación: Educación y Cultura en la Sociedad de la Información*, 13 (3), 6-27. Available at http://hdl.handle.net/10366/121822>.
- Agatolio F., Pivetti M., Di Battista S., Menegatti E., & Moro M. (2017). A training course in educational robotics for learning support teachers. In Alimisis D., Moro M., & Menegatti E. (eds), *Educational robotics in the makers era*. *Edurobotics 2016*. *Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing* (vol. 560). Springer, Cham. doi: http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-55553-9_4>.
- Alimisis, D. (2014). Educational robotics in teacher education: an innovative tool for promoting quality education. In Daniela, L., Lūka, I., Rutka, L., & Žogla, I. (2014), *Teacher of the 21st century: quality education for quality teaching.* Cambridge scholars publishing, pp. 14-27.
- Alimisis, D., Moro, M., Arlegui, J., Pina, A., Frangou, S., & Papanikolaou, K. (2007). Robostics & constructivism in education: the TERECoP project. In *Proceedings of the 11th European Logo Conference*. Comenius University, Bratislava.
- An, S. & Lee, Y. (2014). Development of Pre-service Teacher Education Program for Computational Thinking. In *Proceedings of Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International.*
- Arlegui, J., Pina, A., & Moro, M. (2013). A PBL approach using virtual and real robots (with BYOB and LEGO NXT) to teaching learning key competences and standard curricula in primary level. In Proceedings of the First International Conference on Technological Ecosystem for Enhancing Multiculturality. New York: ACM, pp. 323-328. doi: http://doi.org/10.1145/2536536.2536585>.
- Artym, C., Carbonaro, M., & Boechler, P. (2017). Evaluating pre-service teachers' computational thinking skills in scratch. *Ubiquitous Learning*, 10 (2), 43-65. doi: https://doi.org/10.18848/1835-9795/CGP/v10i02/43-65.
- Atmatzidou, S. & Demetriadis, S. (2014). How to Support Students' Computational Thinking Skills in Educational Robotics Activities. In Proceedings of 4th International Workshop Teaching Robotics, Teaching with Robotics & 5th International Conference Robotics in Education.
- Benitti, F. B. V. (2012). Exploring the educational potential of robotics in schools: A systematic review, *Computers & Education*, 58 (3), 978-988. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.10.006>.

- Bers, M. U. (2008). Blocks to robots: Learning with technology in the early childhood classroom. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- (2010). The Tangible Robotics Program: Applied computational thinking for young children, *Early Childhood Research & Practice*, 12 (2). doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10758-017-9328-x.
- Bravo, F. A. & Guzmán, A. F. (2012). La robótica como un recurso para facilitar el aprendizaje y desarrollo de competencias generales, *Teoría de la Educación. Educación y Cultura en la Sociedad de la Información*, 13 (2), 120-136. Available at http://campus.usal.es/~revistas_trabajo/ index.php/revistatesi/article/view/9002/9247>.
- European Commission (2017). *Digital Single Market*. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/coding-21st-century-skill.
- Ferreira, J.A., Ryan, L., & Davis, J. (2015). Developing Knowledge and Leadership in Pre-Service Teacher Education Systems, Australian Journal of Environmental Education. doi: http://doi.org/10.1017/ aee.2015.24>.
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: potential of the concept, state of the evidence, *Review of Educational Research*, 74 (1), 59-109. doi: https://doi. org/10.3102/00346543074001059>.
- Gorman, N. (2016). Teachers want more training before introducing robots into the classroom. Available at http://www.educationworld.com/a_news/teachers-want-more-training-introducing-robots-classroom-1642632440>.
- Greenberg, J., McKee, A., & Walsh, K. (2013). *Teacher prep review 2013 report. National Council on Teacher Quality.* Available at http://www.nctq.org/dmsView/Teacher_Prep_Review_2013_Reports.
- Kim, C., Kim, M. K., Lee, C., Spector, J. M., & DeMeester, K. (2013). Teacher beliefs and technology integration, *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 29, 76-85. doi: http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2012.08.005>.
- Kim, H., Choi, H., Han, J., & So, H. J. (2012). Enhancing teachers' ICT capacity for the 21st century learning environment: Three cases of teacher education in Korea, *Australasian Journal of Educational Technol*ogy, 28 (6), 965-982. doi: https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.805>.
- Mataric, M. J., Koenig, N., & Feil-Seifer, D. (2007). Materials for enabling hands-on robotics and STEM education. In *Proceedings of AAAI Spring Symposium on robots and Robot Venues: Resources for AI Education*. Stanford, CA: American Association for Artificial Intelligence (AAAI).
- Osborne, R. B., Thomas, A. J., & Forbes, J. (2010). Teaching with robots: a service-learning approach to mentor training. In *Proceedings of the*

41st ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education. New York, NY: Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), pp. 172-176. doi: https://doi.org/10.1145/1734263.1734321>.

- Perritt, D. C. (2010). Including professional practice in professional development while improving middle school teaching in math, *National Teacher Education Journal*, 3 (3), 73-76.
- Pittí, K. (2014). Hoy hablamos con Katia Pittí, experta en robótica educativa, *DROIDE*, 2014. Available at http://droidecomunidad.com/ hoy-hablamos-con-kathia-pitti-experta-en-robotica-educativa>.
- Pittí, K., Curto, B., Moreno, V., & Rodríguez, M. J. (2013). Resources and features of robotics learning environments (RLEs) in Spain and Latin America. In Proceedings of the First International Conference on Technological Ecosystem for Enhancing Multiculturality. New York, NY, USA: ACM, pp. 315-322. doi: http://doi.org/10.1145/2536536.2536584>.
- Quigley, C. F. & Herro, D. (2016). Finding the Joy in the Unknown: Implementation of STEAM Teaching Practices in Middle School Science and Math Classrooms, *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 25 (3), 410-426. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-016-9602-z>.
- Román, P. & Hervás, C. (2017). Yes, you can: la robótica en la formación universitaria de maestr@s es posible, *Comunicación & Pedagogía*, 301-302, 49-52.
- Smith, M. (2016). *Computer science for all*. Available at <https://www. whitehouse.gov/blog/2016/01/30/computer-science-all>.
- Sullivan, F. R. & Moriarty, M. A. (2009). Robotics and discovery learning: Pedagogical beliefs, teacher practice, and technology integration, *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 17 (1), 109-142. Available at <https://www.learntechlib.org/noaccess/26177>.
- Yadav, A., Mayfield, C., Zhou, N., Hambrusch, S., & Korb, J. T. (2014). Computational thinking in elementary and secondary teacher education, ACM Transactions on Computing Education, 14 (1). doi: http:// doi.org/10.1145/2576872>.

10

Training of Communication Skills in Social Education Students Through an Innovative Experience

VIRGINIA CASTILLO CIDRE virginia.castillo@alu.uhu.es Universidad de Huelva

ARÁNZAZU CEJUDO CORTÉS carmen.cejudo@dedu.uhu.es Orcid: 0000-0002-1165-2237 Universidad de Huelva CELIA CORCHUELO FERNÁNDEZ celia.corchuelo@dedu.uhu.es Orcid: 0000-0003-2938-3079 Universidad de Huelva

Abstract

This chapter presents an innovative experience carried out through a university extension course in the 2016-2017 academic year for Social Education students of the University of Huelva. The main objective has been to facilitate the acquisition of communication skills by the participating students (a total of 21 students). A participative, interactive and expository methodology has been followed between professors and students. The analysis of the data will be made thanks to the results obtained from the satisfaction surveys that the same university uses for this type of workshops that are offered in these calls. The results show a high students motivation in this type of initiatives as well as a very positive attitude on the part of participating professors.

Keywords: communication skills, pedagogical innovation, social education

10.1. Introduction

The Social Education professional must develop various skills which have been described through the abilities that should be acquiring throughout their training, according to the profession-

alization document of Asociación Estatal de Educación Social (ASEDES, 2007) and Conseio General de Colegios de Educadores y Educadoras Sociales (CGCEES, 2007). Communication skills are the basis of all other abilities and these are develop throughout the life of the human being, but this does not mean that it is done correctly because we understand that there is a great difference between speaking and communicating correctly what is wanted to be expressed. To communicate is to give form and meaning to a message through a context, a culture and its interpretation of the different signs which are presented in the message, this refers to the non-verbal communication that gives full meaning to the verbal message. This helps to contextualize the message, giving it credibility. In addition, the management of communicative skills facilitates the learning or training of social abilities which are very significant for the professional social education development. It is true that students know what these skills are, but they have lack of training to launch it.

Therefore, it was intended to provide students with tools and specific training in communication and social skills, because they are essential for their day to day as students and future professionals who will live stress and conflict situations, where emotional intelligence and the use of these tools are essential to develop an impeccable work with the diversity of users that will be presented throughout their careers. For this, a workshop was offered in a transversal way to the credits demanded by the study programme, being the main protagonists the students of Social Education in the University of Huelva.

10.2. Brief review of the university degree in Social Education.

Antecedents of the degree

It is necessary to do a historical review of Social Education and the background of the social educator to understand how this degree appeared, due to the necessity caused by social changes, which were produced over the years, and its evolution to the present. For this reason, this professional has been attributed new functions and therefore the need to develop new professional skills, such as communication skills that will be discussed throughout this project. To understand the progress of these professionals we briefly delve into their history, indicating that in 1947 the Asociación Nacional de Educadores de Jóvenes Inadapados (ANEJI) was founded in France to mitigate various problems arising from industrialization, the Second World War and previously the "paternal houses", causing that young people were introduced in the delinquency owing to the system left them without any protection. This association, from 1948 developed international actions in countries such as Holland, Belgium, Germany, the United States and Canada. As a result of all the above, in 1951 the Asocioación Nacional de Jóvenes Inadaptados (AIEJI) was created, being currently known in Spain as the Asociación Internacional de Educadores Sociales (Allah, 2013).

According to Allah (2013), Germany together with France, were one of the pioneering countries in the configuration of Social Education as a profession. This profession arises in the German country as a result of the political, social and economic changes that arose in the modern stage (Cánovas, 2012). In this way, the first specialized training schools were opened as a response to the disorganisation of human life, marginal neighbourhoods, accumulation of social problems due to industrialization that are accentuated in the post-war period, where the interest group nationally and internationally is that of young people because of the crime that had been generated by social maladjustment (Allah, 2013).

These causes are considered the historical reconstruction of Social Pedagogy, this being the discipline that offers models, strategies and techniques to Social Education so that through this profession they are put into practice. In Riera's words (as quoted in Galiano, 2008, p. 31), by Social Pedagogy it is understood that it is: "The foundation and normalizing science of the educational action specifically oriented to Social Education and the integral social welfare of people, groups or communities, in any context and throughout their life and circumstances". Since the assimilation that Social Pedagogy is the founding science of Social Education, these have always gone hand in hand (Cánovas, 2012).

On the other hand, Spain in the 60s and 70s was immersed in a complicated social situation for diverse reasons such as emigration, a deficient policy that implied a constant social conflict, marginal groups, maladjustment, illiteracy, social inequality, juvenile delinquency and a scarce social sensitivity. For these reasons the population mobilized to achieve a democratic reform and achieve the welfare state. These facts encourage the emergence and configuration of the figure of the social educator in the 80s, taking for its development guidelines of the Training Center for Specialized Educators (CFEEB) created in 1969 in Barcelona. These social and political changes arise through the need of the social demand for greater equality to deal with the process of socialization, transmission of norms and educational values to the population and, in this way, achieving the integration of the most disadvantaged sectors of society, minimizing conflicts and social problems (Allah, 2013). In conclusion, according to ANECA (2004, p.114) "the changes that have occurred worldwide, as well as in Europe have been very profound and have affected the labour market, the economy and the lifestyle of citizens. The breadth and depth of these cultural, social and economic transformations are such that. experts believe that knowledge and information have become fundamental factors to manage the differences between people, organizations and countries". It is understood in this way that the changes and social movements in the 20th century led to the development and specialization of professionals who would cover the needs that occurred at the time, such as the professionals of Social Education.

For these reasons, the Ministry of Education and Science officially incorporates the title of social educator after the approval of Royal Decree 1420/1991 of August 30 (BOE of October 10, 1991) by which the Official University Degree is established of Diploma in Social Education, thus providing basic training to these future professionals, acquiring skills and competencies adapted to that professional profile and social contexts where this figure must intervene, being generators of change (ANECA, 2004). Thus, graduates in Social Education in their scientific training are oriented to develop their profession in the field of non-formal education (Galiano, 2008).

Social Education has been based on three different pillars throughout its trajectory, based on socio-educational principles developed in individuals at a social, educational and cultural level. In this way, these aspects are the following: the specialized educator, the sociocultural animator and the adult educator (Cánovas, 2012). In this way the State Association of Social Education (ASEDES) and Professional Association of Social Educators of Castilla La Mancha (APESCAM) define this profession as a right of citizenship and a profession of pedagogical nature, so the definition established by ASEDES (2004, p. 37) picking up this character is as follows:

... a right of citizenship that is materialized in the recognition of a profession of pedagogical nature, generating educational contexts and mediating and formative actions that are the domain of competence of the social educator and enable: i) The incorporation of the subjects of the education to the diversity of social networks, both as regards the development of sociability and the possibilities of social circulation; ii) cultural and social promotion, understood as an opening to new possibilities for the acquisition of cultural goods that broaden educational, work, leisure and social participation perspectives.

Social Education at the University of Huelva

Previously, there was no formal academic training to be professionals of Social Education as such. Therefore, the university degree in Social Education is relatively recent, as it has been indicated in the previous section, since it was approved in 1991 in Spanish national territory through Royal Decree 1420/91 of August 30 (BOE of October 10 of 1991), being called the professional: Diploma in Social Education.

On the other hand, the University of Huelva had this degree in its study programme on June 27, 2002 under the compliance of the provisions of article 10.2 of Royal Decree 1497/1987 of November 27 (BOE of August 27, 2002), on its common general guidelines of the study programme of the official character titles and validity in all the national territory with his corresponding modifications, being his first academic course the year 2002/2003 developed in the Faculty of Sciences of the Education.

Meanwhile, the European Space for Higher Education initiated in 1999 the Bologna Declaration to harmonize the universities belonging to the European Union (BOE of October 30, 2007). In this way, the change for the aforementioned Bologna Declaration for the full achievement of its objectives was scheduled for 2010 through the adoption of specific regulations that would guarantee the new educational construction under a legal framework. In this way, the Organic Law 4/2007, of April 12, modifies the Law 6/2001, of December 21 of Universities to establish the precise bases and thus make a deep modernization of the Spanish University (BOE of October 30, 2007).

In 2010, the BOE number 161 of July 3, 2010, includes Royal Decree 861/2010 of July 2, which modifies Royal Decree 1393/2007 of October 29, by which establishes the organization of official university education. These changes became a great adaptive challenge for Spanish universities towards the transformation of their teaching offer to achieve the new provision. The changes were carried out during the 2010-2011 academic year by implementing the new Bachelor, Master and Doctorate degrees, many of which had already begun to be implemented in some of the Spanish universities.

Then, once we have seen the legal framework of the academic development of the graduates in Social Education, we will focus on the professional competences required of the graduate in Social Education for the optimal development of their profession, because, according to the verified report of the Degree in Social Education (University of Huelva, 2012), this title allows the social educator to develop professionally the scientific knowledge necessary for the understanding, interpretation, analysis and explanation of the theoretical and practical foundations of education in different social spaces and times. It is understood as a social educator according to said verified report (2012, p.19) which is: "the professional who carries out socio-educational interventions with people and in their contexts, in order to achieve full personal and social development, participate in responsible mode in the different social and community spheres, playing with other professionals a role of social and educational intervention ". Within the achievement of this professional profile are specified a series of functions that are well explained both in the verified report (University of Huelva, 2012) that is being treated, as in the "White Book" of Degree in Pedagogy and Social Education (ANECA, 2004), but here only two of them will be cited, since they are the most relevant to justify the purpose of this workshop:

- social, cultural and educational mediation;
- training of socio-educational intervention agents.

On the other hand, considering the general objectives that support this degree and that justify the need to enhance communication skills and social abilities, we are left with the first objective that appears in the verified report of the Degree in Social Education (University de Huelva, 2012), being this the following:

Qualify students in knowledge, skills, work tools and attitudes that contribute to the development in the implementation and evaluation of educational projects aimed at different subjects and groups, emphasizing communication dynamics, participation, integration and socialization, as well as promotion of a civic coexistence.

After knowing one of the general objectives of the degree, we will focus on the basic skills to be acquired by the students. As can be seen in point B.7 of the verified report (University of Huelva, 2012), this refers to Social Education students must: acquire the skills, abilities and attitudes for socio-educational intervention. Observing the transversal competences, it can be seen that T.1 indicates the use of information and communication technologies in their professional practice (Universidad de Huelva, 2012).

Furthermore, within the list of specific competences which appears in the report (University of Huelva, 2012), we conveniently highlight the following for justifying this workshop:

- E12: know, understand and manage the main concepts, resources and strategies for the development of integral educational actions in community contexts.
- E15: know and understand the concept of sociocultural animation, as well as to manage its techniques for the management of groups, equipment and socio-cultural resources in the development of groups and communities.
- E18: management of audio-visual languages and means of expression and social communication.
- E23: ability to plan, direct and coordinate integral educational projects, learning communities and professional intervention networks.

In the White Book of Degree in Pedagogy and Social Education (ANECA, 2004), the specific competences of disciplinary and professional training in its thirteenth acceptation are also detailed, indicating that the social educator must: identify and diagnose the usual factors of family and social crisis and develop a mediation capacity to deal with socio-educational communities and resolve conflicts. To develop this competence according to ANECA (2004), the future professional of Social Education must have in their knowledge the processes of mediation and their practices, in addition to knowledge of techniques and resources for communication as the most important process involved in mediation. To develop this knowledge, you must have the skills to be able to communicate effectively, use different negotiation techniques and have the ability to actively listen and interact. In addition, the attitude that the educator must maintain to achieve all this is to know how to be empathetic, assertive and respectful with the diversity of positions before a conflict, to value diversity as a source of wealth and to have a positive thinking.

As you can see, the Social Education professional requires in his training the ability of certain skills to carry out his work properly. It is true that they are competencies that students believe they have because they know what they are for their academic training, but when they need to put them into practice, they find themselves with a lack of techniques and resources to be assertive and empathetic in the face of a conflict in their daily lives or when they are asked to show a work and take a lower grade because they have not developed the communication skills to express effectively all their knowledge. These are examples of the day to day that happen to these students that because of the nature of their profession they need to manage, for that reason, a workshop was proposed for the promotion of communicative competences destined to those students who considered that they should put them into practice to be a good professional in the future, because as Eduardo Galeano says (as was cited in the Certified Memory of the Bachelor's Degree in Education at the University of Huelva, 2012, p.5): "we are not what we are / otherwise what we do / to change what we are".
10.3. Description of the innovative experience called "Taller Comunica-Te"

Then, it is presented in detail what this workshop consisted in, which was carried out at the University of Huelva in a cross-sectional way to the credits required to obtain the Social Education title, as the authors Gómez, Gómez and Rodríguez (2011) indicate., p.154): "Communication is a basic professional competence at the service of education professionals and as such should be instructed". For this reason, it is important to refer to communication as a fundamental tool for formulating social change, this approach being one of the most recent dependency theories and approaches to communication, taking into account that it is a complex process that depends on the context and of the cultural conditions in which it develops (Pérez, Marion Cataño, & Franco, 2009). In addition, the study conducted on social skills in students of Social Education of Rojas (2010, p. 235), indicates that "students who have received training in these skills, improve their interpersonal behaviour in social acceptance among their peers / as, assertiveness, repertoire of social skills, self-concept and self-esteem".

The basic principle that sustains communication for social change is dialogue as Paulo Freire indicated (as cited in García, 2011), since there is no communication without dialogue. For this reason, the ultimate goal of communication is to favour social changes to allow people to be better, have a better quality of life and make decisions for themselves, because until now decisions have been made by marginal groups or in social exclusion, but it is necessary to support them so that they have their own voice (Pérez, Marion Cataño, & Franco, 2009). Hence, the importance of training social educators as agents of change specialized in these skills to successfully exercise their professions, in addition to optimizing interpersonal relationships through training in social skills to promote both personal and professional through active listening processes, dialogues, interviews, persuasion techniques, etc. among many other issues that will be detailed below.

The objectives that were marked for compliance in the "Taller Comunica-Te" are the following:

- General Objectives:
 - To strengthen in communication skills the student of the Degree in Social Education.
 - To optimize social skills in the student of the Degree in Social Education.
- Specific Objectives:
 - To develop the management of social skills.
 - To encourage the ability to speak before a professional future.
 - To optimize the self-confidence of the students participating in the workshop.
 - To favour the quality in the academic formation of the students of the University of Huelva.
- Transversal Objectives:
 - To discover and strengthen the strengths of students regarding communication.
 - To manage different communicative situations to adapt to the public.
 - To learn schemes and strategies to orally convey information in a complete, attractive and rigorous way.
 - To train the participants in the correct use of the different means of support for oral dissemination, applying each one in the appropriate situation.

Regarding the structure, the workshop is divided into six blocks, which cover everything relevant to communication skills and social skills. The blocks were distributed as follows:

- Block 1: Oratory Capacity
- Block 2: Non-verbal components.
- Block 3: Training in social skills.
- Block 4: To speak in public.
- Block 5: To speak in public in different contexts.
- Block 6: Exposition of works + Remember.

This workshop was developed for three weeks and a half, two classes per week of three hours each class. Block 3 will be developed during two consecutive days because the training in social skills required more time for its optimal learning. On the other hand, the students had an hour and a half each day of the workshop to do autonomous work outside of the hours in a non-contact manner. The workshop had a total duration of thirty certifiable hours by the University of Huelva.

10.4. Some methodological aspects

In this workshop, an attempt was made to use a participative, interactive and expository methodology, being the participation undoubtedly the leading role:

- 1. **Participative**: it was based on previous ideas, experiences and beliefs, attitudes and practices. All the members were involved in the process and the plurality of knowledge present in it was used, enhancing the dynamizing techniques that helped achieve the objectives. It was tried that they were always motivating, mobilizing, playful, creative and democratic, so that they generated the possibility of personal transformation and cultural-social change. The process was addressed with the students being active agents of the same, building and reconstructing their knowledge, skills and abilities. We worked learning by discovering, for this, the students obtained the information in an active and constructive way. It was Carried out two modalities or variants; the 'active-reproductive discovery' or 'active-productive discovery'.
- 2. Interactive: This methodology highlighted the exchange between the professor or speaker and the student through the debate to delve into a topic. There was an open interaction where the professor or speaker stimulated participation and dialogue with the student. In order to achieve a positive interaction quality criteria were guaranteed for this, the professors or speakers were specialists in the subject, facilitating a climate of relaxation to intervene, fostering a relaxed atmosphere that facilitated participation and guaranteed a positive assessment of the topic occupy In addition, we must bear in mind that the same students were an active part of this teaching-learning process, being mentors of their peers, which means, of other students.
- 3. Expository: Explanation of the marked contents. The professor or speaker had a leading role and the students were placed at a level of content and information receiver. This is a forma-

lized and systematic knowledge, which focused on learning about the aspects of the topic addressed that were considered relevant.

This methodology helped the construction of knowledge, the interaction and exchange of opinions and ideas, to collect of experiences, to immerse oneself in reality, to generate reflections on it, to enable students to act as tools to become active subjects of this social transformation. Therefore, the role of the professor in this workshop was to guide and facilitate the learning process, as well as being a motivating and energizing agent throughout the change process. On the other hand, the speakers were responsible for evaluating the work and activities that were carried out in the classroom.



Figure 1. Organization of the different sessions. Source: Own elaboration

10.5. Some of the results

Some of the results obtained thanks to the satisfaction surveys of the participants which are relevant to the issue addressed in this chapter are the following:

- Regarding organizational issues of the workshop.
 - More than half of the participants think that they agree with the workshop duration, because it is enough for them. However, 14% say that they disagree and indicate that a greater number of hours would be necessary. In the following graph you can see what is discussed.



Graph 1. Satisfaction of the participants in relation to the duration of the workshop. Source: Own elaboration

- 57% of students who have participated think that the schedule in which the workshop has been given is adequate (3 hours, two days a week).
- 62% of students totally agree that the classroom that has been carried out the workshop is appropriate and 38% think they agree. This is because the space where it has been developed is a very functional and versatile classroom, with mobile tables and chairs, and a space that is not too big, making it easier to create a cosy and close atmosphere
- Regarding the level of satisfaction of the didactic material delivered and used in the presentations.
 - 95% of the participants agree or totally agree that the materials and resources have been adequate.



Graph 2. Degree of satisfaction of the materials and resources used. Source: Own elaboration

- On the other hand, 90% of students indicate that the presentations used, Power Point, Prezzi, as well as the videos that have been exposed, are adequate.
- All students think that the information provided is up-todate with respect to the topics addressed in the different sessions.
- Level of satisfaction in relation to the methodology used.
 - All participants agree or totally agree that they have been given the option to ask all the questions they deem suitable.
 - It is also very positive that all students indicate that professors responsible for the workshop, have promoted interaction among all the participants.
 - 90% of students totally agree that the practical dynamics used have been adequate to understand the theory explained.
 - 81% completely agree that professors have clearly explained the contents worked on.
 - 71% express that the training received has been relevant to their needs.

10.6. Conclusions

This study has described an innovative university proposal through a workshop that has been developed at the University of Huelva with students of the Social Education degree, in order to improve their communication skills. From the results that have been obtained after carrying out the experience, the following conclusions are reached:

- The degree of satisfaction in relation to the methodology used, the didactic material provided as well as the rest of the organizational issues is quite high, reason why it can be concluded that this type of initiatives is motivating for students.
- The participating professors, after evaluating the sessions that have taken place, determine that the totality of the participating students has positively overcome the challenges that were proposed to them.
- All participants both students and professors emphasize that the theme dealt with (communicative competence), the space

used as well as a low ratio (21 students) have been very important aspects so that the different sessions of the workshop have been productive, dynamic and motivating.

Regarding the limitations, it should be studied how to offer in future workshops, greater numbers of sessions in order to give answers to 14% of the students who think that the number of hours has been less than their needs.

References

- Ad-Value. (2010). Formación de habilidades comunicativas. Unión Europea.
- Allah, M. C. (2013). Aproximación histórica a una de las profesiones sociales: la Educación Social, *RES Revista de Educación Social*, 1-13.
- Alzina, R. B. (2003). Educación emocional y competencias básicas para la vida, *Revista de Investigación Educativa*, 7-43.
- ANECA. (2004). Título de Grado en Pedagogía y Educación Social. Bilbao (España): ANECA.
- ASEDES & CGCEES. (2007). Documentos profesionalizadores. Barcelona: ASEDES.
- Broglia, A. (2013a). ¿Cómo presentar tu proyecto en público? Available at http://www.educaixa.com/-/como-presentar-tu-proyecto-en-publico.
- (2013b). Domina tus miedos. Available at <http://www.educaixa. com/-/domina-tus-miedos>.
- Cánovas, J. F. (2012). La realidad sobre la Educación Social: la participación como proceso de profesionalización. *Aposta*, 52. Available at http://www.apostadigital.com/revistav3/hemeroteca/jfscanovas.pdf.
- García, M. J., Martín, A. M., Jiménez, M. Á., Ojeda, J. R., & Cabezas, J. M. (2005). *Pautas para comunicación oral y escrita*. Melilla: Facultad de Educación y Humanidades. Universidad de Granada.
- García, M. R. (2011). Reseña de "Teoría de la comunicación humana" de Paul Watzlawick, *Razón y Palabra*.
- Goméz, Á. H., Gómez, I. A., & Rodríguez, A. P. (2011). Técnicas de comunicación creativas en el aula: escucha activa, el arte de la pregunta, la gestión de los silencios, *Educación y Futuro. Revista de Investigación Aplicada y Experiencias Educativas*, 153-177.
- Jaca, L. M. & Díaz, F. J. (2005). Gestión del conflicto, negociación y mediación. Madrid: Ediciones Pirámide.

- Jiménez, J. J., Flores, B. M., Rubio, I. M., & Delgado, S. H. (2013). *Habilidades sociales*. Madrid: Mc Graw Hill Education.
- Kelly, J. A. (1998). *Entrenamiento de las habilidades sociales*. Bilbao: Desclée de Brouwer.
- Marente, E. M. (2014). Habilidades sociales para la intervención socioeducativa: técnica del sandwich. Valencia.
- Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia. *El arte de hablar: oratoria eficaz.* Servicio de Formación del Profesorado.
- Muñoz Galiano, I. M (2008). Perfil profesional del educador social con personas mayores. Identificación de competencias (tesis doctoral). Granada: Universidad de Granada.
- Pérez, G. J., Marion Cataño, M., & Franco, F. (2009). Comunicar para el cambio social: una comunicación ética y política. Entrevista con Alfonso Gumucio Dagron, *Signo y Pensamiento*, 278-290.
- Ramos, G. P. (2009). *Psicología de la comunicación y difusión de valores*. Salamanca: Publicaciones Universidad Pontificia de Salamanca.
- Real Decreto 1420/1991, de 30 de agosto, por el que se establece el título universitario oficial de Diplomado en Educación Social y las directrices generales propias de los planes de estudios conducentes a la obtención de aquél. *Boletín Oficial del Estado*, 1991, núm. 243, pp. 32891.
- Real Decreto 1393/2007, de 29 de octubre, por el que se establece la ordenación de las enseñanzas universitarias oficiales. *Boletín Oficial del Estado*, 30 de octubre de 2007, núm. 260, pp. 44037.
- Real Decreto 861/2010, de 2 de julio, por el que se modifica el Real Decreto 1393/2007, de 29 de octubre, por el que se establece la ordenación de las enseñanzas universitarias oficiales. *Boletín Oficial del Estado*, 3 de julio de 2010, núm. 161, pp. 58454.
- Resolución de 27 de junio de 2002, de la Universidad de Huelva, por la que se hace público el plan de estudios de Diplomado en Educación Social, a impartir en la Facultad de Ciencias de la Educación. *Boletín Oficial del Estado*, 2002, núm. 205, pp. 31641.
- Rojas, A. D. (2010). Estudio sobre la asertividad y las habilidades sociales en el alumnado de Educación Social, *XXI: Revista de Educación*, 225-240.
- Universidad de Huelva. (2012). *Memoria verificada del título de Grado en Educación Social por la Universidad de Huelva*. Available at http://www.uhu.es/fedu/apartados/Titulaciones/grado1213/Gra/EduS/GraEduS1213memoria.pdf>.

11

Working with Networks on the University Campus

VERÓNICA MARÍN DÍAZ vmarín@uco.es Orcid: 0000-0001-9836-2584 Universidad de Córdoba

M.ª DOLORES HIDALGO ARIZA lola.hidalgo@uco.es Orcid: 0000-0002-8500-1621 Universidad de Córdoba

JUAN MANUEL MUÑOZ GONZÁLEZ juan.manuel@uco.es Orcid: 0000-0001-9332-0465 Universidad de Córdoba

Abstract

The universal education is today a reality. Trough the e-learning system we can access to diverse educational system for all the educational level. In this case the technical revolutions have suppose that the higher centre changes their point of view and think how arrived at all the student or possibly pupils. In this case the social networks have became in the best too to get the principal objective of the universities, the communicate with all the student and teachers. In this chapter we presented different social nets for all the world and how the universities made themselves known to the world.

Keywords: social networks, University, teacher, student, innovation

11.1. Introduction

The era of information and communication is currently experiencing a time of constant revolution (Bidarrian, Bidarrian, & Davoud, 2011), although in past times this circumstance was the result of diverse and profound changes in all areas in which society was developed, today it comes hand in hand with the continuous changes that take place in information and communication technologies (ICT). The new social, political, educational, and economic organization, which is presented, revolves around the absolute power of the demonstrations (hardware and software) that ICTs show. This new panorama demands, in consequence, on the one hand the remodeling or reformulation of the already existing professional profiles and on the other the design of new ones, circumstance that to a large extent affects the educational systems under many and various aspects of its detailed expression.

According to Uzunboylu, Bicen, & Cavus (2011) there are three elements that have accelerated this new society and that therefore affect the educational systems, both in their organization and in their classroom dynamics – concerning the teacher-, namely:

- the rapid growth of scientific knowledge;
- the growth of the popularity of digital culture;
- learning can be done anytime, anywhere.

The first one involves the development of the necessary skills for the progress of information. While the second element implies a new vision of the digital dimension, which entails redefining the roles that consumers of these resources have. Finally, the possibility that is given to learning not only throughout life, but that this can be done 24 hours a day, 7 days a week (Prensky, 2008). As we see everything revolves around the conception of information, how it is recovered, reused, and redefined, in addition to the new conceptions that we assign to the protagonists of the teaching-learning processes, in the case of education, and a variable that every day is assuming more force: the so-called digital competence.

With respect to the way of working with information, the appearance of new tools that try to bring it more available and open new fields of knowledge, implying that it is understood as something flexible, fluid and variable. Hence the conception that we mentioned before the 3Rs (recover, redefine and reuse) link with the idea of 24/7 and the need to know how to combine both concepts (digital competence).

The incorporation of ICT in classrooms in general, and particularly in universities, will imply, on the one hand, a modification of traditional teaching models-transmissive, student-centered and collaborative (Cebrián, 2003) -and on the other, the design of a new teaching format in which the main feature will be accessing a greater number of primary information sources.



Figure 1. Incorporation of ICT to education. Source: Meneses (2006)

Along with this we also find positive aspects of this methodological approach as they are, among others, greater personal and professional growth of individuals, greater knowledge generation and theories, as well as promoting collaborative and cooperative learning among students and teachers, autonomous learning processes (Muñoz, 2004; Bidarrian, Bidarrian, & Davoud, 2011; Álvarez, 2012). But not all are beatitudes, we also find the lack of time to be up to date on the technological developments that are generated. We believe that it is necessary to overcome the problematic conception that supposes that these tools are linked to the curricular development, as well as to understand that they are a complexity (Gómez-López and Cano, 2011), since they are a social reality of both the students and teachers of today.

However, as Bates (2004: 33) maintains, "if teaching with technology means at least initially more work, the benefits should be considerable", together with the versatility of ICTs, we believe that the benefits of their employment in the university classroom are greater than their disadvantages.

Under this framework European Higher Education Area there is no doubt that Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) will play a very significant role the possibilities they can offer multiple possibilities building international collective knowledge clusters, provide contextualized and meaningful experiences for students, promote decision making and solving social problems, promote collaborative projects investigation, develop the ability to adapt to new situations, etc. (Cabero, López Meneses, & Ballesteros, 2009).

As Lorenzo, Trujillo, Lorenzo and Pérez (2011) argue, ICTs are presented as a challenge, but also an opportunity to interact with intelligence, appropriating its complexity and innovating consequently transforming in a meaningful way our society. Perhaps for this reason its knowledge, usefulness and use. Without forgetting the instructional level, also students show marked interests and motivation for using ICT both in their formative processes (Guerra, Gonzalez, & Garcia, 2010), as well as towards educational resources for mentoring and monitoring didactic processes (García, Gros, & Noguera, 2010).

11.2. From the Internet to social networks

The growth of the Internet has meant that under its umbrella have been generating an infinite number of tools that, initially, are created for Internet as an integral part of the network itself, more so if given the possibilities of today. Its use within the world of higher education has led to the development of a new way of looking at teaching, and as one of its main advantages, is the growth of online training plans, which, as Gavari (2006, p. 190) pointed out, can range from the "promotion of digital literacy; the European virtual campuses; the electronic twinning of European schools and the promotion of teacher training; and the transversal actions for the promotion of e-learning in Europe".

However, using the Internet in the university classroom is not without drawbacks that Barroso already identified in 2004:

- the cost of equipment-means;
- the need to train and maintain a technical staff and as well, the training of teachers;
- See the students as technicians, and also the adaptation to new teaching-learning methods;
- the excessive belief that there is total security, and the concretion of scientific authorship.

- the bandwidth;
- the various static environments used for the distribution of information (we refer to files of type pdf or txt);
- the development of a rote approach to learning;
- lack of educational experience does not consider the network as a formative medium.

But this same author also indicates a series of benefits such as:

- training focused on the student;
- communication between the students and the teachers, and in addition the institution;
- the reduction of costs, economic and personal flexibility of the teaching-learning process, as well as the rhythm of the same marked by the students;
- expansion of work scenarios;
- increase in the number of students per teacher and classroom;
- combination of different resources and the possibility of using them in a synchronous and asynchronous way of communicating

Rieh (2004) considers that the combination of factors such as the context, the characteristics of the subjects, and the use of different ICTs provides diverse learning opportunities as a result of the search for information

The Internet or Web 2.0 network, as they have called it since O'Reilly (2005) coined the term 2.0, which has also been transferred to education, since there is already someone who talks about a 2.0 education (Cabero, 2009), a university 2.0 (Freire & Brunet, 2010) or a student 2.0 (Thomas & Li, 2008) -, is presented to the educational community as a platform for the exchange of information and ideas, which is in continuous growth, where programs, or a large number of them, with free access trying to overcome new concepts that the Internet or Web 2.0 has brought as it is the digital divide, as well as the management of data that Internet users acquire during their participation.

Holcomb & Beal (2010) point out that the rapid growth of Web 2.0 implies, at an educational level, that teachers must be critical when choosing the tools, they will use, they must also be very selective and aware of the potential and limitations may present

itself, both for the development of the curriculum by students, qualified by some as digital natives, by others as part of the Einstein generation (Boschman, 2007; Prensky 2008). The tools have been called 2.0, as well as the network itself, that we usually refer to as Web 2.0.

However, if they are considered as a cardinal tool in their learning process, proof of this is the data collected by Holcomb & Beal (2010) on the 2.0 tools. In their study, these authors recognize that these are a vehicle for the student to develop a learning based on curiosity and creativity, acquire knowledge through problem-based learning, provide opportunities for their interactive learning, regardless of their geographic location, or their socio-economic status.

Social networks are a new way of being and being present in the world, digital or not.

11.3. University social network scenario

The advancement of the Internet in general, and of social networks in particular, has caused higher education to find a space in said communicative universe. Secondary education has developed various actions that allow a resource such as social networks with a large presence in the personal and family life of students to take on an educational aspect.

This situation has reached a great extent in the university training levels, and there are already numerous networks created around various topics aimed at both professors and university students.

A clear example is found in the REDDOLAC network (image 1), Teachers' Network of Latin America and the Caribbean. This, although it covers teachers from all educational levels, offers a great variety of resources and information at the level of higher education.

Users can generate their own pages, in which they can insert information, videos, create a blog or open chat sessions with different themes or participate in existing ones. The incorporations made by the web may arrive easily at the email account with which the user has registered in the network, this being a fluid way of communication.

Correct: Entrada: Revisa (led de Doorr :: \ 🎯 Edmattere	ALE CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR O	of the local sectors where the	00
← → C ③ www.reddolac.org				tz 9 4
🖂 Corres : Barverido 🔍 Büsquede 👌 Geogle	🔊 Iniciar sesión 🛄 restates	🗣 Universided de Cord. 🖓 Recete de ARROZ C	Bienvenides a la vis. 🌵 e-Learning UCO 🤅	Novecledes en educ (jr Dipre 20 "
				legistraria lealar annis Tenne tel cona 🛛 👂 a
REDI	DOLAC - RED I	DE DOCENTES DE AMÉRICA DIE, CON HUMILDAD PARA APRENDER, TOD	LATINA Y DEL CARIL ES APRENDEMOS DE TODES"	3E -
	CHAT DÓRATE AURPICE	N POTOS SEESENDE PORO GELPOS ELOGE EV sociális	ENTOS RECUBIOS CAPETERIA	
	Contracting Costs Statute Los Costs		Eventing in the second se	
	Type of Destroy & American Margin provider	SALA DE CONFERENCIAS PARA SU PASTICIPANTES		New spine and
	Endling and the set of the s			

Image 1. REDDOLAC network input. Source: < http://www.reddolac.org/>



Image 2. Network session RECUED. Source: <http://redcued.ning.com/?show-AddContent=1&txg_source=msg_wel_network>

Another example of an educational social network is Redtecnologiaeducativa. This virtual community is supported by the association RUTE, University Network of Educational Technology. Created in the Ning environment centers its attention and content, as indicated by its title, in educational technology. It involves teachers and people interested in the world of information technology and communication. Like the previous network, it allows users to create their own page, participate by uploading photos, videos, creating forums, reporting events and designing blogs around technological topics of interest. Among the groups created (7), the so-called *university e-learning*, consisting of 62 members at the time of the consultation, stands out.



Image 3. Rute Portal. Source: < http://redtecnologiaeducativa.ning.com/>

Like the previous two networks, the Internet in the classroom revolves around technology. You can also engage both teachers and interested 2.0 tools that can be used or can affect education at any educational level. In it we can find a section called *Good practices 2.0* designed to expose those practices that are being developed in schools and that are considered as an example to be followed by other teachers.

inicio IN Página Fero G	napos Blogs Mattimetia S.PriscTiCas 2.0 Talieres Webitare (Chain Miembros Mile
intef	Configura tu perfil	Bienvendo a Isocrati on 41 Auta
A:	Eventos	Registrarse e trictate section
Grupos	+ Agen gar un monte	Mapa del sitio
Marteige creato - Doubh Chranteire	Eritatas de biog publicadas por Alberto Christin Características del telespectador	Ba bagar de enclaredra para deceletas • Circo agraco • formas de la red
	Par an cambo de perspective en la policieanalización docente	+ Cantacto y solficactanea

Image 4. Internet portal in the classroom. Source: <http://internetaula.ning.com/>

Focused on university levels, we find the network created by the Menéndez Pelayo International University (UIMPE 2.0) (see image 5).



Image 5. Social network of the UIMP. Source: < http://redsocial.uimp20.es/>

In addition, to the aspects indicated in the other networks of a more general scope, it informs us of the courses and meetings that the UIMP develops throughout the academic year, mainly in its summer school, allowing to participate through the chats in a direct way in the conferences that take place in it. With the simple registration as a user, the network will keep the Internet informed about everything that happens in those areas in which the UIMP participates.



Image 6. Portal University in Cloud.com. Source: <http://www.universityincloud.com/> In the network Universityincloud.com is oriented, fundamentally to university or pre-university students. In it, Internet users can find information from all the universities in the world. Once registered one can locate information about campuses, residences, exams, contact various professors or deans of different universities, open a blog, participate in the forums created or generate a new one, as well as being able to track the university where one can best develop one's learning, from one's needs and/or expectations

Following this line, we also find Gonway. This social network aims to bring the world of business to university students, giving a twist to the proposal that frames the Linkedin network.



Image 7. Gonway Portal. Source: <https://www.gonway.com/>

Through its slogan "Stop being invisible, show your talent, choose your company" it tries to help seniors and recent graduates seek employment by offering competence to various companies, but knowing in advance the reality of these entities.

We also find in the network the SPQR proposal, a project through the network that aims at raising awareness around the initiative sponsored by the Orange Foundation that is being developed for the inclusion of subjects with hearing loss. Through the use of QR codes you can access information that otherwise, given your situation you cannot access.



Image 8. SPQR Portal. Source: < http://www.specialqr.org/index.php>

The National University of Colombia, like many others, has created a Facebook profile (see image 9) created through the UN News Agency, of the university itself. Through this page university students are informed of everything that happens on the campus of the National University.



Image 9. UN Facebook page. Source: <https://www.facebook.com/pages/ Agencia-de-Noticias-UN/193658967327822>

Finally, we want to highlight the DIPRO 2.0 network. This network is the result of the development of an R & D & I research project, which focuses on the world of technologies, specifically around personal learning environments (PLE). Composed of more than thirty teachers both university and not, whose common points are information and communication technologies. The substantial difference of this network against the others is, in addition to the specific theme (PLE), that the participant in it can directly select the subjects from which it wishes to receive information, when these incorporate some content into the network, and is able to manage all of this through the *make friends* option. The greatest difficulty of this network is the ignorance of the Internet users of its software, as opposed to the advantage of being free of charge.



Image 10. Gate DIPRO 2.0. Source: <http://tecnologiaedu2.us.es:8083/>

11.4. Final reflections

The development of the information and knowledge society, and in particular of the Internet network, has led to the creation of new tools, called 2.0, which have gradually been incorporated into the educational world.

This situation has revealed not only the gaps that teachers can present to apply them or incorporate them into classroom dynam-

ics. In addition to this, we can find the use by students of these tools for both social and educational purposes. And this is what this communication wants to emphasize. Tools such as social networks are transcending the conception with which they had been originally created, taking now to the educational field. So, we raised the first question that gives title to this communication: "Are they really necessary social networks for the development of university teaching; "Do they make sense as a resource for the implementation of new study plans?" "Should they be incorporated into the university teaching methodology?" Given the examples we have shown, in addition to all those which have remained in the pipeline, social networks are vital for the development of academic and social life on university campuses, bringing academic life closer to students, to teachers, and to the citizen community. As far as university teaching is concerned, we find the same reality as on the campus, bringing teaching closer to the learning process of the daily reality of the student, forming him or her in all the teaching-learning processes; this is why we can consider that the ICT approach to the network is becoming a cardinal tool in the growth of the study plans resulting from the implementation of the European Higher Education Area.

References

- Álvarez, G. (2012). Las nuevas tecnologías en el contexto universitario: sobre el uso de los blogs para desarrollar las habilidades de lectoescritura de los estudiantes, *Revista de Universidad y Sociedad del Conocimiento (RUSC)*, 9 (2), 3-17. Available at http://rusc.uoc.edu/ ojs/index.php/rusc/article/view/v9n2-alvarez/v9n2-alvarez.
- Barroso, J. (2004). La red como instrumento de búsqueda de información y de comunicación. In Cabero, J. & Romero, R. (dirs.), *Nuevas tecnologías en la práctica educativa*. Sevilla: Arial, pp. 149-184.
- Bates, A. (2004). La planificación para el uso de las TIC en la enseñanza. In Sangrá, A. & González-Sanmamed, M. (coords.), La transformación de las universidades a través de las TIC: discursos y prácticas. Barcelona: Editorial UOC, pp. 31-51.
- Bidarian, S. H., Bidarian, S., & Davoudi, A. M. (2011). A model for application of ITC in the process of teaching and learning, *Procedia Social* and Behavioral Sciences, 29, 1032-1041.

- Boschman, J. (2008). Generación Einstein. Más listos, más rápidos y más sociables. Barcelona: Gestión 2000.
- Cabero, J. (2009). Educación 2.0. ¿Marca, moda o nueva visión de la educación? In Castaño, C. (coord.), Web 2.0. El uso de la web en la sociedad del conocimiento. Investigaciones e implicaciones educativas. Venezuela: Universidad Metropolitana (pp. 9-30).
- Cebrián de la Serna, M. (coord.) (2003). Enseñanza virtual para la innovación universitaria. Madrid: Narcea.
- Freire, J. & Brunet, K. S. (2010). Políticas y prácticas para una universidad digital, *La Cuestión Universitaria*, 6, 85-94.
- García, I., Gros, B., & Noguera, I. (2010). La relación entre las prestaciones tecnológicas y el diseño de las actividades de aprendizaje para la construcción colaborativa del conocimiento, *Cultura y Educación*, 22 (4), 387-394.
- Gavari, E. (2006). Los principios rectores del espacio europeo de educación superior virtual, *Revista Electrónica Teoría Educativa*, 7 (2) 185-197.
- Gómez-López, J., & Cano, J. (2011). El pensamiento docente y su influencia en la implantación de las tecnologías de la información y la comunicación en el aula: desafíos y oportunidades, *Contextos Educativos*, 14, 67-83.
- Holcom, L. B., & Beal, C. M. (2010). Capitalizing on web 2.0 in the social studies context, *TechTrends*, 54 (4), 28-32.
- Lorenzo, M., Trujillo, J. M., Lorenzo, R., & Pérez, E. (2011). Usos del weblog en la Universidad para gestión de conocimiento y trabajo en red, Pixel Bit, Revista de Medios y Educación, 39, 141-154.
- Meneses, G. (2006). Universidad: NTIC, interacción y aprendizaje, Edutec, Revista Electrónica de Tecnología Educativa, 20, 1-11. Available at http://edutec.rediris.es/Revelec2/revelec20/meneses20.htm>.
- Muñoz, L. A. (2004). Las tecnologías de la información y la comunicación y la formación en entornos virtuales, *Revista Complutense de Educación*, 15 (1), 51-74.
- O'Reilly, T. (2005). What is Web 2.0. Design patterns and business models for the next generation of software. Available at http://oreilly.com/web2/archive/what-is-web-20.html.
- Prensky, M. (2008). Turning on the lights, *Educational leadership Magazine*, 65 (6), 40-45. Available at http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/mar08/vol65/num06/Turning-On-the-Lights.aspx>.
- Rieh, S. (2004). On the web at home: information seeking and web searching in the home environment, *Journal of the American Society Information Science and Technology*, 55 (8), 743-754.

- Thomas, D. A. & Li, Q. (2008). From Web 2.0 to teachers 2.0. Computers in the Schools, 25 (3/4), 199-210.
- Uzunboylu, H., Bicen, H., & Cavus, N. (2011). The efficient virtual learning environment: a case study of web 2.0 tools and windows live spaces, *Computers & Education*, *56*, 720-726.

12

Citizenship Oriented to Justice in Higher Education: Didactic Experience and Revision in the Bachelor's Degree in Primary School Education

Emilio José Delgado–Algarra

emilio.delgado@ddcc.uhu.es Orcid: 0000-0002-2183-8465 University of Huelva

César Bernal-Bravo

cesar.bernal@urjc.es Orcid: 0000-0002-2802-1618 University of Rey Juan Carlos I

Antonio Alejandro Lorca-Marín

antonio.lorca@ddcc.uhu.es Orcid: 0000-0002-9727-9268 University of Huelva

ELOY LÓPEZ MENESES

elopmen@upo.es Orcid: 0000-0003-0741-5367 University of Pablo de Olavide

Abstract

Inequality is a relevant issue related to politics, society, culture, economy or history. In this way. Critical thinking is considered an essential step to allow teachers to educate for a citizenship oriented to justice in a school understood as the engine of social change. Moreover, several studies have shown the effectiveness of debates and argumentation in social sciences classes in other to teach significantly. This is possible starting from conflicts and socio-environmental realities in order to construct a truly democratic citizenship. According this, it is presented one of the latest versions of the didactic experience design, "let's buy!", in addition to the evaluation and reflection of this experience based on the information collected by the teacher's diary, peer assessment and interview sheets for classroom group with a sample of 317 third-year students of the Bachelor's Degree in Primary School Education at the University of Huelva. In general, in coherence with the results of some relevant researches on citizenship education and initial training of teachers and taking as a reference the reflection on the action, it is concluded that didactic experiences where socio-economic problems of the daily environment of students are analyzed can contribute to awareness and professional predisposition of future teachers to consider situations that could affect the teaching and learning process.

Keywords: citizenship education, teachers training, equality, didactical experience, teaching of social sciences

12.1. Introduction

According to data from the National Institute of Statistics (2016, 2017), the Spanish population, in 2014, presented a 29'2% risk of poverty or social exclusion. On the other hand, the population below the poverty risk threshold (or percentage of people with low incomes in relation to the population as a whole) decreased slightly to 22.1% in 2015 (compared to 22.2% in 2014). However, despite the fact that between 2014 and 2015 the poverty risk rate decreases more sharply for the population under 16 years of age, this would be the group most affected with risk figures close to 30%.

In contrast to these data and based on the Annual National Accounts of Spain, UNICEF has echoed the impact on households with children and adolescents the reduction of 11,500 million euros in investment for the social protection of families and childhood between 2009 and 2015. According to the organization, and as was published in *El País* newspaper (April 15, 2017), this reduction has placed Spain as the third country in the European Union, behind Romania and Greece, with an "anchored" poverty of almost 40% in the infant population.

The inequality of wages is the one with the greatest weight in the income of households. In this situation, didactic of the social sciences where the relevant issues are addressed in relation to politics, society, culture, economy or history is considered desirable. In this way, it is necessary to refer to the Gini coefficient in addition to contributing to the orientation of public policies of equality and economic development because they help us to justify the need to be aware to the problems related to the family economies at school.

Although according to Eurostat data, in the last 3 years, in Spain, inequality has decreased significantly, in general terms, we must speak of an increase between 2007 (31.9) and 2016 (34.5) due in large part to the destruction of employment and the flexibilization of labor rights that have occurred throughout this period.

According to the data, it is very probable that, in the classroom, the teacher meets students with depressed socioeconomic background, with family members who are unemployed or who have difficulties in satisfying their basic needs. It is pertinent to consider the importance for teachers to develop an attitude of commitment to the relevant problems linked to the socioeconomic reality of families; supporting the construction of a critical through the promotion of empathy, solidarity and a vision oriented to justice (Delgado-Algarra, Bernal-Bravo, & López Meneses, 2019), a vision in the face of the humanization of neoliberal policies. That is why we present the analysis of the implementation of a proposal for the initial training of teachers in bachelor's degree in Primary School Education that has been designed during eight academic years.

In this chapter, we present the latest version of the didactic experience design, "let's buy!"; in addition to the evaluation and reflection of the didactic experience based on the information collected by the teacher's diary, peer assessment and interview sheets for classroom group with a sample of 317 third-year students of the Bachelor's Degree in Primary School Education at the University of Huelva from two academic years (2016-2017 and 2017-2018).

In general, in coherence with the results of some relevant researches on citizenship education and initial training of teachers and taking as a reference the reflection on the action, it is concluded that the didactic experiences where socio-economic problems of the daily environment of students are analyzed can contribute to the awareness and professional predisposition of future teachers to consider situations of social injustice that could affect the teaching and learning process.

12.2. Epistemological bases of experience: theoretical and research review

This section describes the theoretical references and researchers on which it is based the design and the practical experience "let's buy!". Theoretical bases: education for a citizenship oriented to justice and social commitment

Critical thinking, in general, implies sensitivity to social and environmental problems. Therefore, based on the model of emotional competence defined by Bisquerra and Pérez (2007) and supported by the conceptions of citizenship proposed by Delgado-Algarra (2015), a desirable citizen profile is configured. Citizens able to identify and self-regulate their own emotions and able to develop social skills such as use of effective persuasion tactics, listening to others and the elaboration of convincing messages, resolution of disagreements with others, inspiration and guidance to others, initiation and administration of new situations, reinforcement of interpersonal relationships within the group and work with others.

Linked to the profile of a citizen oriented to justice, we also highlight the adaptation of the "demand for global distributive justice" of cosmopolitan citizenship as one of the epistemological references on which the didactic experience is based. In this dimension, underlies the so-called egalitarianism of luck that distinguishes between luck (circumstances) and agency (decisions), so that:

An unequal distribution is legitimate only if it can be traced back to the agency of individuals, while deviations that go back to luck (not assumed by agency) are illegitimate. This implies that egalitarian justice should aim to neutralize the effects of undeserved circumstances in the lives of individuals. The possibility of realizing one's life plan should not depend on the natural and social lottery (Loewe, 2015, p. 162).

On the other hand, and from a perspective more directly linked to citizen action in the public sphere, an alternative to "consensus in the center"" (center-right and center-left) is proposed, which, according to Mouffe (2016), serves as a way to humanize a neoliberal globalization to which most parties have surrendered, convinced that there are no other alternatives.

Thus, there is a need to reopen the democratic debate on the ways in which public institutions and social relations can be organized. In this line, as indicated by Westheimer and Kahne (2004), the citizen oriented to justice must learn to question and

look for the causes of problems, catalyzing the change in the systems and structures established when they reproduce injustices over time. In this way, in the aforementioned experience, it was considered as a fundamental axis the need to educate competent citizens to drive profound changes in systems that reproduce structural inequalities over time.

Research bases: citizenship education and justice

Below are several investigations that have been especially relevant for the design, justification and updating of the didactic proposal to develop the experience "let's buy!". In this sense, some studies have shown the effectiveness of the debate and the argumentation in social science classes when it comes to teaching significantly starting from conflict and social reality in order to construct a truly democratic citizenship (Yeager and Humphries, 2011).

These results are coherent with the research on the social representations of Law, Justice and Law previously carried out in the Spanish context by Pagés and Oller (2007). Among other issues, the results of this research, highlight the potential of interactive methods, the inclusion of relevant problems for responsible citizenship education in the teaching of social science. Taking into account the aforementioned research results, we present an experience around an intentionally unfair daily situation where intra-group and inter-group interaction predominate.

Delgado-Algarra and Estepa-Giménez (2017), meanwhile, through an extensive study, show that teachers in Huelva and its province (Andalusia, South of Spain) have a sensitivity towards social intervention and criticism, although not towards the transformation of reality. On the other hand, some aspects of the majority profile of the teachers surveyed in this research suppose the existence of very significant divergences between the thinking and the practice, which could be negatively influencing the citizen's education of the students.

This fact, converges with the extensive study developed by Trafford (2008) in the United Kingdom, whose conclusions show that the democratic school is a minority model, reflecting the existence of a disciplinary tradition where the experiences in which the student is encouraged to make use of critical awareness and to assume the role of a citizen committed to social reality has no place. That is why, from the experience that is presented, it has been considered essential to encourage students to make use of their critical capacity during the development of the proposal and sharing.

Critical thinking is essential to take the step towards education for a citizenship oriented to justice in a school understood as the engine of social change. Thus, in terms of social justice, Lazar (2013) carried out qualitative research of an interpretative nature based on case studies where 3 new teachers were followed up for 2 years. To do so, teachers who had participated in educational programs related to social justice were selected.

The research concluded that the design of teacher training programs and activities that analyze everyday situations such as poverty and basic aspects related to social justice provide greater security to new teachers who work for the first time in high poverty districts. The results of this study have been very important for updating and justifying the design of the proposal presented in this chapter and practice. This is because, in this didactic experience, the different groups have assumed the role of families with budgets assigned with an intentionally unequal criterion based on the egalitarianism of luck.

Finally, consumerism, closely related to responsible consumption and with a supportive attitude, is present in our proposal. In this sense, Caurín, Morales, & Solaz (2012) carry out research on sustainable development where it is concluded that, when designing programs to achieve a change of attitude regarding consumption, it is necessary to take into account the socio-economic aspects of the students.

12.3. Design of the proposal "let's buy!"

In this section a description of the general aspects of the proposal will be made. In addition, it will be presented the structure of the activity, some numerical data related to the selection and organization of the participants and instruments of information collection from an approach that integrates in a natural way the didactic action and the research activity for the evaluation of the experience development and for its improvement in the future.

General description and structure

In general, structuring teaching around problems allows breaking the rigid structure of traditional school knowledge, facilitating the integration of concepts, procedures and values; opting for a school research model where a triangulation is established between problem, daily knowledge (previous ideas) and scientific knowledge that allows to build a meaningful school knowledge (García-Pérez, 2017).

Through the design of a healthy menu with a specific budget, the aim is to develop teamwork and make decisions about everyday situations such as making a responsible purchase. Nowadays the terms that define a healthy diet are well defined. In this sense, research in Nutrition such as Nestle (1995) and Aranceta (2001) have repeatedly and consistently demonstrated that the best diets are those that are based mainly on the consumption of fruits, vegetables, cereals and legumes, using food from animal origin with moderation. There is an urgent need work on issues such as food and nutrition in schools; educating teachers, children and their families in healthy eating habits, in order to prevent the obesity of children and adolescents and improve their health and quality of life Salinas et al. (2014). Moreover, in the classroom, we must insist on the existence of a set of solid criteria of sciences, mainly because students are conditioned by everyday knowledge or beliefs (Lorca-Marín, González, & Velo, 2019).

On the other hand, through the emotional potential of the process of adopting roles in simulation (before an intentionally unfair budget distribution), the decision-making, sharing and confrontation of different socioeconomic realities is intended to achieve the following purpose "to raise awareness and sensitize future teachers about the situations of social and economic injustice that may be faced by the families of some of their future students" (table 1).

In other words, taking into account the difficult situation that many families face daily in our country (and in the world), the main purpose of this activity is that teachers in training face situations of social injustice in a simulation, awaken their sensitivity to real problems that can go unnoticed, problems that, from the area of social sciences, are fundamental in order to construct a critical, committed and justice oriented citizenship for the configuration of a fairer society.

Table 1. Structure of the didactic proposal

NAME OF THE ACTIVITY: Let's buy!						
Time: 1h.30min.	Organization: Grupal	Space: Classroom				
Objectives: Define a healthy menu based on a budget. Make decisions in groups around daily consumption situations. Raise awareness and raise awa- reness about the disparity of the family economy and social injustice.	DEVELOPMENT PHASE1: Diagnosis of previous ideas Task 1. Diagnosis of ideas and previous experiences in relation to the purchase, usual consumption foods, weekly budgets, daily problems, etc. Teacher diary is used in all tasks. PHASE 2: Decision making Task 2. Distribution of the group work sheet, explanation of the activity, how it will be developed and what roles will be assumed. Task 3. Distribution of group budgets, selection of volunteer					
Contents: Responsible consumption. Design a healthy menu accor- ding to a limited budget. Group decision making in situa- tions of consumption to meet the needs of food. Awareness and awareness about the disparity of the family eco- nomy and social injustice.	co-evaluators and meeting classroom where they are g tion sheets. Task 4. Group discussions a purchase trying to respect group worksheet. At the si guide and support the gro responsibility for co-evalua 2 groups per co-evaluator) PHASE 3: Sharing and reflee Task 5. Sharing and reflee	show where they are given their respective co-evalua- sheets. 4. Group discussions and decision making regarding the shase trying to respect the conditions indicated in the up worksheet. At the same time, co-evaluator students e and support the groups with which they assume the onsibility for co-evaluation by taking annotations (max oups per co-evaluator). SE 3: Sharing and reflection 5. Sharing and reflection				
Competences: Social and civic competences	from guiding questions. Interspersed with teacher's ex					
Resources: Team work sheet (appendix 1) Co-evaluation sheets (appendix 2 Sample issues (appendix 3))					

The activity called "Let's buy!" is planned for the development in a single session, but it can be integrated into a sequence of activities. Likewise, although we present the version aimed at teachers in training, as has been demonstrated in practice, it can be easily adapted to the primary and secondary school by reducing the number of menus, adding manipulative elements such as money or objects as a shopping workshop, adapting the rules or even agreeing them previously, etc.

Participants

In the academic year 2016-2017, the proposal was carried out with 117 initial training teachers of third course of the Bache-

lor's Degree in Primary School Education and within the subject Didactic of Social Sciences I. In the academic year 2017-2018, it was carried out with another 200 initial training teachers of the same course, grade and subject. Thus, we have worked with initial training teachers distributed in 5 shifts and organized as indicated in table 2:

Table 2. Information about the participant students of the Bachelor's Degree in

 Primary Education experience

BACHELOR'S DEGREE IN PRIMARY SCHOOL EDUCATION Area: Didactic of Social Sciences							
School year	Shifts Initial training teachers Team						
3° 2016 - 2017	Shift 2 (Afternoom)	50	117	33			
	Shift 5 (morning)	67					
3º 2017 - 2018	Shift 1 (morning)	78					
	Shift 3 (morning)	70	200	46			
	Shift 4 (Afternoom)	52					
TOTAL			317	79			

Information Collection

Information collection is integrated into the design of the proposal itself and as indicated above, has been adapted and improved throughout different academic years since 2009-2010. This adaptation has been possible thanks to a parallel spiral action research process that has been developed through four consecutive phases in order to improve the proposal and the quality of the teaching practice every year.

A spiral process implies that the reflection phase of an action research process leads to decision making to be implemented in the planning phase of the next one (Delgado-Algarra, 2017); this approach has made possible the progressive improvement of the proposal and its implementation year after year. Thus, integrating the action and observation phases, the information collection instruments would be the observation grid (co-evaluation sheet), semi-structured group interview (see table 3) and teacher's diary.

Table	3.	Information	about	the	evaluation	and	information	$\operatorname{collection}$	instru-
ments									

Instrument	Description	Task	Appendix
Observation grid	Completed by students who assume the role of vo- lunteer co-evaluators who, in addition to observing the development of the session, have supports the assigned groups.	3	2
Semi-structured group interview	Developed by the teacher taking as initial reference a basic script that is specified and adapted for di- fferent groups of the classroom and depending on the answers.	5	3
Teacher's Diary	Additional information is collected.	1-5	-

12.5. Development, analysis and discussion

The proposal presented, previous adaptations and successive improvements, has been carried out both with primary school students and with initial training teachers of the Bachelor's Degree in Primary School Education; however, we will focus on the latest version implemented between the academic years 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 with the students of the aforementioned university degree.

Phase 1: Diagnosis of conceptions

It corresponds to **task 1**, after a brief introduction about the design of the session, and without going into detail about the final purpose of this activity. It is asked about issues related to the purchase and about previous economic experiences. It should be noted that a considerable number of initial training teachers in the University of Hueva (Andalusia, Spain) come from towns and reside in the city of Huelva during their study period, so, most students indicate that they have experience with the purchase and with the adaptation to a tight budget.

They affirm that, although they take into account the price, they pay attention to the quality of the food. To reach a desired level of critical reflection in an autonomous way, it was necessary not to indicate the ultimate purpose of the experience; directed to the sensitization of the future teachers around the possible situations of social and economic injustice to which some of the families of their future students will face.

The importance of awareness and the value of the proposal that has been put into practice, to date, is supported by the research of Caurín, Morales, & Solaz (2012), Lazar (2013) and Delgado-Algarra & Estepa- Giménez (2017). Thus, converging the conclusions of these investigations, it is clear the need for an empathic teaching practice, aware and committed to the economic and social problems that could be present in the daily environment of their own future students.

For all of this, from the beginning, and following Estepa (2007), an approach based on school research and resolution of relevant problems is assumed. From this approach, desirable school knowledge is not based only on scientific (or disciplinary) knowledge; in addition it is necessary to take into account metadisplinary knowledge and it must be based on an enrichment of everyday knowledge; knowledge constituted by systems of ideas that evolve after overcoming the difficulties raised during phase 2.

Phase 2: Decision making

The decision-making phase of initial training teachers corresponds to tasks 2, 3 and 4. In this phase, to achieve the ultimate goal of the proposal, it is necessary that some teams experience a simulated situation in which they see themselves forced to sacrifice the nutritional quality of food to be able to make the purchase of 3 days adapting to an indicated budget.

The 117 teachers in third year of the 2016-2017 academic year and the 200 in the 2017-2018 academic year were organized in a total of 33 and 46 working groups, respectively. In this way, taking as reference Loewe (2015) and from the approach of the "egalitarianism of luck", illegitimate unequal distribution is made based on luck (circumstances) and not on agency (decisions), a luck that affects both to families in the first world as to a great social majority in the third world.

This phase was especially impressive for all those students who, in the diagnosis phase, affirmed that "the priority is the quality of the food although the price is taken into account". In contrast to this situation of economic deprivation, a minority of groups were assigned an exaggeratedly high budget.

In task 2, the group work sheet is distributed (appendix 1) and the activity dynamics are explained, how it will be developed and what roles will be assumed. In task 3, group budgets are distributed (between 5 and 150 euros for 3 days) and voluntary co-evaluators are selected (one for each two teams, never coinciding with their own group).

During the time of reading the worksheet by teams, in the meeting with the co-evaluators outside the classroom they are given their respective observation grids (appendix 2), making clear the following message "as a reviewer of the development of the activity "let's buy!" you should observe the operation of the team, talk with members, ask what is necessary and complete this table with total sincerity. Your work is also supportive; that is, when the group needs it, you must resolve doubts as long as you do not give the final answer".

The implementation of the figure of the co-evaluator that offered support to the groups, did not only serve to gather an enriching information about the internal functioning of the groups and with a view to the continuous evaluation; but it offered relevant information for the evaluation of the proposal itself. In convergence with González-Bellido (2015) and Moral, Amores, & Ritacco (2016), respectively, and based on the decisions made in previous years, it has been understood that the action of this support figure based on the cooperative learning method of peer tutoring and distributed leadership enhances the dynamism of the session and it is accepted by students in a natural way.

During task 4, the decision-making of the groups took place. Thanks to the work of support and collection of information on the functioning of the groups carried out by the co-evaluators, it was possible to understand to what extent the groups respected the conditions indicated in the group work sheet both in quantitative terms (table 4) and in qualitative terms.

Except for 3 groups where part of its members did not participate actively, it was possible an active participation for almost full students in decision making (f.2.1). However, coinciding with the groups that were assigned low or very low budgets, 41.8% managed the purchase for a healthy menu partially or, directly, did not take into account that aspect.
Phase	Cod	ltem	Ор	f	%
f.2. Decision	f.2.1	The members of the group listen to each	Yes	76	96,2%
making		other and make decisions together	S/t	3	3,8%
			No	0	0%
	f.2.2	When buying, group is taking into ac-	Yes	46	58,2%
		count that the food is healthy	S/t	26	32,8%
	-	No	7	9%	
-	f.2.3	When buying, group is taking into ac- count that all members of "the family" should eat	Yes	67	84,8%
	f.2.4		S/t	9	11,2%
			No	3	4%
		The group adapts to the indicated budget	Yes	72	91,1%
			S/t	7	8,9%
			No	0	0%
-	f.2.5 The group completes a menu for 3	The group completes a menu for 3 days	Yes	59	74,6%
			S/t	18	22,7%
			No	2	2,7%
-	f.2.6	The shopping list is filled in and the data	Yes	68	86%
		is correct	S/t	11	14%
			No	0	0%

Table 4. Level of development of the different items by the groups during phase2 of decision making (tasks 2, 3 and 4)

The qualitative information in the observations column corroborates the relationship between allocated budget and the configuration of a healthy menu. Some observations make direct reference to this issue, so that in order for all the members to eat, some groups were forced to sacrifice the quality of the food. Complementing the information obtained about item f.2.2 and regarding item f.2.3, 4% of the lower income groups opted to guarantee the quality of the food. However, they did it in exchange for some family members skipping meals. The difficulties to complete the menu (f.2.5) and adapt to the budget (f.2.4), as expected, were more pronounced in the groups with low budgets assigned.

Phase 3: Sharing and reflection

It corresponds to the task 5 of sharing and reflection in class group supported by guiding questions. Thus, the problems registered in the decision-making phase were shared in phase 3, taking as reference 4 **questions for sharing** from a semi-structured approach. Questions 1, 2 and 3 are linked to item f.3.1 and the question 4 is linked to item f.3.2 (appendix 3, first half).

Thanks to the responses of the respective teams, the co-evaluation students were able to record information on the reflection phase (table 5). This record was contrasted with the notes recorded by the professor in his teacher's diary and in the context of the parallel action research process.

Tabla 5. Level of development of the different items by the groups during phase3 of reflection (task 5)

Phase	Code	Item	Ор	f	%
f.3. Sharing	f.3.1	The group is aware that it has problems	Yes	77	96'7%
und reflection	f.3.2 Group members look for solutions with partners	S/t	0	0%	
			No	2	3'3%
		Group members look for solutions with	Yes	67	80'2%
		S/t	12	19'8%	
			No	0	0%

As we can see 77 of the 79 teams came to show awareness of the problem. This is corroborated through qualitative records, so that the students were able to recognize their situation and the contrast between different situations. On the other hand, based on Bisquerra (2007), the experience was considered taking into account the potential of the emotional factor in learning.

In this sense, in relation to question 3 "What did you feel during the preparation of the purchase?", important differences were observed between groups with lower budgets, which indicated feeling of helplessness and stress, and groups with a larger budget. Although the climate during the sharing was deliberately relaxed, the move to **questions for reflection** radically changed the tone of the session (appendix 3, second half).

These exclusive questions of the 2017 version were not present in any item of the co-evaluator's record sheet and were intended to contrast with what had been done so far. In general terms, they concluded that you cannot expect a high school performance of students whose families are in critical socioeconomic situations unless they receive some kind of social support, which as indicated in the introduction of the chapter, has been reduced in recent years. Most acknowledged that, although he was aware of something that may seem so obvious, this activity had made them feel in first person the seriousness of the matter and had made them understand that you must to be professionally prepared for when you meet with this type of cases in the classroom.

12.6. Conclusions

Through the simulation initial training teachers have been able to experience first-hand situations that many families experience in Spain in addition to families of some of their future students. Due to the experiential character of the experience, its connection with the professional reality and the data and information obtained in situ, we can highlight the success of the proposal in terms of the purpose "to raise awareness and sensitize future teachers about situations of social injustice and economic situation that the families of some of their future students may face".

Likewise, apart from the recognition by future teachers of the significance of the experience presented here with regard to their professional future, the conclusions reached in this respect are coherent with those of Lazar's research (2013) where it is considered that teachers' training activities integrated with everyday situations such as poverty or injustice provides new teachers with greater preparation, greater security and a high predisposition for service with the community when they enter to work for the first time in high poverty districts.

References

- Aranceta Bartrina, J. (2001) Objetivos nutricionales y guías dietéticas. In *Nutrición comunitaria*. Barcelona: Masson, pp. 175-190.
- Bisquerra, R. & Pérez, N. (2007). Las competencias emocionales, *Educación XXI*, 10, 61-82. Available at http://revistas.uned.es/index.php/educacionXX1/article/view/297/253.
- Caurín, C., Morales, A. J., & Solaz, J. J. (2012). ¿Es posible un cambio de actitudes hacia un modelo de desarrollo sostenible?, *Didáctica de las Ciencias Experimentales y Sociales*, 26, 229-245. Available at https://ojs.uv.es/index.php/dces/article/view/1926>.
- Delgado-Algarra, E. J. (2015). Educación ciudadana y memoria histórica en la enseñanza de las Ciencias Sociales, *Revista de Enseñanza de las Ciencias Sociales*, 14, 97-109. Available at ">http://www.raco.cat/index.php/EnsenanzaCS/article/view/303625>.
- Delgado-Algarra, E. J. (2016). Evolución histórica de la democracia y la participación ciudadana en occidente: bases epistemológicas para la educación ciudadana. En Cuenca-Jiménez, R. C., Gadea, W. & Allen-Perkins, D. (eds.), Perspectivas de investigación en Filosofía, Humanidades y Educación. Hacia un (re) conceptualización de la democracia contemporánea. Sevilla: Fénix Editorial, pp. 243-260.
- Delgado-Algarra, E. J. (2017). Action research, professional development and citizenship education in the teaching of social sciences. In *International Conference on Education and Learning ICEL2017*. Tokio, August, 16-18.
- Delgado-Algarra, E. J., Bernal-Bravo, C., & López-Meneses, E. (2019). Multicultural competence and cosmopolitan citizenship in the Hispanic-Japanese context of Higher Education, *Journal of New Approaches in Educational Research*, 8 (2), 166-183. doi: <10.7821/naer.2019.7.425>.
- Delgado-Algarra, E. J. & Estepa-Giménez, J. (2017). Educación ciudadana y dimensiones de la memoria en la enseñanza de las Ciencias Sociales: investigación sobre las concepciones del profesorado de Educación Secundaria de Huelva y provincia, *Educación XX1*, 20 (2) 259-278. Available at http://revistas.uned.es/index.php/educacionXX1/ article/view/19041/15895>.
- El País (2017). España es el tercer país en pobreza infantil en la UE, *El País*, abril 17.
- Estepa, J. (2007). Investigando las sociedades actuales e históricas. In *Proyecto curricular Investigando Nuestro Mundo*. Sevilla: Diada Editora, pp. 6-12.

- Eurostat (2017). *Gini coefficient of equivalised disposable income, EU-SILC survey*. Available at http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/tgm/table.do?tab=table&language=en&pcode=tessi190>.
- Fujita, A. (2011). Estudios para la paz como una ciencia social: el problema de los valores y la objetividad en estudios para la paz, *Osaka Jogakuin Junior College*, 44, 1-16 [en japonés]). Available at http://ir-lib.wilmina.ac.jp/dspace/handle/10775/3137>.
- García-Pérez, F. F. (2017). Algunas reflexiones sobre la trayectoria de la enseñanza de las Ciencias Sociales en las últimas décadas, *eCO. Revista Digital de Educación y Formación del Profesorado*, 14, 1-14. Available at http://revistaeco.cepcordoba.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Garcia.pdf>.
- González-Bellido, A. (2015). Programa TEI "Tutoría entre iguales", Innovación Educativa, 25, 17-32. Available at http://programatei.com/programa-tei/>.
- Instituto Nacional de Estadística (2016). *La Península Ibérica en cifras*. Available at <http://www.ine.es/prodyser/pubweb/pin/pin2016/index.html#>.
- Instituto Nacional de Estadística (2017). *España en cifras*. Available at http://www.ine.es/prodyser/espa_cifras/2017/>.
- Lazar, A. (2013). Degrees Toward social justice teaching: Examining the dispositions of three urban early-career teachers, *Urban Rev*, 45, 701-727.
- Loewe, D. (2015). Five dimensions of cosmopolitis, Civitas, 15 (4), 155-173.
- Lorca-Marín, A. A., González, Y. & Velo, M. S. (2019). Ciencia frente a pseudociencia, El fomento del pensamiento crítico, *Alambique*. *Didáctica de las Ciencias Experimentales*, 97, 57-61.
- Moral, C., Amores, F. J., & Ritacco, M. (2016). Liderazgo distribuido y capacidad de mejora en centros de educación secundaria, *Estudios sobre Educación*, 30 (1), 115-143. Available at https://www.unav.edu/publicaciones/revistas/index.php/estudios-sobre-educacion/article/view/4805>.
- Mouffe, C. (2016). ¿Cuál es el futuro de la democracia en el periodo postpolítico? In Cuenca-Jiménez, R. C., Gadea, W., & Allen-Perkin, D. (eds.), Perspectivas de investigación en Filosofía, Humanidades y Educación. Hacia un (re) conceptualización de la democracia contemporánea. Sevilla: Fénix Editorial, pp. 13-24.
- Nestle M. (1995) *Mediterranean diets: Science and policy implications.* Bethesda, MD (USA): American Society for Clinical Nutrition.
- Pagés, J. & Oller, M. (2005). Las representaciones sociales del derecho, la justicia y la ley de un grupo de adolescentes catalanes de 4º de ESO, *Enseñanza de las Ciencias Sociales*, 6, 3-19.

- Salinas, J., González, C. G., Fretes, G, Montenegro, E., & Vio, F. (2014). Bases teóricas y metodológicas para un programa de educación en alimentación saludable en escuelas, *Revista Chilena de Nutrición*, 41 (4), 343-350.
- Storm, S., Naastepad, C. W. M. (2015). Europe's hunger games: Income distribution, cost competitiveness and crisis, *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 39 (3), 59-86.
- Torres Rodríguez, A. (2016). *Coeficiente de Gini, el detector de la desigualdad salarial*. Available at https://www.bbva.com/es/coeficiente-gini-detector-la-desigualdad-salarial/.
- Yeager, E. & Humphries, E. K. (2011). A social studies teacher's sense making of controversial issues discussions of race in a predominantly white, rural high school classroom, *Theory and Research in Social Education*, 39 (1), 92-134.

Appendix 1: Team work template

LET'S BUY!

Imagine that your group is a family and that you have a budget.

- Decide **3 menus** (breakfast, lunch, snack and dinner) taking into account the food pyramid.
- Complete the **shopping list** for that menu taking into account the budget you have.

Rules:

• The menu should be balanced, healthy and all family members should eat.

Shopping lis	Shopping list					
Healthy frequency	Food	Price	Quantity	Price	Our money	
Every day	Tomato (1/2 kg.)	0.50 €				
- several	Parsley (a bunch)	0.30 €				
times	Leek (1/2 kg.)	1.50 €				
	Cauliflower (1/2 kg.)	1.50 €				
	Pimiento (1/2 kg.)	1€				
	Milk (1 liter)	0.80 €				
	Yogurt (4 units)	1€				
	Fresh cheese (1/4 kg)	2 €				
	Nuts (10 units)	2.50 €				
	Garlic (1 unit)	1.10 €				
	Olive oil	5€				
	Onions (1 unit)	0.50 €				
	Apples (1 unit)	0.60 €				
	Oranges (1 unit)	0.60 €				
	Strawberries (1/2 kg.)	1.50 €				
	Pears (1 unit)	0.60 €				
	Raspberries (150 g.)	2 €				
	Pineapple (1 unit)	3€				
	Loaf of Bread (1)	0.50 €				
	Patatoes (1 kg.)	1€				
	Pasta (1/2 kg.)	0.80 €				

Shopping lis	st				
Healthy frequency	Food	Price	Quantity	Price	Our money
Every week	Pork (1 steak)	1€			
- several	Beef (1 steak)	3€			
unics	Chicken (1 thigh)	1€			
	Eggs (6 units)	1€			
	Cheese (250 g.)	6€			
	Fish (500 g)	2 €			
	Prawns (200g)	4 €			
Occasionally	Soft drinks (1.5 l.)	1.50 €			
	Chips (200 g.)	1.50 €			
	Chocolate (1 unit)	0.50 €			
	Cake (1 unit)	1.50 €			
	Sauce (1 can)	1.50 €			
Frequently	Water (2 litres)	0.50 €			
				Total Price	Remaining money

Appendix 2: Co-evaluation template (observation grid)

LET'S BUY!

Group ____ Shift ____ A B

As a **reviewer** of the development of the activity "let's buy!" you should observe the operation of the group, talk with the members, ask what is necessary and <u>complete this table with total sincerity</u>. Your work is also **supportive**; that is, when the group needs it, you must resolve doubts as long as you do not give the final answer.

Phase	ltem	Y	S/T	Ν	Observations
Decision making	Group members listen to each other and make decisions together				
	Group is taking into account that the food is healthy				
	group is taking into account that all mem- bers of "the family" should eat				
	The group adapts to the indicated budget				
	The group completes a menu for 3 days				
	The shopping list is filled in and the data is correct				
Sharing	The group is aware that it has problems when buying / that other groups have problems when buying.				
	Group members look for solutions with part- ners				

Appendix 3: Questions for sharing and reflection (guidance)

Questions for sharing:

- Did you have problems when scheduling the purchase? If yes, which?
- Do you think that other families live a different situation? Why?
- What did you feel during the preparation of the purchase?
- What can we do individually and in groups to look for solutions?

Questions for reflection:

- Are you aware that some of the families of the students you will be teaching could live similar situations?
- Do you think that this situation affects the student's school performance?
- Is it important that we take this factor into account when carrying out our professional work? Why?

13

Gamification in Primary Education Grade. A Project of Gamification in Tutorial Action Subject to Increase Motivation and Satisfaction of the Students

M. Elena Parra González

elenaparra@ugr.es Orcid: 0000-0002-6918-9126 University of Granada

Adrián Segura Robles

asrobles@ujaen.es Orcid: 0000-0003-0753-7129 University of Jaén

ARTURO FUENTES CABRERA

arturofuentes@ugr.es Orcid: 0000-0003-1970-4895 University of Granada

Jesús López Belmonte

jesus.lopezb@campusviu.es Orcid: 0000-0003-0823-3370 International University of Valencia

Abstract

Nowadays, one of the challenges in education is to maintain students motivated and participating in class. Teachers generally say that students are not involved in class, they do not take part in activities as they are not motivated... One of the new methodologies in education is gamification, which is presented as an active, original methodology, and as an appropriate methodology to get students motivated in their learning process. Gamification is a learning technique that moves the mechanics of games to the educational field. In addition to a theoretical approach, a summary of the activities that have been developed during the course are presented. This chapter presents the experience of a gamified project with students of Primary Education Degree, more specifically in the subject of tutorial action. This project was proposed to try to respond to the need of students of the Primary Education, so that they are motivated and active in the learning of the subject and to foster their participation and satisfaction with their learning. The results have shown an improvement in students' motivations. Keywords: gamification, motivation, Primary Education, satisfaction, tutorial action

13.1. Introduction

Today one of the main challenges in education is to keep students motivated and attentive in class. One of the most heard complaints among teachers is that students are not involved, they are not motivated, and they do not like to participate in class activities...

All of this is a problem, because if the student is not motivated, he will hardly want to get involved in activities, they will have difficulties when it comes to learning and even that learning can be difficult for them to transfer or use in real life, as it will not be significant to them. In addition, there are learnings that are done by rote, leading to an empty learning, which will be forgotten in the not too distant future.

Educational reforms arise as attempts to respond to society's educational needs, as a measure to address the potential inconveniences of previous education systems.

In addition to educational reforms, within the faculty and research in education, teaching methodologies arise or develop as well. Within this framework of methodological innovations, current methodologies emerge, where the use of technologies and new teaching methods come into play.

It is now fashionable to talk about active methodologies, which are the methodologies that require students to be active in their learning process (Méndez, 2008; Mendez & Trillo, 2010).

Getting students active and more involved during the teaching and learning process depends on teachers, as teachers we have to get students motivated. In addition, this would be one of the main obstacles, how to get our students motivated? How to make our students want to be active participants in classes? How to make them want to get involved in the teaching-learning processes that they do not care about it? How to bring learning closer and make it more attractive to students?

This chapter will answer many questions.

Currently one of the methodologies that are booming is gamification, which is presented as an active, original methodology, and as an appropriate methodology to get students motivated in their learning process (Kapp, 2012; Zichermann & Cunningham, 2011).

There are authors like Lister (2015) who argue that gamification is one of the most powerful and useful tools for attracting and maintaining students' attention in class. Gamification is the use of elements, designs or game structures in non-playful contexts (Deterding, Dixon, Khaled, & Nacke, 2011).

This type of learning gains ground in training methodologies due to its playful nature, which facilitates the internalization of knowledge in a more fun way, generating a positive experience in the user (Goethe, 2019; Reiners & Wood, 2015). A series of mechanical, dynamic and aesthetic techniques extrapolated from the games are used too.

Some of the mechanical techniques that can be included in our gamified experiences are the following (figure 1):



MECHANICAL TECHNIQUES

Figure 1. Example of mechanical techniques extracted from games

Some of the dynamic techniques that can be included in our gamified experiences are the following. All of these are related to motivation:



DYNAMIC TECHNIQUES



Some of the game aesthetic examples (figure 3) that can be included in our gamified experiences are the following. Aesthetics evoke emotional responses by the player when interacting with the video game (Hunicke, LeBlanc, & Zubek, 2011):



Figure 3. Example of game aesthetics

In addition to this, some authors emphasize that apart from using the design, strategies or mechanics of the game, using gamification in the classrooms, it encourages, promotes and motivates for the student's action, their learning and even the resolution of problems (Kapp, 2012), so gamification would lead to work towards meaningful and contextualized learning.

Many authors claim that, with the use of gamification in education, the climate for students' motivation levels to improve is created (Erenli, 2013; Lee & Hammer, 2011; Shneiderman, 2004), an element that facilitates and encourages their learning. Authors such Lee and Hammer (2011) point out that games have great potential to provoke and work on the development of certain emotions such as curiosity, optimism, pride, or security through the positive treatment that is made of the failure through the game, which allows learning through repetition without taking risks.

In the same line of argument, De Freitas (2018) argues that the use of gamification in education promotes and encourages a high commitment on the behalf of students, motivational and wilful that favours that the student will have a need and interest in knowing and learning more so they can understand things in order to win the game.

As we see, this methodology achieves positive effects in the students, but there are authors who warn about the importance of this methodology. As Buckley and Doyle (2014) say, it is true that the games and this methodology create a commitment on the part of the students and it increases their motivation in learning experiences. However, it should be kept in mind that the methodology must be implemented in class correctly, because if not, the benefits fostered by that methodology could become negative effects arising from its misuse

Because of the above, teachers should first know all the ins and outs of this methodology at the theoretical level and then plan with care, attention and consistency all the activities, tasks or projects to be carried out in a practical way within their classrooms (Von Ahn & Dabbish, 2008).

This results in a change in relation to the use or idea of the games. These will go from being an element or resource only of recreation or leisure, to being used in education, since it has become clear that they can be a useful and effective tool or resource for training and motivation (Hamari, 2017).

Gradually more and more teachers and researchers are seeing the potential of this methodology in education and some defend it by encouraging its use and others spreading their experiences (Balducci, Grana, & Cucchiara, 2016), which, in our view, also promotes the use of it.

After this review of gamification as a methodology with these benefits that seem to respond to problems regarding the lack of motivation and involvement of students, it is not surprising that gamification is adopted as a methodology in the classroom (Piñeiro-Otero & Costa-Sánchez, 2015).

Therefore, if as teachers we need students to be active, to obtain different responses or behaviours from them, we have to try to motivate them; we must encourage and develop the capacity to solve challenges. This is how we work to prepare students for life, for the outside world around us, and not just to limit learning to the classroom.

The outside world is changing and needs people prepared to be able to face and respond to the challenges that will arise in life. This will encourage meaningful learning for students.

One of the keys to be able to use this method effectively are marked Pérez-López & Rivera (2017) who emphasize that three elements must be taken into account for the good use of this methodology and to be able to achieve the optimal effect of it. These elements are creating a good environment in class, implementing the methodology in a way that is focused on experience and play, and the use and importance of a shared assessment.

As can be seen, all these gamification researches are current. It is an active methodology with an increasing use as well as research nowadays.

The findings of one of Quintero, Jiménez, & Area (2018) latest researches, state that, through the use of gamification, the levels of motivation and cooperative work of students are improved and that students are more involved in their learning and have worked more during the process.

For all this, this chapter presents the experience of a gamified project with students of the Primary School Year, more specifically in the subject of Tutorial Action. This project is proposed to try to respond to the need for students of the Primary School Year, so that they are motivated and active in the learning of the subject. A gamification project was developed using different strategies for active elaboration of the contents of the subject and working the different techniques and strategies through gamification. An evaluation process was also built through gamification, as we must always keep in mind that we cannot work through a methodology and evaluate otherwise.

13.2. Methodology

Participants

Participants have been all third-year students of the Primary Education Degree, enrolled in the subject of Tutorial Action in Primary Education. The average age of the participants is 21 years old. The total number of participants during the experience was 46 (figure 4).



Figure 4. Participant sample in the experience

Gamification project carried out with the students

During the 2017/2018 academic year, there was a low motivation towards the subjects of the students of the Primary Education Degree and some disenchantment and lack of involvement on the part of the students.

Therefore, at the beginning of the 2018/2019 academic year, a questionnaire is distributed to students, with only three questions about their level of motivation, participation or involvement and their level of satisfaction with the subjects they take in general

and last question for final questionnaire, what do you think of the experience?

After needs detection and diagnosis, and given the benefits of using the gamification methodology in other areas after the literature review, it is decided by the teachers to design and carry out a gamification project in the subject of Tutorial Action in Primary Education.

Students are informed of the type of methodology with which they will work in the classes and they welcome them with expectation, since they have never had such an experience of these characteristics and the novelty puts them on alert. Different strategies are started to be used to make students know how gamification is worked, materials are started to be created among all the students, and teachers involved, which will be used during the subject.

Therefore, students are actively creating the materials they will then use for their own learning. This will help them see how they would do in a class, just as they will be able to do in the near future when they are teachers, have their classrooms and their students (figure 5).

The materials and activities that were created were digital, through computers and Tablets, and adaptations of board or traditional games were also made. All the contents and the process are carried out taking into account the elements of the gamification.



Figure 5. Flow of the gamified project in Tutorial action

The materials created by the students were digital and physical games, which were created to gamify the subject with the teacher's guidance.

Games were created such as the Pasapalaba, the game of humor (to work the emotions), the taboo... all with the aim of working the contents of Tutorial Action, whose main areas of work were covered.

Students have needs that tutors and teachers must attend from the tutorial action, and all of them have been covered from this methodology, with this project. These needs have been worked for undergraduate students in a way that they can then learn to work with their students in a classroom. These needs or work guidelines, according to Expósito (2013, 2018) are that the work from the Tutorial Action is:

- Generalized and individualized: Students should be treated individually, as they
- Have needs, although they must also be treated in a general way, as action is taken on the group.
- Planned and flexible: To achieve the objectives set, optimally, the work must be planned, organized and structured, but at the same time it must have some flexibility, because it must adapt to the different situations that can happen in a classroom.
- Preventive and post-active: Knowing the possible problems that may occur in the classroom, try to avoid them, thus having less risk and even being solved before they occur or cause more problems that are possible.
- Procedural: It is not an action of a specific moment but is carried out throughout a process.
- Systemic: It must be governed by a structure, which is established and organized in the teacher's planning.
- Specific and integrated: It occurs within a specific context and at a certain time, allowing integrating different knowledge.

This project has maintained all these aspects and integrated them into the knowledge of the subject.

It should be remembered, on the other hand, that one of the elements of gamification is the establishment of score rankings. The students have also drawn up these rankings. It was they themselves who developed it and even designed the badges they were earning for their work. It should be remembered in this section that gamification badges are achieved by effort, not achievement, as in traditional learning.

However, as we have said not only the content and learning process of the subject was gamified, but also the methodology itself was used for evaluation, since we cannot work in one way and evaluate another.

An example of the evaluation shows the use of the Plickers application, where through the computer, a projector and each student with his or her toothed cards. As shown in figure 6, with a mobile phone or tablet, the students' responses are captured and after scanning them, which takes a matter of seconds, the correct or incorrect results of the answers come out, a highly motivating element for the participants, to have an instant feedback.



Figure 6. Student cards generated for the Plickers evaluation applicationAvailable at: <https://plickers.com/>

Finally, and following the same methodology, the teacher organized an Escape Room with the purpose of the students knowing their grades at the end of the subject. The Escape Room activity consisted of having the students in their classroom, the teacher had designed and prepared the class so that. For an hour, students had to solve riddles and clues, all related to the subject and how it had been worked throughout the semester and the students had to solve the riddles and follow the clues until they reached the end that had double reward: being able to leave the classroom and know their final grades.

13.3. Results

This section presents the results of the variables analyzed before and after the gamification experience. At the beginning of the course, a few questionnaires were passed to the students to learn the levels of motivation, participation and satisfaction. The answers given to the question are also presented, what do you think of the experience?

At the end of the gamification project explained in the previous section, the questionnaires with the same items were passed again to see if the values of the degree of motivation, participation and satisfaction of the students had suffered any alteration. Possible answers to items ranged from scores 1 to 10. The results obtained are shown below.



Figure 7. Motivation levels before and after of gamified project

As seen in Figure 7, students have shown an obvious difference between the motivation values obtained before the project, with an average of 6.2 and after applying it, obtaining an average value of 9.1.



Figure 8. Participation levels before and after of gamified project

As with motivation and, as shown in Figure 8, students have shown a significant difference between the participation values obtained before the project, with an average of 5.2 and applying it, obtaining an average value of 8.1.



Figure 9. Satisfaction levels before and after of gamified project

Regarding what happened with the two dimensions for which it was previously asked, there is an increase in the general satisfaction (figure 9) presented by the participants in the experience.

As shown in Figure 10, the answers collected in the qualitative part are positive. Ninety-two percent of students think that all subjects of their current career should follow a similar methodology. Eighty-nine percent think that the time spent during the development of the subject has been worthwhile. On the other hand, eighty-five percent indicate that they have been able to learn while having fun. Finally, ninety percent indicate that they would like to repeat this experience throughout their university career.



What do you think of the experience?

Figure 10. Satisfaction levels before and after of gamified project

13.4. Discussion and conclusions

As it has been seen in the previous section, students have high levels of participation or involvement and with the help of the teacher, they build the subject's project. With regard to this development by students, the results are supported by those found in other studies on gamification and the involvement of the participants (Roth, Schneckenberg, & Tsai, 2015).

The development has been linked to intrinsic motivation (Csikszentmihalyi, 2002; Hanus & Fox, 2015), so in these kinds of experiences the values of motivation and development are important related to each other.

The motivation and satisfaction of students regarding their learning presents high levels in the score obtained. All the members involved have thus built significant and active learning.

The different variables analyzed show high satisfaction values, which has led to the good results in the subject, to the motivation of the students (Erenli, 2013; Lee & Hammer, 2011) and the faculty.

It can be said that the levels of the variables analyzed have been increased after the implementation of the gamification project in the Primary Education Degree, thus proving the benefits of this project.

It is thus confirmed that a well-designed gamified project, with mastery of methodology, is beneficial for the motivation, participation and involvement of students.

References

- Balducci, F., Grana, C., & Cucchiara, R. (2016). Affective level design for a role-playing videogame evaluated by a brain–computer interface and machine learning methods, *The Visual Computer*, 33(4), 413-427. doi: 10.1007/s00371-016-1320-2.
- Buckley, P. & Doyle, E. (2014). Gamification and student motivation, *Interactive Learning Environments*, 24 (6), 1162-1175. doi: 10.1080/10494820.2014.964263.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2002). *Flow: The Psychology of Happiness*. London: Ebury Publishing.
- De Freitas, S. (2018). Are Games Effective Learning Tools? A Review of Educational Games, *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 21 (2), 74-84.
- Deterding, S., Dixon, D., Khaled, R., & Nacke, L. (2011). From game design elements to gamefulness. In *Proceedings of the 15Th International Academic Mindtrek Conference on Envisioning Future Media Environments Mindtrek '11*. doi: 10.1145/2181037.2181040.
- Erenli, K. (2013). The impact of gamification: Recommending education scenarios, *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 8 (SPL.ISSUE), 15-21.
- Expósito, J. (2013). Recursos y materiales para la formación en acción tutorial en educación primaria. Granada: GEU.
- (2018). Formación teórica y práctica para la acción tutorial en educación primaria. Granada: GEU.
- Goethe, O. (2019). Immersion in Games and Gamification. In *Human–Computer Interaction Series*. Springer International Publishing, pp. 107-117. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-11078-9_10.
- Hamari, J. (2017). Do badges increase user activity? A field experiment on the effects of gamification, *Computers In Human Behavior*, 71, 469-478. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.03.036.
- Hanus, M. & Fox, J. (2015). Assessing the effects of gamification in the classroom: A longitudinal study on intrinsic motivation, social com-

parison, satisfaction, effort, and academic performance, *Computers & Education*, **80**, 152-161. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2014.08.019.

- Hunicke, R., LeBlanc, M., & Zubek, R. (2004, July). MDA: A formal approach to game design and game research. In *Proceedings of the AAAI Workshop on Challenges in Game AI*, vol. 4, 1, p. 1722.
- Kapp, K. M. (2012). *The Gamification of learning and Instruction*. San Francisco: John Wiley.
- Lee, J. J. & Hammer, J. (2011) Gamification in education: What, how, why bother?, *Academic Exchange Quarterly*, 15 (2). 1-5
- Lister, M. (2015). Gamification: The effect on student motivation and performance at the post-secondary level, *Issues and Trends in Educational Technology*, 3 (2).
- Méndez, R. (2008). Los jóvenes universitarios y su (des)orientación ante los nuevos retos que plantea el EEES, *Educatio Siglo XXI, 26,* 197-224.
- Méndez, R. & Trillo, F. (2010). El papel de la información universitaria en el proceso de formación de actitudes de los estudiantes hacia la Universidad, *Revista de Educación*, 353, 329-360.
- Pérez-López, I. & Rivera García, E. (2017). Formar docentes, formar personas: análisis de los aprendizajes logrados por estudiantes universitarios desde una experiencia de gamificación, *Signo y Pensamiento, 36* (70), 112-129. http://dx.doi.org/10.11144/Javeriana.syp36-70.fdf
- Piñeiro-Otero, T. & Costa-Sánchez, C. (2015). ARG (juegos de realidad alternativa). Contribuciones, limitaciones y potencialidades para la docencia universitaria, *Comunicar*, 44 (22), 141-148.
- Quintero, L., Jiménez, F., & Area, M. (2018). Más allá del libro de texto. La gamificación mediada con TIC como alternativa de innovación en Educación Física, *Retos: nuevas tendencias en educación física, deporte y recreación*, 34, 343-348.
- Roth, S., Schneckenberg, D., & Tsai, C. (2015). The Ludic Drive as Innovation Driver: Introduction to the Gamification of Innovation, *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 24 (2), 300-306. doi: 10.1111/ caim.12124.
- Reiners, T., & Wood, L. (2015). *Gamification in Education and Business*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- Shneiderman, B. (2004) Designing for Fun: How Can We Design User Interfaces to Be More Fun?, *Interactions*, 11 (5), 48-50
- Zichermann, G. & Cunningham, C. (2011). *Gamification by Design: Implementing Game Mechanics in Web and Mobile Apps.* Cambridge: O'Reilly Media.

Index

Introduction	9 12
1. MOOCS and Higher Education Globalisation: Social	
Work and Social Education Students' Perspectives	15
Manuel León-Urrutia, Esteban Vázquez Cano, Eva Ordóñez Olmedo,	
Eloy López Meneses	
1.1. MOOCs and learning models in Higher education and Society.	16
1.2. The setting	18
1.3. Aims	19
1.4. Methodology	20
1.5. Results	20
1.6. Discussion and conclusion.	25
Acknowledgements	26
References	26
2. Towards a Taxonomy of Video for HCI Education	31
Adriana Wilde, Alan Dix, Chris Evans, Anna Vasilchenko,	
Joseph Maguire, Stephen Snow	
2.1. Introduction	32
2.2. Case studies	33
Case study 1: Interactive "e-lectures" for flipped classrooms	33
Case study 2: e-lectures for the Interaction Design Foundation	35
Case study 3: Video coursework for Usable Security	36
Case study 4: Video coursework for Interaction Design projects	37
Case study 5: Video coursework for Ubiquitous Computing course	38
Case study 6: Video coursework for Complex IT Systems	
in Large Organisations	39
2.3. Themes for video production in education	41
2.4. Taxonomy	43
2.5. Stepping back thoughts	44

	2.6. Conclusions	45
	References	45
2		
3.	New Emerging Technologies for University Innovation	47
	DAVID BLAS PADILLA, JULIO CABERO ALMENARA, ESTEBAN VÁZQUEZ CANO,	
	Eloy López Meneses	
	3.1. Augmented Reality: new technologies that generate	
	proactive learning scenarios	48
	3.2. Scenario of the study	49
	3.3. Methodological scenario	53
	3.4. Results of the immersive innovative experience	54
	3.5. Final reflexions	55
	Acknowledgment	57
	References	58
4.	The Primary Education Teacher about ICT and Special	
	Educational Needs. A Study in the Spanish Context	61
	José M. Fernández Batanero	
	4.1. Introduction	62
	4.2. Methodology	64
	4.3. Data collection instrument	65
	4.4. Results	66
	4.5. Conclusions	73
	References	74
5	Making an Argument in the Arte: Heing Conro Analysia	
5.	to Inform Embedded Academic Writing Support in a UV	
	A sta University	
		11
	STEVEN WHITE, MATT NICHOLLS	
	5.1. Introduction	78
	Diverse students, diverse support needs	78
	academic literacies	79
	Applying academic literacies insights via genre approaches	79
	Analysis argument and criticality in academic essays	80
	'Signalling' analysis and argument in writing	81
	Using insights from genre analysis to inform teaching of writing	81
	5.2 Method	82
	The social/cognitive genre model	20
	Social conrect Analysis of 'avaluative features'	0.0
	SUCIAI BEILIE, MILATYSIS OF EVALUATIVE REALULES	04

Cognitive genre: Analysis of 'interpropositional relations' 84 5.3. Results 1: Identifying critical stance in essays 86 5.4. Results 2: Use of metadiscourse markers 87 5.5. Results 3: Interpropositional relations. 88 5.6. Discussion 90 Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes 91 Limitations 93 5.7. Conclusions 94 References 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of 7 Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended 1 Learning, An Innovative Methodological Experience at 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 and social networks 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 114 <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>			
5.3. Results 1: Identifying critical stance in essays 86 5.4. Results 2: Use of metadiscourse markers 87 5.5. Results 3: Interpropositional relations 88 5.6. Discussion 90 Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes 91 Limitations 93 5.7. Conclusions 94 References 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PLAR CACERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. Rekend		Cognitive genre: Analysis of 'interpropositional relations'	84
5.4. Results 2: Use of metadiscourse markers 87 5.5. Results 3: Interpropositional relations 88 5.6. Discussion 90 Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes 91 Limitations 93 5.7. Conclusions 94 References 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of 7 Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended 1 Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at 97 M. PILAR CACERE RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 6.1. Introduction 6.1. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 100 and social networks 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 111 Int		5.3. Results 1: Identifying critical stance in essays	86
5.5. Results 3: Interpropositional relations. 88 5.6. Discussion 90 Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes 91 Limitations. 93 5.7. Conclusions 94 References. 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CACERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 105 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument		5.4. Results 2: Use of metadiscourse markers	87
5.6. Discussion 90 Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes 91 Limitations 93 5.7. Conclusions 94 References 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CACERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DIAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Identifying data. 105 105 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction. 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction. 107 6.5. Conclusions 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119		5.5. Results 3: Interpropositional relations.	88
Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes 91 Limitations 93 5.7. Conclusions 94 References 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of 1 Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended 1 Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at 97 M. PILAR CACERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DIAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 111 Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background <td></td> <td>5.6. Discussion</td> <td>90</td>		5.6. Discussion	90
Limitations 93 5.7. Conclusions 94 References 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CACERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DIAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process. 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in		Teaching critical stance in embedded writing support classes	91
5.7. Conclusions 94 References 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CACERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities and social networks 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119		Limitations	93
References. 95 6. Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CÁCERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process. 119 Process. 119 Process. 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons		5.7. Conclusions	94
6. Learning Communities and the Development of Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CÁCERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 Process 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		References	95
Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CÁCERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 111 Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 Background 114 T.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological	6.	Learning Communities and the Development of	
Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CACERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 98 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 120 <td></td> <td>Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended</td> <td></td>		Teaching Skills in traiNing Environments as Blended	
the University of Granada (Spain) 97 M. PILAR CÁCERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 6.1. Introduction 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 20		Learning. An Innovative Methodological Experience at	
M. PILAR CÁCERES RECHE, INMACULADA AZNAR DÍAZ, REBECA SOLER COSTA 6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 20		the University of Granada (Spain)	97
6.1. Introduction 98 6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 114 Background 114 Background 114 Process 119 Process 119 Process 119 Process 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		M. Pilar Cáceres Reche, Inmaculada Aznar Díaz, Rebeca Soler Costa	
6.2. Justification 100 6.3. Objectives 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. Remetions Belando-Montoro, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 119 Process 119 Process 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		6.1. Introduction	98
6.3. Objectives. 103 6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 Valuing degree of collaborative learning in communities 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		6.2. Justification	100
6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries. 104 6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 Valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño 114 Background 114 T.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 Process 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		6.3. Objectives.	103
6.5. Discussing the results 105 Identifying data. 105 Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT. 105 Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 valuing degree of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References. 100 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		6.4. The action plan and its beneficiaries.	104
Identifying data.105Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT.105Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities106valuing degree of satisfaction1076.5. Conclusions108References.1107. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with theIntroduction of New Methods of Teamwork113M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO7.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology.117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological121		6.5. Discussing the results	105
Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT.105Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities106Valuing degree of satisfaction1076.5. Conclusions108References1107. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with theIntroduction of New Methods of Teamwork113M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO7.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies121		Identifying data	105
Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities 106 and social networks 107 Overlagge of satisfaction 107 6.5. Conclusions 108 References 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 110 7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies 121		Perceptions of using and expectations of ICT.	105
and social networks106Valuing degree of satisfaction1076.5. Conclusions108References1107. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with theIntroduction of New Methods of Teamwork113M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO7.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies121		Perceptions of collaborative learning in communities	
Valuing degree of satisfaction1076.5. Conclusions108References1107. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with theIntroduction of New Methods of Teamwork113M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO7.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies121		and social networks	106
6.5. Conclusions108References.1107. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork113M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño1147.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology.117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies121		Valuing degree of satisfaction	107
References.1107. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork113M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO1147.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology.117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies121		6.5. Conclusions	108
7. Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the 113 Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork 113 M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO 114 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology. 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		References.	110
Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork113M. REMEDIOS BELANDO-MONTORO, M. ARÁNZAZU CARRASCO-TEMIÑO1147.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological121	7.	Analysis of the University Student's Satisfaction with the	
M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño 7.1. Introduction 114 Background 114 7.2. Methodology 117 Sample 118 Instrument 119 Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		Introduction of New Methods of Teamwork	113
7.1. Introduction114Background1147.2. Methodology117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological121		M. Remedios Belando-Montoro, M. Aránzazu Carrasco-Temiño	
Background1147.2. Methodology.117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological121		7.1. Introduction	114
7.2. Methodology.117Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological121		Background	114
Sample118Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological121		7.2. Methodology	117
Instrument119Process1197.3. Results120Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological121		Sample	118
Process 119 7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		Instrument	119
7.3. Results 120 Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological 121		Process	119
Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological competencies		7.3. Results	120
competencies		Pretest-Postest comparisons in student technological	
		competencies	121

Satisfaction with the subject.	125
Satisfaction with the selected tool.	126
Perceived evolution	127
7.4. Conclusions	129
References.	130
8. Enhancing the Student Experience: Integrating MOOCs	
into Campus-Based Modules	135
Nicholas Fair, Lisa Harris, Manuel León-Urrutia	
8.1. Introduction	136
A brief history	138
A socio-technical approach to HE teaching and learning .	139
MOOCs in the classroom.	141
8.2. Methodology	142
The intervention	142
Evaluation	144
The sample	144
Results	145
8.3. Discussion	151
8.4. Conclusion and future work.	152
References	153
9. Educational robotics and computational thinking.	
A didactic experience of innovation at the university lev	vel 157
Pedro Román-Graván, Carlos Hervás-Gómez,	
Cristóbal Ballesteros-Regaña	
9.1. Previous considerations about the development of the	
experience	157
9.2. Educational robotics and computational thinking:	
didactic possibilities	159
9.3. A didactic experience of innovation with university stude	ents 164
9.4. Conclusions	167
References	169
10. Training of Communication Skills in Social Education	
Students Through an Innovative Experience	173
Virginia Castillo Cidre, Aránzazu Cejudo Cortés,	
Celia Corchuelo Fernández	
10.1. Introduction	173
10.2. Brief review of the university degree in Social Education	. 174

Antecedents of the degree.	174
Social Education at the University of Huelva	177
10.3. Description of the innovative experience called	
"Taller Comunica-Te"	181
10.4. Some methodological aspects.	183
10.5. Some of the results.	184
10.6. Conclusions	186
References	187
11. Working with Networks on the University Campus	189
Verónica Marín Díaz, Juan Manuel Muñoz González,	
M.ª Dolores Hidalgo Ariza	
11.1. Introduction	189
11.2. From the Internet to social networks	192
11.3. University social network scenario	194
11.4. Final reflections.	200
References	201
12 Citizanship Oriented to Justice in Higher Education	
12. Onizensing Oriented to Justice in Figher Education.	
Didactic Experience and Revision in the bachelors	205
	205
EMILIO JOSE DELGADO-ALGARRA, GESAR BERNAL-BRAVO,	
ANTONIO ALEJANDRO LORCA-MARIN	200
12.1. Introduction	206
12.2. Epistemological bases of experience: theoretical and	207
research review	207
Theoretical bases: education for a citizenship oriented to	
justice and social commitment	208
Research bases: citizenship education and justice	209
12.3. Design of the proposal "let's buy!"	210
General description and structure.	211
Participants	212
Information Collection	213
12.5. Development, analysis and discussion	214
Phase 1: Diagnosis of conceptions.	214
Phase 2: Decision making	215
Phase 3: Sharing and reflection	218
12.6. Conclusions	219
References	220
Appendix 1: Team work template	223

Appendix 2: Co-evaluation template (observation grid)	225
Appendix 3: Questions for sharing and reflection (guidance)	226
13. Gamification in Primary Education Grade. A Project	
of Gamification in Tutorial Action Subject to Increase	
Motivation and Satisfaction of the Students	227
M. Elena Parra González, Adrián Segura Robles,	
Arturo Fuentes Cabrera, Jesús López Belmonte	
13.1. Introduction	228
13.2. Methodology	233
Participants	233
Gamification project carried out with the students	233
13.3. Results	237
13.4. Discussion and conclusions	239
References	240

About the coordinators

Manuel León Urrutia

Dr. Manuel León Urrutia is currently a Research Fellow at the University of Southampton. His research interests are focussed on online learning, including online pedagogies and learning analytics. Within online learning, MOOCs are Manuel's speciality, with a large record of publications in the area (h-index 9 and i-10 index 9 in Google Scholar).

Nicholas S. R. Fair

Dr. Nic Fair is a Knowledge Engineer in the IT-Innovation group at the University of Southampton working on Horizon 2020 projects. With a PhD in Digital Education and Web Science, he has research interests in Personal Learning Networks and networked learning and has published and presented widely in these areas. He has spent eighteen years teaching in a wide range of educational contexts, including online courses, MOOCs, Further and Higher Education and has led a range of innovation modules at the University of Southampton. He is Editorial Assistant for the Journal of Higher Education Pedagogies.

Esteban Vázquez Cano

Dr. Esteban Vázquez-Cano is Vice-Dean of Students, Internationalisation and Social Education and Lecturer in the Faculty of Education in the Department of Didactics, UNED School and Special Didactic Organization. Doctor in Education Sciences with Extraordinary Prize. At present, he directs the Master's Degree in Educational Inspection and Supervision at the UNED. His main research interests are Educational Organisation and Supervision, Ubiquitous Learning, and MOOCs. Esteban has published more than 200 scientific contributions (20 articles in JCR, h-index 11/ 31 in SCOPUS, h-index 9) He is currently a member of different national and international research projects whose main theme is the impact of technology on the school organisation and educational innovation. He is also a member of the editorial board of the British Journal of Educational Technology (JCR Q1), Associate Editor of the journal IJERI (ESCI) and Assistant Editor of the journal Enseñanza & Teaching , and has participated as a member of the committee in more than 50 international conferences (China, Japan, France, United States, Canada, etc.). URL <https://www.estebanvazquezcano.com/>.

Eloy López Meneses

Dr. Eloy López Meneses is Associate Professor in the Department of Social Sciences at the Universidad Pablo de Olavide (Seville, Spain). Doctor in Education Sciences and Extraordinary Doctoral Thesis Award from the University of Seville. Eloy directs the Eduinnovagogía Research Group [©] (Hum-971). He is also the chief editor of the International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation (IJERI), and coordinates the Innovagogía teaching group [©] <http://innovagogia.jimdo.com/ miembros>. His personal edublog is: <http://eloy3000.blogspot.com.es>.

Trends and Good Practices in Research and Teaching. A Spanish-English Collaboration

Manuel León-Urrutia, Esteban Vázquez Cano, Nicholas Fair, Eloy López Meneses (coords.)

The use of digital technologies in education presents a great deal of challenges, opportunities and implications. Enabling effective learning in the current information and network society requires research-informed, evidence-based practices. This book aims to contribute to this field by disseminating research findings from a range of educational experiences in the United Kingdom and Spain. The editors of this book have strong ties with both countries and their educational systems. As such, they have compiled thirteen chapters based on high quality research projects, with topics focussed on the use of emerging technologies in education, both online and in the classroom. This book will prove useful and informative to those professionals in education who are interested in the practical application of digitally enabled pedagogies in a variety of contexts, from Higher Education to Primary Education.



universidad